Investing In private
companies to generate
long-term growtn

NB | PRIVATE EQUITY PARTNERS Annual Report 2022



()}

Our Purpose

To give shareholders access to the
long-term returns available from
a portfolio of directinvestments
in highly attractive private
companies through leveraging
the strength of the Neuberger
Berman global platform, while
investing responsibly to create
value for our stakeholders.
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NB Private Equity Partners (“NBPE") invests directly in private
companies, alongside some of the world'’s leading private
equity managers.

NBPE is managed by the private markets division of Neuberger Berman
(the “Manager” or the “Investment Manager”), a leading private
markets investor. NBPE leverages the strength of Neuberger Berman'’s
platform, relationships, deal flow and expertise to access the most
attractive investment opportunities, providing shareholders with
access to a portfolio of direct investments diversified by manager,
sector, geography and size.

Performance highlights

12 monthsto 31 December 2022
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Chairman’s statement
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Our portfolio

IS navigating

a challenging
Macroeconomic

environment well”

William Maltby Chairman

-

With an increasingly uncertain
macroeconomic outlook, intensifying
geopolitical tensions and volatile equity
and bond markets, 2022 provedto be a
challenging year forinvestors generally.

Againstthis backdrop, NBPE's performance,

especially forits direct private equity
investments was resilient, with the 7.5%
declinein NAV, on a total returns basis,
driven by falls in the value of our quoted

holdings and foreign exchange headwinds.

NBPE's private investmentsincreased in
value by 4.4%, in aggregate, on a constant
currency basis, with strong operating
performance more than outweighing the
declinein valuation multiples across the
portfolio.

This performance underscores the value of
NBPE's investment strategy: a focus on two
keythemes—businesses with long-term
seculargrowth and/or low expected
cyclicality. NBPE does this by combining

the flexibility of its co-investment model,
with the strength of Neuberger Berman'’s
private markets platform. By focusing

on our two key themes and building a
portfolio deal by deal rather than

through funds, Neuberger Berman has
builta portfolio with broad exposure

to companies operating in different
industries, but with similar characteristics:
resilient business models with high barriers
to entryand strong recurring revenue
streams with the potential to create strong
earnings growth. It offers shareholders
accessto a well-diversified and carefully
constructed portfolio of attractive
maturing private companies with
significant long-term growth potential.

High-quality and well-
positioned portfolio

NBPE’s private portfolio continues to
navigate the economicenvironment well,
generating strong LTM Revenue and LTM
EBITDA growth of 14.4%and 11.9%?°,
respectively, during 2022. Thisis despite
continued elevated inflationary pressures,
supply chain challenges and a higher
interestrate environment. Despite some
margin compression in certain segments of
the portfolio as aresult of the inflationary
environment, by the second half of the
year, portfolio companies had generally
mitigated these challenges through
operational enhancements as well as
priceincreases.

Private Portfolio
Fairvalue

+4.4%

Constant Currency Basis

NAV Growth vs. MSCI World Index




Chairman’s statement

Afterarecordyearofrealisationsin 2021,
activity slowedin 2022. $143 million of total
announced realisations, of which seven
were full or partial exits, generated a 2.7x
gross multiple of invested capitaland a 6%
upliftto 31 December 2021 value®. While
thelevel of realisation activity for the year
was 9% of opening portfoliovalue and
below ourlong-term average of 21%, we
are pleased by thelevel of cash returned to
the Company during a challenging year.
Thisdemonstrates both the attractiveness
ofthe portfolio companiesto acquirers,
and also the multiple liquidity routes
available to our underlying private equity
managers with whom we co-invest.

Strong balance sheet

and flexibility to make
new investments

Following $44 million of dividends paid to

shareholders and the repayment of the
2022 Zero Dividend Preference (ZDP)

Summary balance sheet

Sharesin September, NBPE ended the year
with $7 million of cash and no borrowings
drawn fromits credit facility.

NBPE completed two new investments
totalling $41 millionin 2022: oneinto a
wealth managementtechnology platform,
and the otherinto an existing portfolio
company that has performed strongly,
whereby NBPE recycled some of the
proceedsfroma liquidity eventbackinto
the company. Our co-investment model
means we invest on a deal-by-deal basis,
and at 106% invested at 31 December
2022, we are under no pressure to make
new investments, and can therefore be
highly selective. Neuberger Berman
continuesto review investment
opportunities fromits active co-investment
pipeline. However, pricing for new
transactions remains competitive for
high-quality assets. Therefore, with the
exception of follow-on activity for accretive
acquisitions within our existing portfolio,

31Dec2022 31Dec2021
$m (Audited) (Audited)
Directequity investments $1,286.4 $1,430.2
Income investments $107.3 $125.1
Total investments” $1,401.4 $1,569.3
Investment level 106% 106%
Cash $7.0 $116.5
Credit facility drawn - -
ZDPs ($72.8) ($162.0)
Other ($8.4) ($43.6)
Net Asset Value $1,327.3 $1,480.2
NAV per share ($) $28.38 $31.65
NAV per share (£) £23.59 £23.37

*

$14.0 millionasof 31 December 2021

Total investmentsinclude approximately $7.7 million of fund investments as of 31 December 2022 and

we do notexpectthe pace of new
investments to pick up materially in the
neartermfor NBPE.

Since the December 2022 yearend, we
have received $37 million of proceeds (of
which approximately $10 million was
announcedin 2022 butreceivedin 2023),
and paid the first 2023 semi-annual
dividend. At 31 March 2023 we had cash
balances of $7 million and available
liquidity on our credit facility of $300
million. We expect a further $16 million of
distributions in the coming months from
announced but notyet closed transactions
and we remain committed to maintaining
our balance sheetstrength.

Continued commitment
to the dividend policy

Thefirst 2022 semi-annual dividend
payment of $0.47 per share was madein
February, a 14.6% increase over the August
2021 dividend payment, reflecting the
strong growthin NAVin 2021. Despite the
declinein NAV during 2022, we maintained
our August dividend paymentat $0.47 per
share, taking total dividends for the year
202210 $0.94 pershare, ayield of 3.4%
onNAV (above NBPE's policy of annualised
yield 0f 3.0% of NAV) and a 4.9% yield on
theyear-end share price.

Our February 2023 semi-annual dividend
of $0.47 per share was maintainedinline
withthe previous dividend. The Directors
recognise theimportance of payinga
reliable dividend to our shareholders

and we remain committed to the
Company's policy.

Dividend growth

$0.94

Total dividends paidin 2022
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Chairman’s statement

Share price impacted by
market sentiment

Global markets faced significant challenges
during 2022, with sentimentimpacted by
ongoing macroeconomic headwinds,
especially inflationary pressures. Forthe
listed private equity sector, this shiftin
sentimentled to discounts widening
significantly across the sector as concerns
aboutthe outlook forvaluations of private
companiestook hold. NBPE's share price
was notimmune. While the share price
recovered some ground from the lowsin
June 2022, itendedtheyearat £16.00,a
decline 0f9.7% on atotal return basis for
the year, which comparesto a small positive
return of 0.3% fromthe FTSE All-Sharein
2022.Overthree, fiveand 10 years the
shares continue to outperform materially
the FTSE All-Share.

Although the share priceimproved and
discount narrowed inthe first few months
o0f 2023, the market turmoil in March,
following the failure of Silicon Valley Bank
(SVB)and UBS'srescue of Credit Suisse,
impacted general investor sentiment
towards risk assets with share prices across
thelisted private equity sector falling
significantly. Although NBPE and its
portfolio companies have no material
exposure to SVB, ourshare price retreated
to £14.70 with the discount widening to
37%°.The Directors believe this discount
materially undervalues our portfolio,
balance sheetstrength and prospects. We
believe the share price representsavery
attractive entry pointforinvestorsto gain
exposure to high-quality private companies
and we continue to expand our investor

X
o)
LN
=

One year Three year Five year

NBPE Share Price (GBP) Total Returns
M FTSE All Share (GBP) Total Returns

Cumulative return as at 31 December 2022
over time periods shown

relationsinitiatives toincrease NBPE's
profileamong existing and new investors.
Alongside this, in October 2022, we
enteredinto an agreement with Jefferies,
which allows them, intheir sole discretion,
to repurchase NBPE shares based on certain
criteria. To date, no shares have been
repurchased and we will be renewing our
agreementwith Jefferies.

Recognition of Neuberger
Berman'’s ESG credentials

The Board remains focused on ESG and
responsible investing. We are pleased that
approximately 98% of NBPE's portfolio
continuesto have a positive or neutral
sustainability rating (please see page 31).
Of course, none of thiswould be

possible without the skills and expertise
of Neuberger Berman's ESG team.

We were delighted that for the third year
inarow, Neuberger Bermanwas awarded
top scores (5 stars) across all categories
foritsapproach to ESG by the UN PRI.
Alongside this, NB Private Markets received
the BVCA's Excellencein ESG Award

(LP Category) forits commitment to
fostering innovation on ESG objectives,
engagementwith private equity managers,
and efforts related to ESG data and climate
initiatives. Now inits third year, this

award seeks to recognise outstanding
contributionsto ESG and Impact Investing
across the private capital ecosystem.

Value of the private equity
modelin a challenging
market environment

While there were significant
macroeconomic challenges and
heightened volatility across asset classesin
thefirst half of 2022, in the second half,
investors saw generallyimproving
conditionsin equity and bond markets,
although the performance of major U.S.
indices remained deeply negative for the
year. The majority of NBPE's portfoliois
invested inthe U.S. By the end of the year,
U.S.inflation remained elevated, but overall
inflation measures were trending
downward and remained well below levels
in Europe. In general, throughout the year,
particularly in the second half, companies
had implemented operational changesand
were managing supply chain disruptions
better. Nevertheless, the tragiceventsin
Ukraine persisted and certain markets,
such as energy, remained destabilised,
presenting challenges from elevated
pricing. Importantly, for NBPE, energy is not
asignificantinput costacross the portfolio.

The Federal Reserve continuestotry to
fightinflation with successive interest rate
hikes, which started in Marchlast year.
While long-terminterestratesinthe U.S.
have begun declining from their peakin
2022, relatively high inflation and rising
short-terminterestrates have led some
investorstoraise the prospects of a
recessionin 2023.Inthis challenging
environment, we believe the private
equity modelis highly advantageous.
Atits core, private equity centres on
ownership - an ability to control and
guide business strategy and direction.
The managers with whom we co-invest
have a number of tools at their disposal
to unlock and drive long-termvalue —the
hiring of managementteamsto execute
growth strategies, M&A, or operational
enhancements, away from the glare of
the publicmarkets. Importantly, as owners,
private equity managersare also able to
adapt quickly to change, agreatstrength
inthe currentenvironment.

Outlook

NBPE has a high-quality portfolioand,
despite the currentheadwinds, we

are optimisticaboutits prospects. NBPE
isinastrongfinancial position and its
investment model enablesit to be highly
selective aboutwhere and whenitinvests.
We believe NBPE is well positioned to
deliver long-term value for shareholders.
William Maltby

Chairman

24 April 2023
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Private equity — Accessing true alpha

Private equity —
Accessing true alpha

Driving returns that outperform public markets

An active investmentmodel  Private equity managers as

that offers the potential for owners, ratherthan minority

returnsthat outperformthe  shareholders, can drive

public markets. strategy and change to build
long-term value.

Control
investors

Due
diligence

Strategic
change

Operational
change

Alignment
of interests

Long-term
investment horizon

Sustained

i earnings growth

N

MScl GlobalPE  Global PE
World —Pooled —First
Quartile

Source'
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Private equity — Accessing true alpha

We offer the best
of both worlds

Listed private equity funds
bridge the gap between
private and publicequity,
and are typically split
between specialist direct
investors and highly
diversified fund of funds'.

NBPE's co-investment
approach aims to combine
the best of both the direct
and fund of funds’ models.

Portfolio company
diversification

NBPE offersinvestors
exposuretoawell-
diversified portfolio of
companies, with visibility
of key underlying
positions.

Number of
PE managers

Investing alongside
numerous leading private
equity managers limits
single manager and
strategy risk.

Over commitment
level

NBPE's deal-by-deal
investmentapproach
means thatitcan be more
capital efficientand
remain fully invested
without taking on
over-commitment risk.

Fees

Around 97%'" of the
directinvestment
portfolioincurs neither
managementnor
performance fees to
underlying third-party
managers.

Single manager

Top 10 concentration

50%+

Single layer, higher
performance fee

1.0%-1.5%

vehicle management fee

15%-20%

performance fee

NB Private Equity
Partners

93 companies

Top 10 concentration

33%

Fund of Funds

Single layer, lower
performance fee

1.5%

vehicle management fee

7.5%

performance fee

Double layer, higher
performance fee
0.8%-1.5%

vehicle management fee
1.5%-2.0%
underlying fund
management fee

20% performance fee
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Why investin NBPE?

Access to direct investments in high-quality private companies

NBPE co-invests alongside top-tier managers in their core area of expertise,
with a focus on companies that benefit from long-term secular growth trends
and/or less cyclical industries.

Benefits of NBPE’s co-investment model:

B Diversified B Focused

across sectors, private equity on the best opportunities,
managers and company size controlling the investment decision

B Dynamic B ESG

invest deal by deal so able to ESG assessments made at both
respond to market conditions  managerand company levels

B Fee Efficient

asingle layer of fees

Strong long-term performance

b
L

[

Average gross IRRon direct Average multiple of coston Average uplifton ‘
equity investments (5 years) realisations (5 years) IPOs/realisations (5years)

Patricia Miller Zollar
Managing Director, Member
of Investment Committee
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Why investin NBPE?

NBPE invests in companies
that benefit fromtwo
key themes

Long-term secular
growth trends

Businesses with
low cyclicality

Companiesthatare
expected to benefit from
higher growth ratesdue
tolong-termtrends or
behaviour changes

These companies tend to
be characterised by more
defensive sectors or

end markets

= Often structural changesdriven by
changesin customer demands

= Not confined to any one type

of business or sector

= Creates new sources of demand, which
can often be sustainable over long
periods (versus more cyclical demand)

= Generally companies which are less
susceptible to changesin overall GDP

= May offer reasonable downside
protection during periods of

economic contraction

= Can often be ‘essential services' or
quasi-infrastructure, such as waste
management, insurance or mobile
phone towers

Building the portfolio from

: [AUETANL ACTION 27 AutoStore il
the bottom up, investment _ bl
by investment, backing ; P IMARY EMHS COTIVITI
companies with resilient ,
business models and the E™CELITAS % MARCILIEE BRAMDS TMOHROEF KRJLL
potential to create strong . REALPAGE ¥ SOLENS v putsonal .
earnings growth

.
y

Resu|ting ina portfolio Technology Consumer and Industrial/Industrial Financial and Other

with afocus on these
key sectors

= Significantexposure
tosoftware across
industry verticals

= Companieswith
diversified end
markets/applications

= Mission-critical
applications and sticky
customer bases

E-commerce

= Companieswith
large-scale competitive
positioning and strong
brands

= Companies benefitting
from significant
e-commerce trends

Technology

= Focuson ‘enabling’
businesses helping to
drive macro trends

= Companies supporting
growth of e-commerce,
efficienciesand
automation

Business Services

= Differentiated,
technology-integrated
businesses

= Sticky and diverse
customer bases

= Otherbusinesses that
exhibit our key themes
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Our Manager

The Private Markets team
atNeuberger Bermanisan
industry-leading private
markets platform, with robust
deal flow, demonstrated
access and selectivity,and a
vast network of relationships.

NBPE leverages the
strength of the Neuberger
Berman Private Markets
platformto seek the most
attractive direct investment
opportunities.

The strength and depth of the
relationships on Neuberger
Berman's Private Markets'
platform are the principal
source of deal flow forits
co-investment programme.

+$110bn" $31bn"

Co-investments

Private equity commitments 5
managed = 566 opportu

nities

reviewed in 2022 from
320 unique managers

$9bn

Directspecialty
strategies

$17bn

Direct private credit

Anthony Tutrone
Global Head of NB Alternatives, Managing Director,
Member of the Investment Committee

$36bn"

HONEIES

$17bn"

Secondaries

Fund commitments

Limited partner Advisory
Committee seats
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Our Manager

An industry leader with an
integrated platform and
attractive market position

With over 300 private
market professionals

across 14 global locations,
Neuberger Berman Private
Markets' fully integrated
approach to private markets
investing provides robust
deal flow and enhanced
due diligence and execution
capabilities, resulting
inalong and successful
investment history.

/1

Ourintegrated global
platformis one of the
broadestin the marketplace.
Our model affords us a
differentiated positioninthe
private markets ecosystem
that drives deep relationships
with leading private equity
managers globally.”

David Stonberg, Deputy Head of

NB Alternatives and Global Co-Head

of Private Equity Co-investments,

Managing Director, Member of the
Investment Committee

14 300+ 999%

offices globally

U.S. Headquarters

team members

European Heaglquarters
New York City London

retention rate of Managing

Directorsand Principals

R\’s'ian Headquarters
Hong Kong

Agloballeaderin
ESG-integrated private
equity investing

Neuberger Berman has
been integrating ESGinto
its investment process
since 2007.

Neuberger Berman'’s
approach to ESG

Neuberger Berman believes that
integrating ESG considerations throughout
the investment process can lead to more
consistentand betterinvestment
outcomes—by helping toidentify both
material risks and opportunities to drive
value. We are focused onlong-term
partnerships,and engage with our
partnersto promote best practicesin
ESGintegration.

S%

rating by PRI for I o oy [

ESGintegration

100%

of co-investmentsare o
ESGintegrated

Deep resources

= NBPE benefits from the ESG leadership
andresources of Neuberger Berman

= Responsible & Sustainable Investment
Policy: Dedicated NBPE Responsible and
Sustainable Investment Policy formalises
NBPE's commitmenttointegrating ESG
throughoutitsinvestment process

= NBESG Integration Framework:
Provides framework for ESGintegration
(e.g.'Avoid’, '‘Assess’ and ‘Amplify’)

Directinvestments

= NBPE invests directly into companiesand
conducts ESG due diligence directly at
the company-level

= Neuberger Berman’s materiality matrix:
identifies categories of factors likely to be
financially material to a company given
itsindustry/sector

= Sustainability potential: Applies
alenstounderstand acompany’s
potential positive benefit to people and
the environment

i
& 5
=
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Our business model

Investing globally, witha
focusontheU.S....

Investing globally,
with afocus onthe U.S.

Our portfoliois geographically
representative of the global private equity
market, of which the U.S.isthe largestand
deepest market.

Focusing on buyout transactions

Our primary focusis on buyout
transactions (acquisition of a controlling
interestin acompany), forexample,
take-privates, buyouts of family
businesses, carve-outs or divisional sales.
Growth strategies are usually through
some combination of organic revenue
growth, cost efficiencies or M&A.

...iInaflexible and disciplined
way that builds resilience...

Investing on a deal-by-deal basis

Investment decisions are takenona
deal-by-deal basis. We can speed up
orslow down ourinvestment pace,
depending on market conditions.

Prudently managed balance sheet

Disciplined capital allocation and access
to long-term credit facility ensure we can
be fullyinvested, without the need
forsignificantlong-term off-balance
sheet commitments.

...and a co-investment
model that sets us apart.

Co-investing alongside leading
private equity managers in their
core area of expertise

We generate long-term growth by
building a portfolio of directinvestments
in high-quality private companies.

Building aresilient portfolio

We build our portfolio investment by
investment, rather than through funds.
Our co-investmentapproach allows
ustoinvestalongside awide selection
of top-tier private equity managers.
We focus on backing business models
that we believe will deliver sustainable
earnings growth fromlong-term secular
growth trends and/or from lower
expected cyclicality due to their sectors
orend markets.

140d3d DID31VHlLS
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Supported by the strengths = Strength and depth of the team = Highly selective investment approach

of Neuberger Berman » Expertise and strong track record = Strong ESG credentials

= Extensive insightinto the private = Client-focused culture

equity marketplace = Integrated private markets investment platform

220z yoday [enuuy siaulied Aynb3aieald dnN



Ourinvestmentstrategy

Afocuson...

Investing in high-quality
companies. ..

alongside premier private
equity managers...

in their core areas of
expertise...

in companies with the
potential to create strong
earnings growth...

and prudent capital
structures.

David Stonberg

Deputy Head of NB Alternatives and
Global Co-Head of Private Equity
Co-Investments, Managing Director,
Member of the Investment Committee

1 Investing in high-quality
companies...

Neuberger Berman looks toinvestin
market-leading companiesandthose
with sustainable competitive
advantages, such as:

= Business models that are hard to
replicate

= High barriersto entry
= Recurring revenue streams

= Ability to maintain revenue stability
inthe face of macroeconomic
headwinds

= Strong management teams with the
resourcesand incentives toimplement
the changes necessary to create value

portfolio con

2 alongside premier private
equity managers...

Neuberger Berman has a deep
understanding of private markets.

Its strong relationships give access to
investment opportunities as well as the
ability to choose some of the best
managers alongside whom we work.

The team targets managers who have
demonstrated a track record of:

= Investmentdiscipline
= Value creation

= Generating strong performance
through changing investment
environments

underlying managers
inNBPE's portfolio
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Ourinvestmentstrategy

Elizabeth Traxler
Managing Director, Member
ofthe Investment Committee

3 in their core area
of expertise.

Neuberger Berman's co-investment
strategy focuses on partnering with
theright private equity managers,
with the right experience for the
right opportunity.

This experienceincludes:

= Deep sectorexpertise, such as
technology, industrials or
financial services

= Geographicfocus

= Ability and track record of investing
in complex transactions

= Generating value through accretive
bolt-on acquisitions

Investing in companies

with the potential to create

strong earnings growth...

Neuberger Berman aims to investin
opportunities where private equity
managers can add value and generate
sustained earnings growth.

Examples of thisinclude:

= Introducing new products or entering
new markets or geographies

= Finding efficiencies, or optimising
management teams and people,
such asramping up a sales force

= Acquiring complementary businesses
through M&A to capture synergies,
increasing market share and overall
scale, aswell as the attractiveness to
potential buyers

LTM revenue growth
(atDecember2022)

LTM EBITDA growth
(at December 2022)

with prudent capital
structures.

Investing in companies with prudent
capital structuresis paramount.

Companies should have the ability to
supportthe investment thesis, without
raising concerns about managing
their debt.

Neuberger Berman looks for companies
that have:

= Prudentabsolute leverage level
= Covenant-lite debt

= Strong interest coverage

netdebtto
EBITDA multiple
(atDecember 2022
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Portfolio ata glance

Awell-diversified portfolio

Our direct private equity

portfolio $ ’| 4 b N

With $1.4 billion invested

. . value of direct equity investments
across 93 private companies,

95

portfolio companies

51%

fairvalue of top 20 companies

NBPE's portfoliois well
diversified by company, 9 2 O/
manager and sector. O

of fairvalue invested in direct equity

>0

private equity managers
co-invested alongside

4.2

years private company average age

Total portfolio composition

Investment type

‘ :Equity

= Income

= Legacy Funds

Geography

:North America

= Europe
Asia/RoW

Industry

Vintage Year

140d3d DID3LVHLS
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7Tech,!\/|edia & Telecom ’ ' 720W4&Ear|\'er
o . 2015
. 2016
2017
u 2018
u 2019
u 2020
u 2021
. 2022

= Consumer/E-commerce

Healthcare

Industrials/Industrial Technology
Business Services
= Financial Services

_ Energy
m Other
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Manager’s review

Resilient performance against
a challenging backdrop

Petervon Lehe, Managing Director, Paul Daggett, CFA, Managing
Head of Investment Solutions and Strategy, Director, Member of Investment
Member of Investment Committee Committee

NBPE's NAV total return
declined by 7.5%"in 2022,
with performance impacted
by falls in the value of our
quoted holdings and foreign
exchange headwinds,
which together outweighed
anaggregate 4.4% increase
inthe value of our private
investments (on a constant
currency basis).

4 4%

Aggregateincreasein private
investments valuations (Ex-FX)
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Manager’s review

A well-diversified carefully
constructed portfolio
focused on two key themes

Asof 31 December 2022, the portfolio
consisted of 93 direct equity investments
valued at $1.4 billion. Of these 93
investments, the vast majority

(75 companies, or 80% of the portfolio),
isinvestedin private investments, with
theremaining 18 companies (12% of the
portfolio) invested in public holdings, most

of whichisin companiesthathave IPO'd
inrecentyears. Although these companies
arenolongerinlock up, thetiming of sales
is controlled by the underlying private
equity managers.

The portfoliois built fromthe bottom up,
investment by investmentand is focused
ontwo keythemes: expected long-term
seculargrowth, and/or companies and
business models with lower expected
cyclicality. The underlying companies
share common characteristics such as:

Significant exposure to attractive sub-sectors

Healthcare

10%

Financial services

14%

Business services

12%

Energy
1%

Tech, media & telecom

21%

Industrials
&industrial
technology

Consumer & e-commerce

20%

high barriersto entry, strong market share,
recurring revenue streams, and the

potential for revenue and earnings growth.

We are sector agnostic, however, our focus
ontwo keythemesand backing resilient
business models means that the portfolio
isweighted towards companies that
tendto operatein certain sectors or
sub-sectors. While no company or sector
isimmune to economic headwinds,

our portfolio, asawhole, has been
constructed to performacrossarange

of economicenvironments.

/ Software
49%

During the year, while certain companiesin
some sectors experienced challenges mostly
duetoissues caused by supply chain pressures,
inflation orlabour costs, this was offset by
resilient performancein other areas of the
portfolio, which we believe speaks to the
advantages of maintaining diversification and
investing across our key themes. In addition,
we saw the benefits of private equity
ownershipinthe portfolio during the year,
with mitigating actions generally taken quickly
inmany companies.

=exXact

/"/Techno\ogy services
22%

EYUIGHT  Paraban

Telecom & media
11%

TELXEUS

""'Fintech
8%

" Hardware
7%

CHCERITAS

Consumerinternet
3%

~Industrial technology
44%

“Distribution
15%

- /Specia\ty chemicals
14%

~ Manufactured products
& packaging 9%

Fleet & environmental
servicesand other 19%

OZPG
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Manager’s review

Valuation uplifts across a
range of companies in the
private portfolio

Ourmost material write-up in the year was
Action, with value appreciation driven by
strong operating performance. Itis now
NBPE's largest portfolio company holding
(see casestudy onpage 19).

Elsewhereinthe portfolio, in general,
underlying companies within the financial
services, healthcare, and the sub-sectors of
industrials focused on specialty chemicals,
manufacturing and distribution saw
positive valuation adjustments. In addition,
NBPE isinvested in a number of profitable
technology companies, many of which
showed resilience during the year.

Top 10 All other Top 5

positive positive negative negative
value drivers value drivers value drivers value drivers  investments (LC) quoted
companies

Many of these technology companies
provide mission critical software essential
to the customers’ business operationsand
have attractive characteristics of high
switching costs, recurring revenue and
beingarelatively low-input cost to the
buyer. Against this, companies within the
business servicesindustry and certain
companiesinthe consumer andindustrial
sectors more proneto supply chainand
input cost pressures saw negative valuation
adjustments during theyear.In general,
thiswaslargely attributable to earnings
pressure from higher input costs due to
inflation, supply chainissues and other
factors arising from changesinthe
economicenvironment.

All other Total value Total value
change private change of

Looking at specificwrite-ups across the
private portfolio, excluding the impact
of FX, there were a total of $159 million
of positive valuation gains across the
portfolio, with the largest 10 positive
valuation movements accounting for
$96 million of these gains. Against this,
there were $103 million of negative
valuationadjustments, resultingina net
positive increase of $56 million. However,
these gains were offset by the negative
impact of publicvaluations and foreign
exchange headwinds. In a period of
significant market volatility, NBPE's

18 publicinvestments declined invalue
by approximately $119 millionin total
during 2022. Of this, the three largest
holdings, Autostore, Agilitiand

GFL, accounted for over 65% of this fall.

Impact Total
of foreign Portfolio
exchange Value Change

Both Autostore and GFL continue to report
strong revenue and EBITDA growth,
whereas Agilitihas reported revenue and
EBITDA contractioninthe fourth quarter of
2022, relative to the same period one year
earlier. Theimpact fromforeign exchange
oninvestments contributed to a decline of
$25 million during 2022, with the U.S. dollar
strengthening, particularly against Sterling
andthe Euro.

Finally, of note, we saw particularly strong
revenue and EBITDA growth from many
of our 2021 investments, which inturn
resultedina number of write-ups, despite
falling multiples.

$56m

Aggregateincreaseinvalue of the
private companies (excluding FX)

143)m

Negative impact of quoted
companiesand FX
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Manager’s review

A leading European
discount retailer

Investment Theme/Sector  Description
Fairvalue PEmanager Investment thesis
®Q Actionis the fastest growing non-food discounter in Europe

ACTION  ogaicay

$72.2m

Consumer

m Grow store network within existing countries
m Expandinto other European countries

3 m Strengthen supply chain
m Opportunity foroperational enhancements

Action?'isaleading European discount
retailer which sells products for everyday
household needs, seasonal products,
consumables and textilesin a convenient
discount format. With only approximately
35% of the total product range fixed,
Action aims to surprise its customers with
arefreshed productatlow prices. Action’s
business modelis simple: win customers by
offering large product categories at low
prices, with assortments and promotions
in an easy and efficient store format.

Today the company sells more than

6,000 products across 14 retail categories
(cleaning products, toiletries, office supplies,
toys, garden utensils, homeware, etc.) to

12 million customers, acrossits 2,200 stores.

Action’s business model isbased on a
single store format, whichis scalableand
repeatable. Itrelies on buying big volumes,
maintaining low overhead and marketing
expense, and standardised store processes,
all coupled with an efficient logistics
network. 3ioriginally invested in Actionin
2011, and under their ownership, the
company has demonstrated considerable

growth. Action grew from 514 storesin

4 countriesin 2014 to 1,552 storesin

7 countries by 2019. Sales increased from
€1,506 million to €5,114 millionand
operating EBITDA increased more than
three-fold over this same time period.
In2019 alone, the year priorto NBPE's
investment, Action had increased its store
countwith 230 new store openings.

Atthetime of NBPE's investment, Action
had been the largestinvestmentanda
material driver of long-term growth for 3i,
which had owned Action in one of 3i's
flagship funds since 2011.In order to
provide liquidity to its fund investors, the
fund sold its entire stake in Action which
valued the company at€10.25 billion,
representing an 18.2x September run-rate
EBITDA valuation multiple. As part of this
transaction, NBPE co-invested alongside
agroup of select co-investors and other
Neuberger Berman fundsto enable the
company’s next phase of growth.

Neuberger Berman believed Action
represented an attractive opportunity to

investinthe company’s continued growth.

Atthe time of NBPE's investment, store
roll-out was rapid but there was
considerable white space potential, both in
terms of new countries and existing
markets. Germany, France and Poland were
strong growth markets at the time, while
significant opportunities existed for
expansioninto new markets, including
Czech Repubilic, Italy and the rest of Europe.
With an average of a one-year historical
payback on new store capex, growth unit
economics were very attractive. In addition,
strong expansion presented further
opportunities for supply-chainand
sourcing enhancements. Neuberger
Berman believed there was a compelling
opportunity to participate in the continued
development of the Action distribution
network focused on ‘one-day delivery’
distribution centres to reduce average
delivery distance and provide more
efficientservice tostores.

In 2022, Action had another strong year of
performance with strong sales growthin all
countries. It was another record year of
store openings with 280 net stores added

toits network, of which growth in France
and Poland were the largest drivers. Total
netsalesincreased 29.6% to €8.9 billion
while operating EBITDA grew 45.5% to
€1.2 billion. Operating EBITDA margin
increasing from 12.1% to 13.6%. While
Action did see some impact from lower
gross margins due to costinflation, this was
more than offset by the positive effect of
operating leverage, as scale effects
increasingly benefit margins. Through

19 March 2023, relative to the prior year
comparable period, netsales were up 37%,
and 2023 store expansion was on track with
23 storesadded yeartodatein 2023.

Overthe nextfouryears, Actionistargeting
between 1,300and 1,400 new store
openings with average like-for-like growth
from the mid-single digits to high-single
digits. Neuberger Berman believes that, as
Action continuesto scale, its business
model becomesincreasingly difficult to
replicate, and thatthe company continues
to have along growth runway ahead of it
overthe nextseveral years.
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Manager’s review

Continued strong earnings
and revenue growth,
despite challenging
backdrop

Overall, the portfolio generated LTM
revenue and LTM EBITDA growth of
14.4% and 11.9%, respectively®, during
2022, with several companiesreporting
EBITDA growth in excess of 30%.
Nevertheless,certain parts of the portfolio
were growing slower and overall portfolio

revenue growth outpaced EBITDA growth.

We did see some margin pressure across
the portfolio, particularly in companies
facing higherinput costs, supply chain
costsorlabour costinflation. However, a
number of companies were able to
maintain or expand margins, particularly
thosein the consumer, financial and
business servicessectors. Ingeneral, by the
latter part of the year many companies
were benefitting from the operational
changeswhich beganinthefirst half,
whetherthey were cost savingsinitiatives,
priceincreases, supply chain
improvements, ora combination

of enhancements. Active ownership of
underlying private equity managersin
general meant they were quick to adapt
to changesinthe economicenvironment
and, by working closely with underlying
company management, could drive
changesin portfolio company operations,
which allowed companies to quickly adapt
and be better positioned for the current
environment. As aresult,aggregate
EBITDA margin compression across the
portfoliointhe yearwaslessthan 1%.

Interms of LTM revenue growth, all sectors
contributed to positive revenue growth
during the year, driven by both organic
revenue growth and M&A. Healthcare,
industrials and business services sectors
grew LTM revenue the fastest, although
atslowerratesrelative tolastyear.
While consumer, financial servicesand
TMT continued to grow revenue, these
were atslower rates relative to other
sectorsinthe portfolio.

Interms of LTM EBITDA growth, five of
the six sectors contributed to growth,
although atslower rates versus 2021.
Nevertheless, three sectors, industrials,
healthcare and consumer, grew LTM
EBITDA atstrong growth rates. Against
this, LTM EBITDA growth was slowerin
TMT and business and financial services
relative to othersectorsand lastyear.

14.4%

LTM Revenue growth

11.9%

LTM EBITDA growth

96%

Portfoliois profitable
onalTM EBITDA basis

This performanceincluded companies
which were growing strongly, certain
companiesinvesting for growth as well
ascompanies which had to adaptto

challengesinthe operating environment.

However, over 95% of the portfolio’s
fairvalue as of 31 December 2022isin
companies which were profitable on
an LTM EBITDA basis.

Operating performance
outweighed decline
in valuation multiples

Aggregating valuations across the
portfolioresulted in a weighted average
valuation multiple of 15.2x LTM EBITDA%
at31 December 2022, whichwasa
decline of overtwo turns, relative to the
valuation multiple atthe end of 2021.
With valuations within our private
portfolioup 4.4% in 2022 on a constant
currency basis, lower valuation multiples
were generally the result of strong
operating performance.

2021

Smallincrease in Net
Debt/EBITDA multiple

The average net debt/EBITDA multiple

was 5.5x%°, asmallincrease during the year,
whichincluded theimpact of debtto
finance M&A, partially offset by strong
earnings growth. In some cases, companies
used free cash flow to deleverage.

Looking across our portfolio, returns
continued to be driven by growthin EBITDA
ratherthan multiple expansion, and we
believe ourstrategy of investingin
companies with prudent capital structures,
andthatwe believe have the potential to
create strong sustainable earnings growth,
positions the portfolio well to continue to
performacrossarange of interestrate and
economic conditions. From a debt maturity
perspective, over 79% of the portfolio
company debt matures after 2025.

2022
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Manager’s review

M&A continuestobea
driver of value creation
in the portfolio

Within the top 10 investmentsin particular,
M&A activity has contributed meaningfully
to growth and business transformation.
Private equity managers often use M&A
todrivevalue by finding attractive
consolidation opportunities, usuallyin
fragmented markets. Often, these
acquisitions are of smaller scale businesses,
which can be purchased forlower multiples
andthenintegratedintoalarger

business, creating scale and efficiencies.

M&A spotlight??

Systems and solutions
EDMHS utilised in distribution
centres

MHS, a provider of systems and solutions
used indistribution centres,

was combined with Fortnain 2022.
NBPE invested in MHS alongside THL
Partnersin 2017 and the combination

of the two businesses creates a global
leaderin e-commerce and logistics
automation which valued the combined
business at approximately $4 billion.

This can have the added impact ofallowing
aprivate equity managerto, overtime,
“buy down” theirinitial purchase multiple
of aplatform business through M&A,
when successful integration occurs.

Within NBPE's top portfolio company
holdings, a number of companiesincluding
Advisor Group, USI, and Kroll completed
acquisitions which added scale and
additional product or service capabilities
during 2022. Another way M&A can add

valueisthroughtransformative acquisitions

—and MHS was a good example of this
during 2022.

The combination merges MHS's expertise
inautomation technology and systems
integration with Fortna’s capabilities
around software and solutions for
warehouse and distribution. The
combination of automation technology
and operational optimisation software is
expected to provide end-to-end solutions
inlogistics operations, with customers
benefitting fromthe breadth and depth
of both companies’ offerings, allowing
customersto further leverage advanced
automation to drive greater cost savings
and efficiencies.

Seven full or partial
realisations

Following a record year for realisations

in 2021, NBPE announced $143 million of
realisations during 2022. As a percentage
of our opening portfolio, this was below
ourlong-term average of 21%, as private
equity exits slowed materially during the
year. Despite this slowdown there were
seven full or partial exits, which generated
a2.7xmultiple of capital, and an uplift

of 6% relative to theirvaluation

at31 December2021. While the multiple
of costachieved on these sales was
consistent with our five-year average,
the upliftto carrying valueis below our
five-year average of 37%. Thisislargely
driven by arelatively high weighting to
companiesthat werevalued ator near
sales proceedsat 31 December 2021.

Including expected proceeds from sales
whichwere announced butnot closed
during the year, these sevenfull or partial
exits represented $89 million of
realisations. There was also $13 million of
proceeds generated fromthe sale of public
stock and approximately $40 million of
other portfolio realisations, of which
$24 million was driven by realisations
from NBPE'sinvestmentin NB Credit
Opportunitiesand NB Specialty Finance
—both of which areinrealisation mode.

$143m

ofannounced realisations?

2. /X

Multiple of cost?

Types of exits

\

= Saleto Strategic
Saleto PE/Investor
= Dividends
n Sale of Public Stock
Income Portfolio
= OtherPortfolio Realisations

23%
32%

3%
1%
20%
1%
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Manager’s review

Selective investment
in two companies

NBPE invested a total of $55 million during
theyear, with $41 million invested into
two direct equity investments.

Thefirst new investmentwas a $26 million
investmentinto True Potential, alongside
Cinven, aleadinginternational private
equity firm with a 30-year track record of

New investment spotlight

Wealth management

_ technology platform

True Potential is a wealth management
technology platform serving advisors
andretail clientsinthe UK. The company
provides advice, investment platform and
fund solutionsto more than 1.4 million
retail clients, with approximately 20%

of the financial advisor marketin the UK
using True Potential’s technology and
supportservices. We believe there were
several factors which made thisa

investing across six sectors primarily across
Europe, butalsoin North America. The
second was a $15 million re-investmentin
an existing portfolio company that has
beenastrong performer, following a
liquidity event, whereby NBPE recycled
some proceeds backinto the company to
supportits future growth plans.

The remaining $14 million was invested
in planned follow-onsinthe portfolio.

compelling opportunity, including
attractive market dynamics, and
differentiated business model, a strong
management team with a track record
of growth, and an experienced sponsor
in Cinven, with significant expertise in
both financial servicesand TMT. The
investment supports the existing growth
strategy and builds on the company’s
significant potential, backed by a
digital-firstand client-focused strategy
with the goal to revolutionise the way
wealth managementservices are
provided. We believe True Potential has
performed wellto date and are pleased
with the startthe investment has made.

Outlook

Aswe look forward, we believe NBPE's
portfoliois well positioned to generate
strong growth overthe long-term. Froman
operating perspective, asdemonstrated by
our private company performance, private
equity’s ability to respond quickly to market
forces, whether those be opportunities or
threats, should continue to grow value over
thelongerterm.

Pricing for new investment remains robust
forhigh-quality assets and, while both the
volume and value of exits declined from
record highsin 2021, there were still over
$530 billion of exits completed in 2022.

By farthe largest buyers of private equity
backed assets are corporate strategic
buyers and other private equity funds, both
of whom remain opento new acquisitions,
in particular private equity. Alongside this
we also expect to see more GP-led
secondaries and continuation fundsacross
the market, as GPslook to continue to hold
performing assets longer, while providing
an exitforinvestors that need liquidity.

For NBPE, we believe we have a high-
quality portfolioand at 106% invested
we are under no pressure to invest and
can be highly selective. Given the pricing
environmentforin-demand assets,
excluding the possibility of follow-on
activity for accretive M&Ain our existing
portfolio companies, we do not expect
the pace of new investmentstoincrease
materially in the shortterm. We have a
strong balance sheetand are well placed
totake advantage of opportunitiesand
benefitfrom aninvestment model that
allows usto manage our new investment
pacing, dependent on market conditions,
deal-flow and the portfolio asawhole.
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Top 20 companies

Investment

Theme/Sector Description

% of FV/$m

PEmanager

Consumer

E-commerce

3i

Financial Services

Reverence
Capital

Business Services

TDR
Capital

Financial Services

KKR

Industrials

Industrial
technology

THL

Investment thesis

European discountretailer

= Grow store network and expand to other European countries

m Strengthen supply chain
mOperational enhancements

Independent network of wealth management firms

m Strong M&A track recordin a fragmented, consolidating
industry

mSeculartailwinds supportshare gains forindependent
platforms

= Multiple levers fororganicgrowth and value creation

Leading provider of vehicle remarketing services

= Market leader

m Defensive business model
mB2Csalesopportunity

m Strong cash flow generation

Insurance brokerage and consulting services

= Favourableindustry dynamics
m Attractive financial profile and high-quality cash flow
= Ability to grow organically and through M&A

Leading provider of automation technology

= Growth driven by megatrends

m Strong value proposition with attractive financial
characteristics

mEmbedded growth options

Investment

Theme/Sector

Description

% of FV/$m

PEmanager

Healthcare

Industrials

Industrial
Technology

THL

Healthcare

Veritas
Capital

Business Services

Undisclosed

Financial Services

Further
Global

Investment thesis

Medical equipment management and services

= Industry dynamics supportgrowth

m | eading providerin end-to-end medical equipmentsolutions

m Diversified and loyal customer and supplier base

Systems and solutions utilised in distribution centres

mRapidly growing market driven by e-commerce
m Strong market position
mHighvisibility on revenue

Paymentaccuracy and clinical software solutions for
the healthcare industry

m Compelling strategicrationale for the combination of
two businesses

= Market leaderwith enduring competitive advantages

m Attractive financial profile and free cash flow generation

Undisclosed Business Services Company

m [ owexpected cyclicality end markets
m Essential service with ‘utility-like’ characteristics
m Attractive financial profile with stable cash flow

Multinational financial consultancy firm

= Market-leading businesses

mRecent M&A hasdiversified revenue streamsand reduced
cyclicality

m Continued execution of accretive M&A
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Top 20 companies

Investment

Theme/Sector

Description

% of FV/$m

$28.7m

2%

PEmanager

Technology/IT

Francisco
Partners

Financial Services

Cinven

Consumer

E-commerce

Neuberger
Berman

Consumer

Industrials

Platinum
Equity

Business Services

BCPartners

Investment thesis
Cyber security and secure access solutions

mBusiness combinations create a highly attractive position
inthe market
mBlue chip customer base

Wealth management technology platform

m Strong value proposition and focus on customer outcomes

m | eading technology platform
m Attractive market dynamics and track record of financial
performance

Portfolio of consumer-branded IP assets, licensed to third
parties withanumber of internally managed DTC platforms

m Established platform with experienced managementteam

mUnique business model
m Strong free cash flow with revenue visibility

Specialty chemicals and services provider

m Sticky and diverse customer base/trusted provider
m Natural barriersto entry, benefitting fromscale
= Mid-lifeinvestment/transformative M&A

Waste managementservices

= Favourable environmental services industry dynamics
m Sticky and diverse customer base
mFragmented industry provides opportunities for M&A

Investment

Theme/Sector

Description

% of FV/$m

$26.6m

2%

$23.8m

PEmanager

Industrials

AEA
Investors

Consumer

E-commerce

Neuberger
Berman

Technology/IT

NB
Renaissance

Business Services

Trilantic
Capital

Consumer

Undisclosed

Investment thesis

Distributor of mission-critical standard and custom
engineered products

m | eading marketopportunity with diverse end-markets
m Significantgrowth opportunities
m Proven acquisition platform

Ticket exchange and resale platform for buyers
andsellers

m|argescaleand competitive positioning
mHigh barrierstoentry
m Attractive entry price

Provider of systems integration, consulting and
outsourcing services

m | eading technology companyin Italy
m Attractive IT services market with secular growth from
digitaltransformation

Professional services provider specialising in staffing
and consulting services

m Scaled business with diversified end-markets
m | arge underlying market with positive growth trends
m Attractive financial profile

Branded Toy Company

m Strong brand with high-quality products
= Multiple avenues forgrowth
m Strong financial profile
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Neuberger Berman - market review

Throughout 2022 and the start of 2023, geopolitical tensions,
high inflation, interest rate hikes and, most recently, a turbulent
banking sector, have created a period of uncertainty for
investors. However, we believe private market investments
have unique characteristics which generally allow them to
better navigate significant market volatility compared to public
markets. Additionally, private markets have particular qualities
that support the case forincluding them in a diversified
portfolio throughout a cycle. Some of those qualities may
even support the case for committing new capital to the asset
class at times like the present, as private equity has the ability
to take advantage of opportunity sets that tend to emerge

in relatively weak points in the market cycle.

Opportunities for Growth

Private equity firms are largely focused
today onstrategicand operational value
creation as opposedtorelying on leverage
ormultiple expansion asvalue drivers, and
thus typically make investments with deep,
well-thought-out plans with the goal of
accelerating earnings growth. They often
also have more flexibility to adapt
operationally to a changing economic
environment relative to larger, public
companies. In particular, sustaining
marginsand investing in growthinitiatives
through difficult environments may be
easier forasmaller company working away
from the glare and short-termfocus of
publicmarkets. Inrecentyears, thiswas
paramount, as underlying companies
faced headwinds related to the pandemic,
supply chain disruption, geopolitical
unrest, inflationary pressure, and higher
interestrates.

Further, private equity firms today have
greatlyimproved on operating resources
in-house, and they can use their position
of control orinfluence to respond quickly
to changesinthe market environment.
The value of this became particularly
apparentduring the recent banking crisis
aswe saw sponsors react with speed to
help theirfirms and portfolio companies
safeguard assets and maintain access to
credit, while simultaneously identifying
exposures and proactively communicating
toinvestorsinreal time.

Although standard for publicequities,
thisrapid response and willingness to
provide investors with transparencyisa
shiftfor private equity,and an example of
the evolution and growing sophistication
ofthe asset class.

Performance

Theimpact of market volatility has
historically been more muted on private
markets given the long-term nature of the
underlyinginvestments. Capitalislocked
up, fire salesarerare and, in times of
volatility, sellerscansimply holdontoan
assetlongerand continue executing on
theiroperationaland growth plans.
Furthermore, private equity managers

can be quicker than their public
counterparts to manage costs, conserve
cash, orimprove management. Private
firms also tend to have ready access to
capitalinturbulenttimes, sothey caninject
more equity into businesses that may be
temporarily affected by external weakness.

As potential evidence of these benefits,
operating performance of many private
equity backed companies has held up well
despite the more difficult recent
macroeconomic backdrop, and many
portfolio companies are still growing at
orabove plan.

This active managementhasallowed
overall performanceto hold up relatively
well comparedto the declining public
market multiples. Some of that may be due
tolagging or over-optimistic valuations that
may ultimately have to be written down
—butnotas much asmanyfear,in ourview.
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Neuberger Berman - market review

Investment Activity

Global private equity deal activity slowed
during 2022, as evidenced in the chart
below. Thefirstthree quarters of the year
saw arun rate that was 80% as high as that
forthe fullyear2021-and 2021 wasan
extraordinarily busy year asthe industry
gotback to work following the disruption
of the pandemic. Moreover, this slowdown
inactivity partly reflects another quality
that private equity brings to a portfolio:
private asset owners can be strategicand
opportunisticaboutwhen to monetize
theirassets-if the marketis weak, they
can oftenhold onto fundamentally
high-quality assets until the environment
hasrecovered.

Source:

We are starting to see entry valuations
come down slightly, with the potential to
decrease further, but this likely won't occur
until broader dealmaking activity further
rebounds. In contrast, one area of the
market where we have seen valuations
resetisinthe public markets. Thisisstillan
opportunity forlarger-scale private equity
managers because they can acquire the
majority of these companies and delist
themin “take private” transactions. The
companies can benefit from the sponsor
transformation plans outside of the public
eye, which take timetoimplementand are
hard to execute with the short-term
scrutiny that comes with quarterly earnings
reporting. We believe this will representa
significant opportunity for larger private
equity managersif the market uncertainty
andvolatility persists.

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Outlook for 2023
and Beyond

We believe that private equityisan
all-weather asset class: private equity
managers derive returns from buying
high-quality businesses, putting in strong
management, and implementing strategic
operating plansto create value.

Overtheyearsand across market
environments, we have found thatvolatile
times often provide a more favourable
backdrop forinvestmentsandtendto be
the bestvintagesin private equity. In our
view, the industry is now better suited to
the task of finding opportunities thanin
the past, given lessons learned through
previous market cyclesand the structural
improvements many private equity firms
have made to their operational playbooks
and teams. Although it will beimportant to
monitor the ongoing marketvolatility, we
think this remains a good time to commit
to private markets.

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Pinpointing market turnsis hardinany
asset class, butalmostimpossiblein private
equity, givenitslonginvestment
timeframe, which sometimes cover
multiple economicand market cycles.
Importantly, private equity investments
have a natural hedge against any specific
year, asinvestmentstrategies are normally
executed over fourto sevenyears,
insulating investors from anannual peak or
trough. We would argue that private equity
isastrategicasset class, to which investors
should maintain exposure through all
market environments—althoughithasthe
potential to be very opportunisticwhen
dislocations arise.

Neuberger Berman Private Markets

24 April 2023
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Key performance indicators

NAV total return Total shareholder return Dividend growth over time
$ £
Rationale Reflects the growth in the value of the Company’s assets Measures performancein the delivery of shareholder Areliable source ofincomeisimportant for
lessits liabilities. It includes all the components of NBPE's value, after considering share price movements (capital shareholders. NBPE targets an annualised dividend
investment performance and is shown net of all costs growth) and any dividends paid in the period yield of 3.0% of NAV
and includes dividends paid
Progress = NAV total return declined by 7.5%' = Decline 0f 9.7% in share price total return during 2022" = Total dividend increase of 31% to $0.94 persharein
= Five-year cumulative NAV total return of 89%' = Five-year cumulative share price total return of 87.3%' 2022 versus 2021
= Performance driven by declinein value of quoted = Dividend maintainedin 2H 2022, despite fall in NAV
holdings and foreign exchange headwinds on intheyear
non-USD assets outweigh 4% positive return from = Over 10-yeartrack record of dividend payments with
private companies (in constant currencies) prudentincreases overtime
Examples of = Performance and valuations of the underlying = Rate of NAV growth = Availableliquidity

related factors
thatwe monitor

investments
= Efficiency of NBPE's balance sheet

= Ongoing chargesratio

= Share price performance relative to wider public
markets and listed private equity peer group

= Level of discountin absolute terms and relative to the
wider listed private equity peer group

= Trading liquidity and demand for NBPE's shares

= Proceeds received and expected during the year

= [nvestment pipeline

Link to
objectives

= Capital appreciation through growthin net asset
value over time while returning capital by paying
asemi-annual dividend

Oneyear Threeyear Fiveyear

= Shareholderreturns through long-term capital
growth and dividend

m
~
©

o

Oneyear Threeyear Fiveyear

= Returning capital to shareholders by paying a
semi-annual dividend
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Key performance indicators

Maintain healthy pace of
realisations and uplift on exit

Invest selectively in new investment
opportunities over time

Prudent and efficient balance
sheet management

Rationale Realisations are a core driver of NAV growth and a Maintain a prudentinvestment pace based on the level Maintaining a robust financial position and strong asset
source of liquidity to make new investments and of portfolio realisations, quality of investment pipeline coverageinarange of forecastscenarios. NBPE has a
dividend payments and market environment long-terminvestment level target range of 110%-115%
Progress = $143 million of realisations announced?; $120 million = $41 millioninvested into one new and one existing = $7 million of gross cash and $307 million of available
of proceeds received portfolio company; $14 million of follow-on liquidity
= Announced realisations ata 6% upliftdto December investments = 106% investment level
2021 valuesand a 2.7x> multiple to cost = Investing in key themes and sectors » Unfunded commitments are adjusted foramounts
= 10-year average annual liquidity of ~21% of the the Manager believes are unlikely to be called.
opening portfoliovalue Asof 31 December 2022, unadjusted unfunded
commitmentswere $96.0 million (adjusted
$47.6 million) and the unadjusted commitment
coverage ratio was 320%%(645% adjusted)
= Repaid 2022 ZDPs on maturity in September 2022
Examples of = Vintage year diversification, maturity of the portfolio, = Availableliquidity and realisation outlook = Availableliquidity and realisation outlook

related factors
that we monitor

average holding periods
= Upliftsto carrying value and cost

= |jquidity asa percentage of opening portfolio

= Balance sheetstrength

= Marketenvironmentand pricing

= Compliance with financial covenants of RCF

= Ensure the maturity profile of ZDPsand RCF are
well covered

Linkto
objectives

= Capital appreciation through growthin netasset
value over time while returning capital by paying a
semi-annual dividend

= Capital appreciation through growthin net asset
value over time through a highly selective
investmentapproach

= Long-terminvestmenttargetlevel range of 110%-115%
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Environmental, social and governance

Afocus on ESG at all points of the
INnvestment process

The three pillars Our policy is centered on the objective of seeking to achieve
of NBPE's Responsible better investment outcomes through incorporating
Investment Policy Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) considerations

into the investment process.

ceo

© oo Assess
eoce

) exclude particular
)le sectors from

Consider the valuation implications
of ESGrisks and opportunities
alon traditional factorsin the
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Environmental, social and governance

How ESG s integrated into
the investment process

Neuberger Berman Private
Marketsis able to leverage
its position as a diversified
asset manager, integrating
ESGinsightsin orderto
identify opportunities

with respect to direct private
markets investments.

How ESG materiality is assessed

Environmental
Emissions

Consumergoods

Extractives/Minerals
Financials

Food & beverage
Health Care

Infrastructure

When conducting due diligence on direct
investments, the investment team utilises
our proprietary NB Materiality Matrix to
assess industry-specific ESG factors that are
likely to be financially material

Social Workforce

Water Dataprivacy | Pricing Health &
management | &security

transparency | safety

Representsasubset of factors forillustrative and discussion purposes only.

(informed by the firm’'s research sector®®
expertsand highlightedin blue, below) as
well asthe lead GP's level of ESG integration
based on our Manager ESG Scorecard.

Supply chain Leadership & governance
Humancapital = Productsafety Materials Innovation Policy &
development | &integrity sourcing regulation risk

Private equity can be
well-aligned to
ESG integration

Private equity investors
have the potential to drive
improvements.

Sector focus

Private equity managers tend to focus on
sectorsthatare less resource intensive or
asset heavy. Assuch, thesealso tend to be
sectors that are more efficientand
experience lessvolatility, benefitting from
seculartailwinds

Deep duediligence

Private equity managers are able to
conductdeep and meaningful due
diligence on acompany’s specificESG
factorsthat are financially material

Control

Private equity managers own and control
their portfolio companies and mayimprove
the environmental, social or governance
aspects of acompany during ownership

How ESG factors can
affect valuations

Day-to-day operations

Incremental improvements may have
positive implications for profits

Examples

®= Proactive approach to environmental
issues, such as resource consumption
and waste management, may lower
operating costs

= Conscientious employee policies may lead
to greater retention and productivity

Tail risks

Addressing systematic ESGissues that have
the potential to affect business

Examples

= Seeking to understand climaterisk on
portfolio companies may mitigate risks
associated with extreme weather

= Pre-empting potential ESGissues
may mitigate risk of breaches and cost
of compliance
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Environmental, social and governance

BPE's portfolio
through a
sustainability lens

A

Renaissance Learning

Investment UNSDGalignment

Notable PE financing milestones
4.4 Ensurethatall girlsand boys complete

free, equitable and quality primary and
secondary education leading to relevant
and effective learning outcomes

= Disparitiesin “school readiness” startin early childhood
and are exacerbated along socioeconomicand racial
lines, bearing significant consequences on future
graduation rates and earning potential®'

= Companyisasoftware and learning analytics company,
tackling the school readiness gap through personalised
assessmentand instructional toolsin math, reading,
and early literacy for K-12 students, covering >40%
U.S. publicschools

Notable company milestones

NBPE Portfolio Through 13%
A Sustainability Lensz7 Positive Sustainability Potential

Companiesthat have the potential
foroverall positive benefitto people
orthe environment

0] ? O s that have the
78 /O 1 /O o contribute
Neutral o pressing social

ofthe portfoliohasa entalchallenges

Companiesthat positive sustainability
may have a mixed potential oran overall
orunknown positive benefitto people

benefitto people orthe environment?

ortheenvironment
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Environmental, social and governance

Jennifer oversees
environmental, socialand
governance integrationin
private markets and multi-
asset class solutions. Jennifer
also leads the development
and implementation of
sustainable and impact
investing strategies with a
portfolio management focus
on private equity.

How does ESG create value
within private equity?

Private equity investors are uniquely
positioned to effect change, giventhey
generally have controlling ownership of
companies. This means private equity
investors potentially have more ability to
influence strategicand operational change
—whethertotackle climate risks or other
business challenges—than many public
equity investors.

ESGhasbeenintegrated
into Neuberger Berman
Private Equity’s investment
processsince 2007 —but we
have madeimprovements
alongthe wayand are
continuously looking to
enhance our practices.

We are focused on
investing with long-term
partnersandengaging to
promote ESG integration
best practices.

Fundamentally, we believe
incorporating ESGinto our
investment process can
potentiallylead to more
consistentand better
investment outcomes—
becauseit helpsidentify
material investmentrisks,
aswell as opportunities
todrivevalue.

Historically, private equity’s focus on ESG has
beenweighted towards the ‘G’, through an
emphasis ondriving value and working
closely with management teamstolead
operational and strategic change. However,
thereisagrowing focus on howsocialand
environmental factors can be material to
financial value. Forexample, the COVID-19
pandemichighlighted the need for
responsible supply chain management,
business continuity planning and timely
management of employee health and safety.

From an environmental standpoint, the
physical risks from climate change are already
materialising, with greater prevalence and
severity of extreme weather events being felt
around the globe. Real economicvalueis at
stake, so adaptation and mitigation plans are
necessary. Governments are beginning to
take steps to reduce emissions and slow the
impact of climate change—through legislation
andregulation, aswellasencouraging
emissions reduction commitments.

All of this affects how companies do
business in these markets. Companies that
succeed in thischanging environmentor,
even better, thrive while leading the
adoption of newapproaches, are likely to
be viewed more favourably and to create
valuefortheirinvestors.
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Environmental, social and governance

How can private equity
tackle the challenge that
we face on climate change?

Asmentioned, private equity’s controlling
ownership of companies canenable the
strategicand operational change necessary
totackle climate change. Private equity
firmsare alsowell positioned to investin
companies developing targeted climate
products orservices, which are oftenrun

by smaller or earlier stage companies,
andto helpthose businessscaleand
become mainstream.

Aseriousimpedimentto measuring the
effectiveness of this changeis the lack of
climate data across theindustry. Most
private companies are not currently doing
carbon footprint assessments, which makes
itdifficult for private equity managersto
measure the carbon footprint of their
portfolioand setemissions reductiontargets.
Because of this, private equity managers and
investors often rely on top-down emissions
estimates, based on proxies, to understand
theirfinanced emissions.

Giventhe data challenges, private equity
managersarestillinthe early stages of
committing to netzero. Forexample, only a
handful of firms have emissions reduction
targetsthatarevalidated by the World
Resources Institute’s Science Based Targets
initiative (SBTi).?

Thatsaid, initiatives such asthe ESG Data
Convergence Initiative, which brings
togethervarious private equity stakeholders,
areencouraging greater disclosure of metrics.

However, the impact will take time, due to
theinevitablelag between private equity
firms making commitments on new funds
and investing the capital.

How do you engage with
the industry and your
managers on climate risk?

We participate inindustry groups thataim
to promote climate disclosure and analysis,
includingasamemberofthe Carbon
Disclosure Project’s private equity technical
working group, the Initiative Climat
International (iCl) net-zero working group,
andthe NetZero Asset Managers Initiative™.

Alongside this, we engage with our private
equity managerson avariety of climate-
related topics, and collect ESG Data
Convergence Initiative metrics from our
investees, where available. Our recent
webinaron netzeroinvesting best practices
withthe Institutional Investor Group on
Climate Change (IIGCC) reached more than
80 private equity managers globally, to
discuss the unique challenges of net zero
implementationinthe private equity context.

How do you assess climate
risk and opportunities
within your investment
process?

Asafirm, Neuberger Berman supports the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosure (TCFD), and we are committed to
understanding our climate-related risksand
opportunities, while managing the risks that
are material to ourinvestment portfolios
andourfirm.

Within Neuberger Berman Private Equity,
we screen potential investments for material
ESGrisksand collect carbon emissions data
atthetime of due diligence—to the extent
itisreported by the company. As part of
diligence, we may also conduct climate risk
analysis for specificdirectinvestments
where climate risks—especially physical risk
—may be more material. Onanongoing
basis, we monitorinvestments for ESGissues
as partofourdialogue with GPs. We also
leverage a data analytics platformtotrack
publicly available information that allows us
toflagsignificant ESG-related issues.

Importantly, the sectorsinwhich private
equitytendstoinvest, such asthe
technology, consumer discretionary, and
healthcare sectors, are usually less affected
by climate costs. Typical private companies
ina particular sector may also have lower
climate costs than their public market
counterparts. Forexample, inthe energy
and utilities sector, traditional utility
companies are more likely to be public
companies, whereas a private company
inthe same sectorismorelikelytobean
asset-light business providing services

to utility companies.

Canyou tell us a little more
about how you calculated
the carbon footprint
estimates for NBPE’s
portfolio this year?

In 2021, we started collecting carbon
footprint data on potential direct co-
investments, and since 2022 we have been
collecting Scope 1and 2 emissions data from
investees, where available, as part of the ESG
Data Convergence Initiative. As this data s
generally notreadily reported, we
developed amethodology for estimating
carbon footprintinformation for private
equity investments.

In 2022, we conducted the first top-down
estimate of NBPE's carbon footprint using
third-party emissions data proxies—given
the limited actual disclosure of private
companies. Duetotheinherent challenges
of using estimations, we are continuing to
refine this methodology. Atthe sametime,
we are exploring climate analysis tools and
resources through pilot partnerships and
industry collaborations.

Neuberger Berman’s Industry Collaborations on Climate

lIGCC

The Met Tero Asset
Managers initiative

s Transition
s Pothwaoy
by Initlative

fic=

ey s e W chern ewwn

> 3INCDP

Ceres -
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Manager - People & culture

As a private, independent,
employee-ownedinvestment
manager, Neuberger Berman
has the freedom to focus
exclusively on investing for

its clients forthe long term.

By design, Neuberger
Berman attractsindividuals
who share a passion for
investing and who thrive in
an environment of rigorous
analysis, challenging
dialogue, and professional
and personal respect.

An award-winning culture

Foreight consecutive years, Neuberger
Berman has been named first orsecondin
Pensions & Investments Best Places to Work
in Money Management survey (among
those with 1,000 employees or more)

Retention levels of NB Private Markets
Managing Directors and Principals

Neuberger Berman’s business
principles

= Our clients come first

= \We are passionate aboutinvesting

= Weinvestin our people

= \We motivate through alignment

= \We continuously improve and innovate

= Qurcultureiskeyto ourlong-term success
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Manager - People & culture

Neuberger Berman'’s Equity / /

_comnptment tO. equ_lty' To be ‘equitable’isto level the playing field ) . .

inclusion and diversity forall We believe that partnering with colleagues

We believe firms perform — who have a myriad of experiences, backgrounds,
betterfor cientsand Anenvironment whereeveryone can and perspectives isfundamental to our firm'’s
stakeholders when there flourish and be their best selves d | / U| : | f
sadiversepopulation.and and our clients’ success. Ultimately, we perform
atrue equitableandinclusive ~ Diversity better for our stakeholders when diverse,

environment. Diversityalone e ooforabreadiofdenivadess — quthentic voices are valued, and our teams
is notenough. . . . . .,
operate in afairand unbiased environment.

Maura Reilly Kennedy
Managing Director

of Neuberger
Berman Private

0/.° Markets employees
B/I /O arefemale

of Neuberger
Berman Private
34 Markets Managing

2 2 O/O Directorsare female 4

[ e | LEADER IN
DIVERSITY
salsa%

Pensions&lmestmenls * 2022 «

r ey
- S |

w iy W BEST PLACES TO WORK
. b ] IN MONEY MANAGEMENT
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Manager - people & culture

The Investment Committee

The Investment Committee has an average of ~30 years of
professional experience and worked together for an average
of morethan 19 years.

Anthony Tutrone

Global Head of NB Alternatives, Managing Director
35yearsof industry experience

() Full biographies available online

David Stonberg

Deputy Head of NB Alternatives and the Global Co-Head of
Private Equity Co-Investments, Managing Director
32yearsofindustry experience

Joana Rocha Scaff

Head of Europe Private Equity, Managing Director
24 years of industry experience

Petervon Lehe, JD

Head of Investment Solutions and Strategy, Managing Director
29years ofindustry experience

Paul Daggett, CFA

Managing Director
24 years of industry experience

Patricia Miller Zollar

Managing Director
36 years of industry experience
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Manager - people & culture

The Investment Committee continued

Michael Kramer

Managing Director
27 years of industry experience

() Full biographies available online

Jacquelyn Wang

Managing Director
21 yearsofindustry experience

Kent Chen, CFA

Head of Asia Private Equity, Managing Director
30yearsofindustry experience

David Morse

Global Co-Head of Private Equity Co-Investments, Managing Director
37 yearsof industry experience

Elizabeth Traxler

Managing Director
21 yearsofindustry experience

Brien Smith

Senior Advisor to the Neuberger Berman
Private Equity Division
41 years of industry experience

Jonathan Shofet

Global Head of Private Investment Portfolios and Co-Investments
Managing Director
26 years of industry experience
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Stakeholder engagement

Stakeholder engagement

The Directors are responsible foracting
inaway that they consider, in good faith,
is most likely to promote the success of
the Company for the benefitofits
membersasawhole.Indoingso, they
have had regard to the factors set out
insection 172(1)(a) to (f) of the UK
Companies Act 2006, whichincludesthe
needs of stakeholders and wider society.

AsNBPE is a Guernsey company, this
legislation does notdirectly apply toit, but
the Board is cognisant of theimportance
of these matters, and by virtue of the
requirementsetoutinthe AIC Code

of Corporate Governance, holds itself
tothese standards.

How the Board engages with stakeholders

The Board provides appropriate training
to allnew Directors, which includes
training on their duties, and maintains a
programme of continuing development.
More details on Directorinduction and
Board evaluation can be found on
pages51-52.

Setoutbelowisasummary of NBPE's

key stakeholder groupsand howitengages
withthem, in additionto examples of

key topics of relevance to the stakeholder
groups and how their interests have

been considered in decision making.
Asaninvestmentcompany, the Company
doesnothave any employees.

Stakeholder

How the Board engages

Key topicsinthe year

Examples of considering stakeholderinterests

The Board welcomes the views of shareholders and places

greatimportance on communication withits shareholders.

The Board maintains awareness of shareholder views by

means of regular updates and insights from the Managerand
advisers as well as meetings with shareholders.

Key communication channels with shareholdersinclude:

= Shareholder engagement: The Manager holds regular
meetings with analysts and existing, new and potential
shareholders. The Manageralso presents atindustry
conferences. Feedback from these meetingsis shared with
the Board.

= Publications: In addition to the Annual Report, the Company
publishes interim accounts, monthly NAV updatesand
factsheets, and investor presentations to provide regular
financial updates throughout the year.

ESG.The Company'sbusiness  a Capital Markets Days and AGM: The Directorsare available

to meetshareholders directly through NBPE's annual Capital

Markets Day (or virtual equivalent) or viathe AGM.

The supportof the Company's
currentand future
shareholdersis critical to the
continued success of the
business and the achievement
of its strategic objectives.

The board understands that,
inadditionto performance,
shareholdersalso place great
emphasis on governance and
regulatory compliance and

isconductedtaking these
factorsintoaccount.

= Website: To provide significanttransparency and help

informinvestors, allthe Company’s publications are available

onthe website.

= Shareholder concerns: Shareholders may also contact the
Chairman, Senior Independent Director and other Directors

through the Company Secretary.

= Portfolio performance, including the impact

of theinflationary environment, rising
interestratesand supply chainissues

= How companies navigated operational
challengesandinflationary pressures, and
impacts tosupply chains

= Discussionsaround the general state of
markets/economy and therising cost of
living and the impacton companiesin
the portfolio

= [nformation on any new investments
and realisations

= Shareholder communications

= Share price performance and discount

= Appointed Jefferies, at their discretion,
to repurchase shares, based on criteria set
by the board

= Dividend policy

= Private equity market environment

= [nformation onthe Company’s Responsible
and Sustainable Investment Policy

= Balance sheet management,including the
maturity and final payoff of the 2022 ZDPs

The Board comprises fiveindependent
directors.

The AGM thattook place on 14 June 2022
provided anopportunity for Shareholders
toengage with the Board.

The Board reviewed and discussed the
underlying performance of portfolio
companiesin the context of the broader
operating environment.

The Board held numerous discussions
throughout the year with Company
advisors related to the share price
discountto NAV. In October 2022,
the Board announced Jefferies was
appointed torepurchase shares at
theirdiscretion, based on criteria set
by the board. No repurchases were
madein 2022.

The Capital Markets Day was held
virtually. Shareholders were able to ask
questions, viaa Q&A facility. Areplay was
made available on the website forany
shareholdersunableto attend.
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Stakeholder engagement

Stakeholder

How the Board engages

Key topics in the year

Examples of considering stakeholderinterests

[tisimportantthatthe Board maintains
astrongrelationship with the Manager.
The Company leverages the strength

of Neuberger Berman's private equity
platformto seek the most attractive direct
investment opportunities.

The Manager prepares detailed financial
reportstothe Board onthe portfolio,
performance, cash flow modeling and

other financial data to help guide discussions
and decisions.

The Board maintains good relationships with
key members of the Investment Manager's
investmentteam, as well as otherfunctions,
including financeandlegal.

The Manager also interacts with other service
providers as necessary for the day-to-day
management of the Company.

The Directors review financial reports
prepared by the Investment Manager ahead
of each quarterly Board meeting. Annually,
the Audit Committee reviews detailed
reports from financial models prepared to
supportthe Company's Viability Statement.
In conjunction with the Manager, the Audit
Committee reviews and monitors the
Company’sinvestment level and investment
pacing forecasts contained within the
supportofthe Viability Statement.

= Portfolio performance, including the
impact of the inflationary environment,
rising interestrates, and supply chainsand
othermacro economic risks

= [nformation onany new investments
andrealisations

= Private equity marketenvironment

= |nformation onthe Company’s Responsible
and Sustainable Investment Policy

= Balance sheet management,including the
maturity and final payoff of the 2022 ZDPs

= Share price performance and discount
= |nvestment level and cash flow forecasts
= Debt maturities

The Manager and the Company work
togetherto ensure they are aligned.

Both shareamutual interestin the success
oftheinvestments as well asthe Company'’s
perceptionand reputationinthe
marketplace.

Both the Managerand the Board strive to
maintain astrong working relationship to
achievethese goals.

In October 2022, the Directors attended
anonsite atthe Manager's officesin

New York and met with senior professionals
acrossvarious functions at Neuberger
Berman, including investments, ESG, risk,
legal/compliance, finance and internal audit.
Inaddition, the Directors also met with key
service providersincluding MUFG, PWCand
KPMG. Further detail of this onsite meeting
can befoundonpage 56.

The Board reviewed detailed financial model
forecasts prepared by the Manager to assist
with cash forecasting and available liquidity,
postthe 2022 ZDP payoff.

000
000
(e]e)

The Managerisresponsible for executing the
Company’s overall investment policy and
objective, as approved by the Board. As such
day-to-day engagement with underlying
private equity managers, and investee
companiesisundertaken by the Manager.

The Board receives updates at each
scheduled Board meeting from the Manager
ontheinvestmentportfolio, including
regularvaluationreports and detailed
portfolio and returns analyses.

The Manager maintains a wide range

of private equity networks and close
relationships with leading private equity
managers globally. The Manager regularly
conducts discussion of key private equity
topics, including deal sourcing, market
environment, fundraising, team composition,
investment performance and monitoring,
ESG and other factors with various managers.

The Manager strivesto be a solutions
providerand strategic partner to underlying
private equity managers, which ultimately,
overtime, strengthens and cultivates the
relationship.
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Stakeholder engagement

Stakeholder

How the Board engages

Key topics in the year

Examples of considering stakeholderinterests

The Company's co-investment model means
that NBPE can respond to market conditions
and be capital efficient. NBPE does not need
to take off-balance sheetrisk in the form of
unfunded commitmentsto achieve atarget
investment level.

In orderto achieve this, the Company's lenders
provide the Company with debtand debt-like
financing with maturity dates, fixed capital
entitlements which bearinterestand fees at
variousinterestand feerates.

Atthe overall direction of the Board,
members of the Manager's finance and
investment teams maintain dialogue with
the Company’'sbankandlender
counterparties.

Feedback onthese discussions is shared with
the Board at the quarterly Board meetings,
orasrequired.

Thelenders are focused on asset coverage,
valuation of assets and key financial

ratios onthe Company'’s liquidity and
financial position.

On30September 2022, the Company
repaid the final capital entitlement of the
Company’s 2022 ZDP Shares.

The Manager keepsthe Company's
lenders aware of portfolio developments
throughout the year through both public
disclosures and private investment
monitoring reports.

Inaddition, the Company provides detailed
compliance reportstothe Company’s credit
facility lenderandthe Board, showing asset
coverage, ratios and covenant tests.
Information regarding the Company'’s

currentborrowing can be found at Note 4
tothe Financial Statements on page 90.

The Company'’s service providers work with
the Manager, Company Secretary and Board
to achieve the Company’s objectives.

Otherservice providersinclude butare not
limited to: fund administrators, tax
accountants, auditors, brokers, investor
relations, legal counsel, marketing and
advisory services, external research, and
mediarelations.

The Board maintains regular contact with
its key service providers and receives regular
reporting from them, both through the
Board and committee meetings, as well as
outside the regular Board meeting cycle.

The Management Engagement Committee
formally assesses performance, feesand
continuing appointmentsannually to ensure
thatthe key service providers continue to
function atan acceptable leveland are
appropriately remunerated to deliver the
expected level of service.

The Management Engagement Committee
reviews and evaluates the financial reporting
controlenvironmentsin place ateach
service provider.

The Company's service providers have been
carefully selected for their relevant expertise.
Theiradvice, as well astheir needs and views,
areroutinely considered by the Board.

More information concerning the service
provider review undertaken by the MEC can
be found on page 56.
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Stakeholder engagement

Stakeholder

How the Board engages

Key topics in the year

Examples of considering stakeholderinterests

NBPE believesinvesting responsibly
incorporating material ESG considerations
canhelpinform the assessment of overall
investmentrisk and opportunities.
Toreflectthe Company’s ongoing commitment
10 ESG, the Company published a Responsible
and Sustainable Investment Policy in 2020.

ESGissuesare astandard part of the
Manager'sinvestment process, and
increasingly integral to the Board's thinking.

The Managerintegrates ESG considerations
throughouttheinvestment process by
helping toidentify both material risks and
opportunities, and the Board receives regular
updatesonthe Manager's ESG practice.

The Board reviews the Company's
compliance with its Responsible and
Sustainable Investment Policy.

Inaddition to the regular updates from the
Manager's ESG team, the Board receives
and discusses detailed analysis of the
sustainability impact of the portfolio on
anannual basis, which includes details

on material ESGrisks of underlying
portfolio companies.

ESG considerations and the impact of
the Company on the community and
environmentare regulartopics at
Board meetings.

During the onsitein New York, the Directors
discussed updates onthe ESGteamand
evolutioninthe marketplace, the Manager's
ESGstrategy, integration and analysisand
NBPE's portfolio.

More information concerning the
Company’sapproach to ESG can be found
onpages29-33.
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Risk management

Risk management framework

The Board considers the risk management
framework with investment, financial,
strategic, operational and external risks

to bethe principal risks and uncertainties
ofthe Company. Within each of the five
principal risksand uncertainties categories
on pages43and44,the Directors have
identified a number of key underlying risks.
Whileitis not possible toidentify and
manage every risk to the Company, the
Directors seek toidentify the key underlying
risks within each category where possible.

Eachidentified key underlying risk includes
information on the controls relied upon by
the Board, andtheresponsible provider or
providers. Through a matrix, each key
underlyingriskis colour-coded between
green (low-risk) and red (high/elevated risk)
by calendar quarter,in orderto showthe
evolution of the key underlying risk over
time. Judgementis applied to determine
these assessmentsand the Board considers
any changesto the assessments of the key
underlying risks on a quarterly basis. Not all
risks can be eliminated; therefore, there s
onlyareasonable assurance againstfraud,
misstatements or losses to the Company.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the
identification and assessment of risk as well
asformonitoring the key risks to the
Company onanongoing basis. In orderto
identify and assess key risks to the Company,
the Directorsrely on arisk matrix prepared
and maintained by the Investment Manager
andreviewed by the Board on a quarterly
basis. The risk matrixidentifies risks
categorised by the principalrisks and

uncertainties. The principal risks identified
bythe Board are setouton pages43-44.

The Board also monitors the outlook of the
key underlying risks to assess future risk
areas.Asof 31 December 2022, the Board
identified several underlying risks which
were determined to have an elevated or
highrisk outlook. These risksincluded
sovereign and political factors, the general
marketenvironmentand rising interest
rates, and risks related to the potential for
ongoing elevated inflation. In addition,
while no successful cyberattacks had
occurred, the board acknowledged the
potential for cyberattacks were an elevated
and continuing risk.

The Board considers emerging risks as those
which canbeidentifiedin the current
environment, butwhich areinherently
longer-termin nature or uncertain asto
theirtiming. The Board further recognises
emerging risks are difficult to quantify and
highly uncertain astoifand when they may
impactthe Company andtowhatextent.
However, the Board considersa number

of emerging risks to the Company, which
include: the general market environment
andimpactsfrominflation andrising
interest rates, geopolitical risks, the share
price discountto NAV, and cyberrisks. The
Board believesthe Companyis mitigating
these risks to the extent possible and noted
therobustinvestmentand portfolio
monitoring procedures by the Managerto
understand the operating environment of
portfolio companies, including dialogues
with lead private equity managers.

Risk management framework

NBPE Board of Directors

l

NBPE Audit Committee

Investment Manager: NB Private Markets®

N

Independent
teamswhich
collaborateto
identifyand
mitigate risk

Investment Valuation
Committee™ Committee™

Investment Operational
Risk Committee  Risk Committee

Independent control units
that collaborate

Infrastructure Legal

Technology Compliance

Business Asset

Technology Management

Operations Guideline

Finance Oversight
Investment
Risk
Operational
Risk

Independentassurance Internal audit

NB Private Marketsis a general description of the business of the Investment Manager, NB Alternatives
Advisers LLC; there has been no change to the Investment Manager of NBPE

Highlights represent committees of the Investment Manager; other committees presented above are
resources of the parent company, Neuberger Berman, of the Investment Manager
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties

Thetable below shows a summary of the key underlying risks within each of the five principal risks and uncertainties identified by the Board.
The status below shows whetherthe principal risks are increasing, decreasing or not changing compared to the previous year.

Key risks

Potential Impact

Key Controls

Assessment

Investment decisions —Selecting investments to generate the
bestrisk adjusted returns

Performance - Achieving underwriting case and meeting
long-term objectives

Valuations — Misstatementsto NAV

Foreign exchange —Fluctuations of exchange rates of non-USD
investmentsin local currency relative to USD

Sub-optimalrisk-return investment decisions could
lead the Company to higher risk investments to
generate adesired level of return.

Inconsistentinvestment performance would
impactthe Company’s financial position.

The valuation of investments directlyimpacts the
Company's financial position, key ratios/covenants
and performance.

Fluctuations of exchange rates canimpact
performance when translated to dollars.

= Highly experienced Manager with deep team
= Extensive due diligence process
» ESG-integrated investment process

= Thorough investment underwriting and
duediligence

= RegularBoard review of Manager performance,
operations and capabilities

= Robust, consistent valuation processes
= Monthly NAV updates

= Quarterlyvaluation review

= Annual auditand semi-annual review

= Manager review of portfolio and monitoring
of foreign exchange exposure when analysing
new investments, if applicable

©

Liquidity management - Inadequacy of cash balances for
short-term needs

Credit facility — Availability of borrowings and maintenance
of covenants

ZDP liabilities — Ability to repay at maturity

Foreign exchange —Fluctuationsin GBP/USD exchange rate for
Sterling denominated liabilities

Poormanagement of near-term cash requirements
and of credit facility borrowingsimpacts the
Company'’s ability to make new investments and
carry out day-to-day operations.

The Company's 2022 ZDPs were fully repaid
atmaturity in September 2022, de-risking the
Company's balance sheet. The remaining ZDP
securitiesmaturein 2024.

Company'’s creditworthiness would be materially

impacted by not meeting liabilities when they
comedue.

= Monitoring of cash balances
= Review of management reports and financials
= Monitoring of headroom and financial ratios
= Monthly calculations of liability
= Known final capital entitlementand
maturity date
= Ability to fully or partially hedge currency risk
through forward currency contracts
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Key risks

Potential Impact

Key Controls

Assessment

140d3d DID3LVHLS

Share price discount—Monitoring of share price discount to NAV

Meeting business objectives —Ability to meet business and

investment objectivesin currentenvironment

Afailure within strategicrisks couldimpact the
Company's reputation and performance.

Overtime, the Company has completed anumber
of initiatives aimed atenhancing shareholdervalue
and narrowing the discount, from portfolio
construction, investor relationsinitiatives, dividend
policy and share buybacks.

= Monitoring discountand review market research
= Strategicinvestor relations programme

= Periodicreview of appropriateness of investment
objective and policy

= Appointed Jefferiesin October 2022, at theirsole
discretion, to repurchase shares, based on criteria
setbytheboard

©

IDNVNYIAOD

Legal/Compliance—Investmentactivity legal risks, including
investing within policy limits and compliance with regulations

Litigation —Legal action brought against the Company or Board

Business operations and continuity — Day-to-day operations
and management of the Company. Frameworks for business

continuity

Internal policies and procedures - Policies and procedures of
Investment Manager and key service providers of the Company

Governance - Company governance and oversight by the Board

Key professionals —Retention of key staff

Legaland compliance risks and the potential of
litigation action creates significantrisk and
uncertainty if brought against the Company,
Board or Manager.

Company operations are carried out by the
Investment Manager and the Administrator; a
negative eventateither couldimpactthe
Company'’s ability to operate day to day.

Policiesand procedures at key service providers
designedto reduce or mitigate risks to the
Company asa policy violation could be impactful.
The Board oversees all aspects of the Company.
The Company itself has no operations or
employees and instead relies onthat of key service

providers. Aloss of key professionals couldimpact
the ability of the Company to operate.

= Reliance onin-house legal teams of the Manager
and external counsel

= Legal negotiationsand proceduresto ensure
adherencetoinvestmentguidelines

= Reliance on operational staff of the Managerand
fund administrator

= Reviews of service providers to ensure control
environments are adequate

= Business Continuity Plans of Managerand
administrator

= Policiesand procedures of the Managerand
service providersand internal controls designed
to pick up potential issues

= Assessment processes; review of best practices

= Resources of the Manager forattracting and
retaining talent

©
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Sovereign/Political risks —Changes in economical and

political environment

General market/Investment environment
—Changesin marketorregulatory environment
—Inflationary environmentand supply chain risks
—Interestrate environment

COVID-19 - Potential furtherrisks related to COVID-19

External risksimpact the Company’s investment
portfolio tovarying degrees, which could have
animpactonthe Company's performance.

Externalrisks are inherently difficult to forecast
andimpacts are uncertain. Impactsto supply
chainsand the inflationary environmentin 2022
posed certain operating challenges during the
year. Further, portfolio companies are adapting to
higherinterestrate environment, given elevated
inflationary pressures.

While mitigatedin 2022 relative to prior years,
potential risks related to COVID-19 remain.

= The Board and Manager are aware of the general
marketenvironmentand globalrisks generally

= Risk mitigation is difficult, otherthan during the
investment analysis phase prior to makinga
new investment

= [nvestment Manager maintains discussions with
underlying general partners to assess and
understand potential exposure/degree of impact

= Consultation with other outside advisors

@
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Going concern and Viability Statements

Going concern and Viability Statements

Going concern

The Group's principal activities and
investment objectives are described on
pages 59 and 62 of the Report,and the
Group'sfinancial positionis stated on page
78 of the Report. Note 11 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements
describesthe Group's risks with respect to
market, creditand liquidity risk. On page 90
ofthereport, the Group's liquidity and
available borrowing facilities are described.

The Group's cash flows are provided on
page 82 of the Report. Giventhe Group’s
cash flows and financial position, the
Directors believe the Group hasthe
financial resourcesto meetits financial
commitments as they fall due.

Therefore, having considered a 12-month
horizon fromthe date of authorisation of
thisannual financial report, the Directors
have areasonable expectationthatthe
Group has adequate resources to continue
to operateinto the foreseeable future and
accordingly the Consolidated Financial
Statements have been prepared onagoing
concern basis.

Viability Statement

The Board has evaluated the
long-term prospects of the
Group, beyond the 12-month
time horizon assumption
within the going concern
framework. Further details of
the forecast and the process
forassessing long-term
prospects of the Group are
setout belowandthe Board
believes this analysis provides
areasonable basis to support
the viability of the Group.

The Directors have selected a three-year
window for evaluating the potentialimpact
tothe Group on the following basis:

= [nvestments are subject to overall
financial marketand economic
conditions. Projecting long-term financial
and economic conditionsisinherently
difficult, buta three-yearwindowis a
reasonable time horizon.

= Value creation plans are executed over
anumberofyearsand private equity
managers generally take a longer-term
view on performance, ratherthan a focus
on “quarterly earnings”; three to five years
isatypical holding period target for
private equity managers.

= Medium-term outlook of underlying
Company performanceis typically
assessed forvaluation purposes.

The Company fully repaid the 2022 ZDP
Shares at maturity and the remaining class
of ZDP Shares will not mature until October
2024.The Group'sability to refinance or
repay the 2024 ZDPsis a medium-term risk
asthey mature withinthe three-year
forecast period. The Company has no other
financings maturing within the three-year
forecast period.

Based onthe 31 December 2022 GBP/USD
exchangerate of $1.20, the final capital
entitlement of the 2024 ZDP Shares s
approximately $78 million. To evaluate the
Company's financial position, the Directors
reviewed a financial model prepared by the
InvestmentManager. The financial model
includes projections of cash flows,
expenses and liabilities, as well as NAV
growth assumptionsto evaluate loan to
value and coverage testratios.

The Board believesthe Companyisina
healthy financial position and able to meet
upcoming liabilities when they mature.
The Directors further note the Company's
$300 million revolving credit facility was
fully undrawn as of 31 December 2022.
Further, the borrowing availability period
extendsto 2029, beyond the maturity of
the 2024 ZDP Shares. The Board noted the
credit facility could be used inwhole orin
part (based on availability) to repay the
2024 ZDP Shares.
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Going concern and Viability Statements

The Manager discussed the key financial
assumptions and findings of the model
withthe Board. The modelforecastsreturns
and cash flows on an asset-by-asset basis

to evaluate cash and investment pacing
considerations and the Manager selected
two cases to evaluate the viability of the
Company over the three-year window.
Both casesincluded expected realisations
fromsigned butnotyet closed transactions.

The base case made furtherassumptions
of NAV growth and additional realisations,
both of which were below the long-term
averages of the Company. The model also
assumed a certain pace of re-investment,
based onthelevel of realisations fromthe
portfolio. The Manager views thisasa
reasonable case to evaluate the prospects
ofthe Company eveninthe current
economicenvironment.

However, the Directors recognise that
overall market conditions representa
continued risk and uncertainty for the
Company. Inlight of this, the Manager
prepared a second forecast case which was
adownside case scenario, indicative of a
deep recession and slow recovery. This case
assumed a 10% NAV declinein 2023 and no
growthin 2024 and 2025. Further, this case
onlyassumed $52 million of realisations
during 2023, of which $37 million had been
received through Q12023.2024 and 2025
assumed only a limited amount of
realisations below historical averages.

Thekey findings from this analysis and
discussions with the Managerwas that, in
both cases, NBPE could continue to fund its
existing commitments, pay dividends and
ongoing expenses and have borrowing
capacity available torepay the 2024 ZDPs
atmaturity. The downside case showed
ahigherinvestmentlevelin later periods
ofthe forecast (as a result of the decline
invaluations). Overthe forecast period of
the downside case, NBPE maintained
ample liquidity and LTV ratios; in addition,
the 2024 ZDP’s had a healthy coverage
cushion. Inlight of this analysis, the
Directors concluded the Company could
continueto operate over the three-year
viability window.

140d3d DID3LVHLS

IDNVNYIAOD

STVIDONVNIL

43H1O

Z2oz Hoday jenuuy siaulled Ainb3aleaud gn



Governance

Governance
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Governance overview

Board structure and Committees

() P66

Provides oversightand reassurance

Board of Directors ® Pao Audit Committee
William Maltby Gender John Martyn Falla
Chairman, Independent Director Trudi Clark

tothe Board, specifically with regard to

the integrity of the Company’s financial

Wilken von Hodenberg " b0 % Wilkenvon Hodenberg
SeniorIndependent Director f'a

Louisa Symington-Mills

reporting, auditarrangements, risk

Trud I [

-

management, and internal control
processes and governance framework.

Management Engagement Committee

() P56

Trudi Clark

Reviews annually the terms of the

John Martyn Falla

Investment Management Agreement.

William Maltby

Additionally, the Committee reviews

Wilkenvon Hodenberg

the performance and terms of

Louisa Symington-Mills

engagementof otherkey service

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

providerstothe Company.

() P57

Trudi Clark

Assists the Board in filling vacancies on

John Martyn Falla

the Board and its committeesandto

William Maltby

review and make recommendations

Wilkenvon Hodenberg

regarding Board structure, size and

Louisa Symington-Mills

Committee Chair

reviews the remuneration of the
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors.

composition. Additionally, the Committee

4

140d34 DI1D31VHLS

IDNVNYIAOD

STVIONVNI4

43H1O0

220z yoday [enuuy siaulied Aynb3aieald dnN



The Board

The Boaro

The Board is responsible for
oversight of NBPE, and for
effective stewardship of the
Company's affairs.

Management Engagement Committee

Audit Committee

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
@ Committee chair

Matrix of skills and experience

William Maltby

Chairman, Independent Director
Appointed 21 March 2019

Background and experience

William Maltby was vice chairman of Investment Banking at Deutsche
Bank where he worked for more than 25 years. Mr. Maltby spenta
furthersixyearsasa Senior Adviser to the Investment Banking
Division of Deutsche Bank. Mr. Maltby was a corporate financier
specialising in financial sponsors and leveraged finance, and was
head of Deutsche Bank's European Financial Sponsor Coverage and
Leveraged Finance businesses. He joined Morgan Grenfellin 1984
which was acquired by Deutsche Bankin 1989.

Mr. Maltby was chairman of Mithras Investment Trust Plc, a private
equity fund of fundsinvestment trust listed on the London Stock
Exchange from 2012102018, when it completed a successful
realisation strategy.

Mr. Maltby is also chairman of Ekins Guinness LLP. He qualified as a
Chartered Accountant with Peat Marwick and has alaw degree from
the University of Cambridge.

Contribution to NBPE

Mr Maltby’s expertise brings a wealth of knowledge of listed
investment trusts, investmentbanking and private equity to the
Board, in addition to being an experienced and effective Chairman.
Other publicdirectorships

Mr Maltby has no other publicdirectorships.

Investment Private Asset Investment Finance/
Board member Trusts Equity Management Banking Audit
William Maltby © @ @ ©
Wilken von Hodenberg © © © ©
TrudiClark © © © Q)
John Martyn Falla @ @ @ @ @
Louisa Symington-Mills @) © © ©

Wilken von Hodenberg

Senior Independent Director
Appointed 21 March 2019

Background and experience

Wilkenvon Hodenbergis a businessperson with 39 years of
experience in private equity, investment banking and senior
management. Mr.von Hodenberg has been at the head of five
different entities and for some years occupied the position of
chairman of German Private Equity & Venture Capital Association.

Mr.von Hodenberg was a member of the Supervisory Board for
Deutsche Beteiligungs AG from 2013 until February 2020. He is also
anon-executive director of eCapital Entrepreneurial Partners AG;
Mr.von Hodenberg became vice chair of Wepa SE in April 2022.
From 2000-2013 Mr.von Hodenberg was CEO of Deutsche
Beteiligungs AG. Mr.von Hodenberg also served asa managing
director of Merrill Lynch in Frankfurt (1998-2000). Prior to this
Mr.von Hodenberg was managing director at Baring Brothers GmbH
(1993-1997). From 1990-1992 he was CFO of Tengelmann Group,
amajor German retailing group. He started his career at JPMorgan
inNew York and Frankfurt (1983-1989). Mr.von Hodenberg holds
alawdegree fromthe University of Hamburg.

Contribution to NBPE

Mrvon Hodenberg's private equity investment expertise is highly
valuable for Board discussions and of particular relevance for

the Company.

Other publicdirectorships

Sloman Neptun AG.
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The Board

Trudi Clark
@@

Independent Director
Appointed 24 April 2017

Background and experience

TrudiClark qualified as a chartered accountant with Robson Rhodes
in Birmingham, after graduating in Business Studies. Moving to
Guernseyin 1987, Ms. Clark joined KPMG where she was responsible
foranaudit portfolioincluding some of the major financial
institutionsin Guernsey. After 10 yearsin public practice, Ms. Clark
was recruited by the Bank of Bermuda as Head of European Internal
Audit, later moving into corporate banking. In 1995 Ms. Clark joined
Schrodersinthe Channellslands as CFO. Ms. Clark was promotedin
2000 to Banking Director and Managing Directorin 2003.

From 2006 to 2009, Ms. Clark established a family office, specialising
inalternative investments. From 2009 to 2018, Ms. Clark returned
to public practice specialising in corporate restructuring services.
Ms. Clark has several non-executive director appointments for
companies both listed and non-listed investing in property, private
equity and otherassets.

Contribution to NBPE

Ms Clark has significant expertise in both accountancy and Guernsey
regulations, aswell as being an experienced non-executive director
of public companies, all of which have proven beneficial to both the
Board and its Committees.

Other publicdirectorships

BMO Commercial Property Trust Limited, The Schiehallion Fund
Limited and Taylor Maritime Investments Ltd.

John Martyn Falla

Independent Director
Appointed 21 December 2015

Background and experience

JohnFalla, aresident of Guernsey, is an Associate of the Institute of
Chartered Accountantsin England and Wales. Mr. Fallahas a degree
in Property Valuation and Management from City University London
andisa Chartered Fellow of the Chartered Institute for Securitiesand
Investment, holding their diploma. Mr. Falla qualified as a chartered
accountantwith Ernstand Youngin London, before transferring to
their Corporate Finance Department, specialising in the valuation of
unquoted sharesand securities, including private equity holdings.
On Mr. Falla’sreturnto Guernseyin 1996, he worked foran
International Bank before joining The International Stock Exchange
(formerly ChannelIslands Stock Exchange) in 1998 oniitslaunch as
amemberofthe Market Authority.

In 2000, Mr. Fallajoined the Edmond de Rothschild Group.

Although basedin Guernsey, he provided corporate finance advice
tointernational clientsincluding open and closed-ended funds,

and institutions with significant property interests. Mr. Falla was
alsoadirector ofanumber of Edmond de Rothschild operating and
investment entities. Mr. Fallahas been a non-executive director of
London listed companies foranumber of years, and isnow a full-time
non-executive director and consultant.

Contribution to NBPE

Mr Falla has significant expertise asan accountantand asa
non-executive director of listed companies for over 10 years, both
of which contribute to his role as a non-executive director of the
Company and as Chair of the Audit Committee.

Other publicdirectorships

Marble Point Loan Financing Limited and Baker Steel Resources
Trust Limited.

Louisa Symington-Mills

Independent Director
Appointed 15 June 2021

Background and Experience

Louisa Symington-Mills has extensive experience of the listed private
equity sector. She was a listed alternative investment funds equity
research analyst at Royal Bank of Scotland and Jefferies, with a
particularfocus on listed private equity investment companies.

She has played a key roleinincreasing awareness and understanding
of listed private equity.

She subsequently became chief operating officerat LPEQ (now
partofInvest Europe), aninternational association of listed private
equity companies, andis now an award-winning entrepreneur.
Ms Symington-Mills began her career at M&G Investment
Managementin 2003 and has an English Literature degree from
the University of Durham.

Contribution to NBPE

Ms Symington-Mills’ experience in listed private equity, and as a
research analyst, provides a depth of insight to the Board during
meetings. Herinputis particularly valued during discussions with the
Company'’s corporate brokers and otherinvestor relations advisers.

Other publicdirectorships
Ms Symington-Mills has no other public directorships.
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Governance

Corporate governance

The Directors believe in
strong corporate governance
and are committed to the
appropriate standards of
corporate governance.

The Board of NBPE has considered the
Principles and Provisions of the AIC Code

of Corporate Governance ("AlCCode").
The AlICCode addresses the Principles and
Provisions set outinthe UK Corporate
Governance Code (the "UK Code”), as well
assetting outadditional Provisions on
issues that are of specific relevance to NBPE.
The Board considers that reporting against
the Principles and Provisions of the AIC Code,
which has been endorsed by the Guernsey
Financial Services Commission, provides
more relevantinformation to shareholders.

The AlIC Codeisavailable onthe AIC
website (www.theaic.co.uk). Itincludesan
explanation of how the AIC Code adapts
the Principles and Provisions setoutinthe
UK Code to make them relevant for
investmentcompanies.

The Company has complied with the
Principles and Provisions of the AIC Code,
exceptassetout below:

= Therole of the chief executive;
= Executive Directors’ remuneration; and
= The need foraninternal audit function.

The Board considers these provisions
arenotrelevanttothe position of NBPE,
being an externally managed investment
company. In particular, all of the Company’s

day-to-day managementand administrative

functions were outsourced to third parties.
Asaresult,the Company has no executive

directors, employees or internal operations.

The Company has therefore notreported
furtherinrespect of these provisions.

The Companyisalso subjectto the
Alternative Investment Fund Managers
Directive ("AIFMD") and has a
managementagreement with NB
Alternatives Advisers, LLC (the “Investment
Manager” orthe “Manager”) to actas its
Alternative Investment Fund Manager
("AIFM"). The Bank of New York acts as

its depositary, in accordance with the
requirements of the AIFMD.

Composition and
independence

The Board comprises five Non-Executive
Directors. The Board regularly reviews the
independence of its membersand, having
dueregardtothe definitionsand current
guidelinesonindependence underthe
AlC Code, considers all Directors to be
independentand confirmsthat the
Chairmanwasindependenton
appointmentand hasremained so during
his tenure. Biographies of each Director
canbefoundonpages49to 50.

The Company does not have a chief
executive officerand day-to-day
management of the Company has been
delegated to the Investment Manager
by the Board.

Role of Senior
Independent Director

The Senior Independent Director (“SID")
works closely with the Chairman and
ensures each of the Non-Executive
Directors’ concernsare heardand is
available to attend meetings with arange
of major shareholders to understand
potential concerns. The Board has
appointed Wilken von Hodenberg

tofill thisrole. The SID Roles and
Responsibilities Policy can be found
onthe Company's website.

Induction and training

Directorsare provided, on aregular basis,
with key information on the Company's
policies, regulatory requirements andits
internal controls. Regulatory and legislative
changes affecting Directors' responsibilities
are advised tothe Board as they arise, along
with changes to best practice by, among
others, the Company Secretary and the
Auditors. Advisers to the Company also
prepare reports forthe Board fromtime
totime onrelevant topics and issues.
Inaddition, directors attend relevant
seminarsand eventsto allowthemto
refresh their skillsand knowledge and keep
up with changes within the investment
companyindustry.

Whenanew Directorisappointed to the
Board, he/sheis provided with relevant
information regarding the Company
andtheirdutiesand responsibilities as
aDirector.Inaddition, the new Director
also spendstime with representatives
ofthe Company Secretary and the
Investment Managerin ordertolearn
more about their processesand procedures.
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Theinduction process coversanumber

of key business areas and teams, including:
meetings with the Board and Chairman to
discussthe Company’s business, operations
and governance; meetings with the
Company'sinvestmentadvisorto look
atthe Company’s portfolio, investment
managementand operations; meetings
with the Company’s administrator to
discuss legal and regulatory obligations
andrequirements, processesand
governance generally; meetings with the
Company's corporate brokers to discuss
investor perceptions, capital markets,

and the development ofthe Company’s
shareholder base; and meetings with the
Company's Auditorsand PR advisors.

The Board provides appropriate training to
allnew Directors, which includes training
ontheirduties, including those under
Section 172 of the UK Companies Act 2006,
and provides refresher courses from time to
time. When a new Directorjoins the Board,
they receive regularand ongoing training,
including details of all regulatory and legal
dutiesasadirector of a Guernsey domiciled
investment company listed on the Main
Market of the London Stock Exchange.
Furthermore, the Chairman reviews the
training and development needs of each
Director during the annual Board
evaluation process.

Performance evaluation

Inaccordance with the AIC code, the
Company undergoes an annual evaluation
ofthe Board's performance, its committees,
the Chairand the individual Directors.

This process takes place in the form of
questionnaires and discussion and helps
ensure thatthe Board's operations remain
aligned with the culture, purpose and
values of the Company, and helpidentify
areas forimprovement. The Senior
Independent Director leads the appraisal
of the Chairman’s performance.

In 2022, an external review of the Board's
performance took place. This external
evaluation was undertaken by Fletcher
Jones Limited, who are independent from
the Board and the individual Directors.
The lead evaluator received briefings from
the Chairman before reviewing all Board
and Committee materials from the prior
year. A detailed bespoke questionnaire
wasissued to each Directoraswellasa
number of employees of the Manager,
who regularly present, engage with or
observe meetings of the Board orone or
more of the Committees. Each participant
then metwith the evaluatorsto discuss
pointsraised. The evaluator also attended
aBoard meeting.

Theindependentreview raised no
substantiveissues and concluded the
Board iswellmanaged and an effective
Board that works well together. Discussions
aretransparentand clearandthe Board
operated with skilland focus on all areas
ofimportance. The evaluation did

not highlight any material weaknesses or
concerns. Asmall number of areas were
identified for further focus, including
succession planning, adding afurther
skillset to the board and expanding the
investor relations resource in London.

The Board welcomed all recommendations
provided by Fletcher Jonesand intends to
proceed accordingly, particularly in
reference to the succession planning for
the Chair of the Audit Committee.

Directors’ time
commitments

Atthetime anew Directorisappointed to
the Company, consideration is givento his
or hertime commitments and availability in
orderto fulfilthe role. Aschedule of each
Directors’ appointmentsis tabled quarterly
foreach Board meeting. Inthe year under
review, all directors were considered to
have sufficient time to committo their
respective roles on the Board, taking
account of their external appointments.

Diversity and inclusion

The Board 'songoing objectiveisto have an
appropriately diversified representation

by gender, ethnicbackground, skills

and experience.

The Board welcomes and supportsthe
recently updated Listing Rules, ona
comply orexplain basis, reflecting the
recommendations set by both the
Hampton-Alexander Review on gender
diversity and the Parker Review regarding
minority ethnicity representation on
boards. The Board currently has two female
Directors making the gender balance 40%
femaleand 60% male. The Board s
cognisantthatafemale director does not
currently hold one of the senior positions
(thatare appliable to the Company) of
eitherthe Chair orthe Senior Independent
Director, but notes Trudi Clark chairs both
the Management Engagement Committee
and Nomination and Remuneration
Committee. The Board s also cognisant
that, atthe presenttime, thereisno
representation from a minority ethnic
background.
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The Board acknowledges theimportance
of genderand minority ethnic diversity
within the Boardroom. Whilstall future
appointments will be made based on merit,
the consideration of the Board's diversity
will formanintegral part of succession
planning. The Board’slong-term succession
plantakes account of future retirements

of directors upon reaching nineyears

of service and the skills that they bring that
will need replacement. The Board

envisages that successors will be sought
ahead of retirementstoallow foran
appropriate handover period with minimal
disruption. As part of this planning, the
Board will be appointing asearch
consultantin the coming months for the
appointment of one new non-executive
director,and while, at the date of this
report, the composition of the Board is
notwholly compliant with the Financial
Conduct Authority’s diversity rules, the
Board is seeking to be fully compliant by
theend of 2024.

Gender diversity
Number
of senior
Number positionson
of Board theBoard
membersin Percentage (CEO,CFO,SID
Director scope  oftheBoard and Chair)*
Men 3 60% 2
Women 2 40% 0
Not specified/prefer notto say 0 0% 0

*  Astherolesof CEO and CFO are notapplicable forinvestmenttrusts, this criteria cannot be metin full.

Ethnic diversity

Of the five board members, 100% are from White British or other White backgrounds at 31

December2022.

Tenure of Non-Executive
Independent Directors

Each Non-Executive Directoris appointed
by a letter of appointment onan ongoing
basis, and shareholders vote on whether
toelect/re-electhimorheratevery AGM.
ANon-Executive Director will only be
proposedforre-electionatan AGM ifthe
Board issatisfied with the Non-Executive
Director's performance, independence
and ongoing time commitment.

The Board has adopted a policy ontenure
thatis considered appropriate foran
investmentcompany. The Board does not
believe thatlength of service, by itself,
leads to a closer relationship with the
Investment Manager or necessarily affects
adirector'sindependence. The Board's
tenure and succession policy seeksto
ensure thatthe Boardis well balanced and
will be refreshed from time to time by the
appointment of new Directors with the
skillsand experience necessarytoreplace
thoselost by Directors’ retirements.

Directors must be able to demonstrate their

commitmentto the Company. The Board
seekstoencompass pastand current
experience of various areas relevant to the
Company's business.

Chair Tenure Policy

The Company’s policy on Chairtenure

is that the Chairshould normally serve
nolongerthan nineyearsasa Director but,
whenitisinthe bestinterests of the
Company, shareholders and stakeholders,
the Chairmay serve foralimited time
beyond that. Such circumstances may
include, but not be limited to, periods of
succession planning or to provide stability
during a period of major changein the
Company. In such circumstances, the
independence of the other Directors
willensure thatthe Board asawhole
remainsindependent.

Role of the Board

[tisthe responsibility of the Board to ensure
that thereis effective stewardship of the
Company's affairs. Strategicissuesare
determined by the Board. Aformal
schedule of operational mattersreserved
forthe Board has been adoptedin orderto
enableittodischargeitsresponsibilities,
and enabledirectorsto have fulland timely
accesstorelevantinformation.
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Board meetings and
meeting attendance

The Board meets atleast fourtimesayear
to discuss Company developmentsand
ongoing activities. Thisincludes reviewing
and evaluating the dividend, monitoring
and adapting, as necessary, the investment
strategy, and reviewing the financial and
investment performance of the Company.
TheInvestment Managerandthe
Company's Administrator furnish the
Directors with relevant materials, including
investmentreports, risk analysis and other
documentsin atimely manner priorto each
Board meeting.In addition,anagendaiis
circulated to the Directors priorto the
meeting and the Directors may consider
additional topics for discussion prior to
each Board meeting. Representatives from
the Investment Manager attend the
meetingsto reportto the Board onrelevant
updatesregardinginvestment
performance and investment activities.
Other service providersto the Companyare
invited to speak at Board meetings on
relevant matters, as necessary. In addition
tothe fourquarterly Board meetings,
there were otherad hocBoard meetings
throughout the yearto approve various
documentation, dividend payments, and
other matters. The quorum for any Board
meeting istwo Directors but attendance
by all Directors at each meeting is

strongly encouraged.

During 2022, there were four quarterly Board meetings. Attendance by the Directors at
these meetings and other committee meetings during the yearis below:

Audit

Director Board Meeting Committee MEC NRC

3 1 1
William Maltby 4 3 1 1
John Martyn Falla 4 3 1 1
TrudiClark 4 3 1 1
Wilkenvon Hodenberg 4 3 1 1
Louisa Symington-Mills 4 3 1 1
Inthe unlikely event of any Directors being Flow of information

unableto attend Board or Committee
meetings, the relevant Directors would be
contacted by the Chairman before and/or
afterthe meetingto ensure they are aware
of theissues being discussed and to obtain
theirinput.

Company Secretary

The Directors also have accessto the advice
and services of the Company Secretary,
Ocorian Administration (Guernsey) Limited,
whichisresponsible to the Board for
ensuring the timely delivery of information
andreportsand forensuring that statutory
obligations of the Company are met.
Ocorian Administration (Guernsey) Limited,
an affiliate of First Directors Limited (the
“Trustee"), provides certain administrative
functionsrelating to certain corporate
servicesand Guernsey regulatory matters
affectingthe Company.

The Company places a greatemphasis
ontheflow ofinformation fromthe
Investment Manager to the Board, ensuring
thatthe Directors haverelevant
information to make informed decisions for
the benefit of the shareholders. Alongside
the quarterly meeting, the Board often
meetsonanad hocbasisasneededto
discuss other Company matters, such as
dividend payments. The Manager provides
the Board with key information regarding
the underlying investments, ideas for new
initiatives that will help drive shareholder
value and continual feedback from
shareholders. Thisinformation assists the
Board’s evaluation of the Company’s Key
Performance Indicators, found on pages 27
and 28 of the Strategic Report.

The Investment Manager'sreporttothe
board included:

= [nvestment performance and portfolio
composition: the Board reviewed detailed
performance of underlying portfolio
company investments as well as detailed
analysis on the underlying portfolio
compositionasawhole. The Board
evaluatedthe portfolio to assistin
decisionsregarding dividends paid
by the Company.

= Company financial position and net asset
value (NAV): the Board reviewed the
Company's financial position and the
performance of the Company’s NAV.

= Returnsinformation: the Board evaluated
boththe NAV pershare returnand the
NAV total return, including the
Company'sdividends.

The Board gives feedback on allrelevant
items discussed to help achieve success
forthebenefit of shareholdersasawhole.
Furthermore, the Board has accessto

the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, brokers and lawyersand any
otheradvisers asdeemed necessary,
atthe expense of the Company, to
discharge theirresponsibilities properly.
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The Board recognises thatmuch of the
decision making, particularly with respect
tounderlyinginvestments, is delegated
tothe Investment Manager as perthe
Investment Management Agreement;
however, the Board regularly reviews
information to ensure decisions areinline
with the overall strategy set by the Board.
The Board also reviews service provider
contracts, including the Investment
Manager’s, annually to ensure terms
ofthe contractare executed and remain
inthe bestinterest of shareholders.

Directorindemnity

To the extent permitted by the Companies
(Guernsey) Law, 2008 (asamended),

the Company’s Articles of Incorporation
indemnify the Directors out of the
Company'sassets fromand against all
liabilities in respect of which they may be

lawfullyindemnified, except for any liability

(ifany) as they shallincur or sustain by or
through theirown wilful act, negligence
ordefault.

During theyear, the Company has

maintained insurance cover forits Directors

and officers underadirectors and officers
liability insurance policy.

Disclosures required under
LR9.8.4R

The Financial Conduct Authority’s Listing
Rule 9.8.4Rrequires that the Company
includes certaininformationrelating to
arrangements made between a controlling
shareholderand the Company, waivers of
directors’ fees, and long-term incentive
schemesin force. The Directors confirm that
there are no disclosures to be madein this
regard.

Conflicts of interest

The Company hasadopted a policy
requiring Directors to disclose any conflicts
of interest, including those resulting from
significant shareholdersin the Company
oraninvestee company and other
directorships, shareholdings or historic
employmentlinked to the Investment
Manager. In accordance with the policy,
any such conflicts require approval from
theremainder of the Board. Alist of each
Director'sdirectorships are tabled at each
quarterly meeting and the Board considers
any potential arising conflicts at each Board
meeting held priorto proceeding with any
business. Currently there are no material
conflictsinrespectof any Director.

Anti-bribery and
corruption policy

The Manager has processesin place to
ensure that bribery and corruption do
nottake place within the Manager or
the Company. These include formal
policiesand regulartraining for all staff.
The Board has reviewed these processes
and foundthem adequate.

Environmental policy

Due tothe Company's premium listing on
the London Stock Exchange, the Company
isrequired to disclose its environmental
policy. Asaninvestment company, NBPE
isnotrequiredtoreportagainst the Task
Force on Climate-Related Financial
Disclosures (“TCFD") framework, however,
understanding and managing climate-
related risks and opportunities based on
the TCFD's recommendationsis part of
the Investment Manager's Responsible
Investment Policy.

Furtherinformation on the socialand
environmental policies of the Manager can
be foundin the Environmental, Social and
Governance section on pages 29to 33
andinthe Manager'sESGreport, which
can befound on the Company's website
https://www.nbprivateequitypartners.
com/en/responsible-investing.

Whistleblowing policy
and arrangements

The Board and the Audit Committee have
been made aware of the processes the
Investment Manager hasin place toensure
that staff of the Investment Manager may
in confidence raise concerns about possible
improprietiesin matters of financial
reporting or other mattersand ensure
thatarrangementsarein place forthe
proportionate andindependent
investigation of such matters and follow-up
action. The Investment Manager has
established andimplemented processes.
Theseinclude formal policiesand regular
training for all staff. The Board was satisfied
thatthe processesin place are appropriate.
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Board committees

The terms of reference for all committees
described below are available onthe
Company's website.

Management Engagement
Committee

The Management Engagement Committee
("MEC") comprises all of the Directors and

is chaired by Ms. Clark. The MEC meets at
leastonce ayear pursuantto the
Committee’s Terms of Reference, and at
othertimesasrequired by the Board.

The principal duties of the MECare to:

= Review the terms of the Investment
Management Agreement, as well asany
other key service providers;

= Propose any changes to the terms of the
Investment Management Agreement,
orthat of any otherkey service provider
agreementthatit considers necessary
and desirable asaresult of its review;

= Review the fees payable to the Investment
Managerto ensure thatitdoes not
encourage excessive risk and that it
rewards demonstrable superior
performance;

= Review the overall performance of the
Investment Manager and other key
service providers;

= Satisfy itself that the duties of the parties
assetoutintherelevantagreementsare
being performed as required;

Consider any changes proposed by the
partiestothe terms of the relevant
agreementsand to review, at theintervals
provided forinthe agreements, the
amountand terms of payment of the
parties’ remuneration;

Consider any specific matters relating to
the engagement of the parties which the
Board may request;

Reporttothe Board onits conclusions
andto make recommendationsin respect
of any matters withinits remit; and

Ensure that service providers are not
operating conflicts of interestin
accordance with Authorised Closed
Ended Investment Scheme Rules.

The Company hasagreements with service
providers, the following of which are
considered significant:

= NB Alternatives Advisers LLC, as
Investment Manager, pursuanttoan
Investment Management Agreement

= MUFG Capital Analytics LLC, as
Administrator

= Ocorian Administration (Guernsey)
Limited, as Company Secretary and
Guernsey Administrator

= Link Market Services, as Registrar

= Jefferies and Stifel, asjoint Corporate
Brokers.

= Herbert Smith Freehillsand Carey Olsen,
asLegal Counsel

= Kepler Partners, as Marketing advisor

= Kaso Legg Communications as Public
Relations Advisor

= AS&I Consulting Limited, as Investor
& Communications Advisor

= PricewaterhouseCoopers Dallas,
as Tax Advisor

Information regarding the consolidated
fees paidto service providers can be found
on Note 10to the Financial Statements.

During 2022, the MEC conducted a review
ofthe key service providers, including the
Investment Manager. The MECinvited
each of the key service providers to give

the Board a self-assessment review of their
performance during theyear, through a
questionnaire. The Directors reviewed each
of the questionnaires and held a discussion
regarding the performance of each of the
Company's key service providers, level of
serviceand service contracts. Following this
discussion, the MEC was satisfied with the
level of service the Company was receiving
from each of the key service providers.

Onsite meeting with
Neuberger Berman

In October 2022, the Directors met with
representatives of the Investment Manager
and other external advisors at Neuberger
Berman'sheadquartersin New York, NY.
Overthe course of two days, the Directors
metsenior Neuberger Berman
professionalsinkey service areas for the
Company, including: investment
management, internal audit, risk,
valuations, and legal and compliance.
Aspart of the meetings related to
investments and the Company’s focus

on co-investments, the Directors met

key senior members of the Investment
Manager’s Co-investment Platform and
held detailed discussions around strategy,
sourcing, the investment legal process,
managing conflicts, allocations, and
investment monitoring. In addition, the
Directors discussed the Company'’s
ongoing marketing and investor relations
initiatives and strategy with advisors and
the Investment Manager. The Directors
also metrepresentatives from MUFG,

the Company’s fund service and record
keepingagent, PWC, the Company's tax
advisors,and KPMG Dallas, which performs
auditwork under the direction of the
Company's external Auditor, KPMG
Channellslands. The Directors believed the
sessions were thoughtful and informative.
Following the onsite, the Directors were
reminded and assured of the strong
processesand controlsin place atthe
Company'svarious service providers,and
inparticularatNeuberger Berman.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Falla as
Chairman, Ms. Clark, Ms. Symington-Mills
and Mr.von Hodenberg. All Directors on
the committee bring relevant experience
and perspectives; the composition of the
Audit Committeeis considered appropriate
forthe Company’ssize and strategy. In
accordance with best practice governance,
the Chairman, William Maltby, resigned
fromthe Audit Committee during the year.

Details of the role of the Audit Committee
canbefoundinthe Audit Committee
Reportonpage 66.

Afull copy of the Audit Committee terms of
reference are available onthe Company’s
website and from the Company Secretary.

Nomination and Remuneration
Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration

Committee ("NRC") is comprised of all of
the Directorsand is chaired by Ms. Clark.

The duties and responsibilities of the
Committee are summarised below:

Nomination

= |dentifying and nominating, forapproval
by the Board, suitable candidates tofill
Boardvacancies

= Considering the services of external
advisersto facilitate a director search

= Toreview regularly the Board structure,
taking into consideration the skills,
knowledge, diversity and experience
ofthe Board

= Toreview the results of the annual Board
evaluation process

= Toreview annually the time requirements
fromthe Non-Executive Directors

= Succession planning

Remuneration

= Toagree and determine the remuneration
of the Chairman and Non-Executive
Directors whilst ensuring that no Director
isinvolvedin any decisions regarding their
ownremuneration and taking into
consideration all relevantlegaland
regulatory compliance

= To obtain reliable and up-to-date
information regarding remuneration
in other comparable companies

= Toreview and consider any additional
ad hocpaymentsin relation to duties
undertaken overand above normal
business

During 2022, the NRC considered proposals
forthe appointment of an external board
evaluatorand recommended to the Board
the appointment of Fletcher Jones. The
NRC monitored the progress of the external
evaluation which took place during 2H
2022 and discussed the effectiveness of the
process. The Committee metinearly 2023
to discuss the report produced by the
evaluator. Further detailsin respect of the
external evaluation process can be found
on page 52. Additionally, the NRC
considered the Directors’ remuneration for
theyear2022.

The NRCregularly considers the Board
succession plan with the next planned
Director retirementbeing Mr. Falla at the
2025 AGM.The NRCisalso aware thatthe
Company needstoimprove the Board's
ethnicdiversity. Therefore the Board felt it
was appropriate toincrease the Board to six
fora period of time, by recruiting early for
Mr. Falla’s succession but also to hopefully
recruittothe Board a Director with the

appropriate skillsand merit but froma
minority ethnicbackground. Inthe longer
termitisthe Board'sintention for the
number of Directorsto remain at five.

The NRCwill be hiring an external agency
to assist with searches foranew director
candidate.

Full details of the Remuneration Report can
be found on pages63to 65.

Internal controls

Asexplainedin more detailinthe Report

of the Audit Committee, the Board, as
advised by the Audit Committee, monitors
therisks facing the Company andthe
controls putin place to help mitigate those
risks. The Company itself has no premises
noremployees, and operates by delegating
functionsto service providers subject
tothe oversight of the Board.

The Board assesses the internal controls of
the Company’s service providers annually
as part of the provider self-assessment
review. Service providers are asked to
provide the Board with information, and
relevant policies, regarding effective
internal controls, appropriate disaster
recovery/business continuity arrangements,
technology to maintaininformation security
and client confidentiality, compliance with
anti-bribery and corruption laws, details
onthe prevention of the facilitation of tax
evasion, compliance with data protection
legislation, their organisation’s ESG
considerations, and any details regarding
cyber-attacks. The Investment Manager, to
whom is delegated the day-to-day
management of the Company, is also
assessed as part of this review.
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Inline with the FRC guidance, the Audit
Committee keeps under review the need
foraninternal function. The Audit
Committeeis satisfied that the systems
ofinternal control of the Company, the
Investment Manager and the Administrator
areadequate to fulfil the Board ‘s obligation
inthisregard and that currently aninternal
auditfunctionis not necessary.

Culture and purpose

The Company'’s purposeis to give
shareholdersaccesstothe long-term
returnsavailable froma portfolio of direct
investmentsin highly attractive private
companies through leveraging the
strength of the Neuberger Berman global
platform, whileinvesting responsibly to
create value for our stakeholders.

The Directors believe that maintaining a
healthy corporate culture among the Board
andinitsinteraction with the Investment
Manager, shareholdersand other
stakeholderswill support the delivery of
the Company's purpose, values and
strategy. As part of this, the Board
recognises the importance of ensuring
thatthe Company’s culture and that of
theInvestment Manager are aligned.
The Board, together with the Investment
Manager, promotes and facilitates a strong
culture of communication, respectand
trust through ongoing dialogue and
engagementwith its service providers.
Asthe Company hasnoemployeesand
actsthrough the Investment Manager,
the Board continues to monitor culture
on anongoing basis via feedback

from shareholders, the Investment
Manager orinputfrom otheradvisers.

As part of this culture, the Board and
InvestmentManager believe responsible
investingisanimportant part of operating
intoday’s society and assessing overall
investment risk and opportunities

(see page 29). For more information on the
Company's Responsible Investment policy
andtheInvestment Manager's culture
andvalues, please see pages 29to 33.

Stakeholder engagement

NBPE's Section 172 statement, which
details engagements with stakeholders
during the year, can be found on
pages38to41.

Shareholder
communication

The Board welcomes shareholders’
viewsand places greatimportance on
communication with the Company's
shareholders.

Both the Company’s Annual Reportand
consolidated financial statements,
containing a detailed review of
performance and of changestothe
investment portfolio,and monthly
factsheets with details of the Company'’s
strategy and performance, the financial
position of the Company and the
underlying diversification of the portfolio,
aremade available toinvestors through
the Company’s website. A copy of investor
presentations are also available on the
Company's website. The Company also
publishesinterim and annual financial
reports which provide shareholdersand
otherstakeholders with more detail on
the portfolioand an update on the
performance of the Company.

Astructured programme of shareholder
presentations by the Managerto
institutional shareholders takes place
following the publication of the Annual
Reportand quarterly updates. In addition,
the Chairman andthe Board members are
available to meetshareholders.

NBPE also holds an annual Capital Markets
Eventwebinar. Lastyear’s event was held
virtually on 6 October 2022 to

update shareholdersand research analysts
onthe Company's performance and
investmentactivities during the year.
Arecording of the eventis available on

the Company's website.

The Company maintains a website which
contains comprehensive information
aboutthe Company. Detailed information
is presented onthe Company’s investment
strategy, shareinformation, the Investment
Manager’s platform and team, insights
fromthe Investment Manager's team of
investment professionals, investment
performance, aswell as aninvestor centre,
which hasa library of all publications

and details of how to register for
Company notifications.

The Board receivesregular updates from
the Company's brokers and is kept
informed of all material discussions with
investors and analysts, which helps the
Directors develop theirunderstanding
of shareholders’ views and expectations.
Adetailed list of the Company’s major
shareholdersis reviewed ateach

Board meeting.

William Maltby
Chairman

24 April 2023
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Directors’ report

Directors’ report

The Directors' reportshould
be read in conjunction

with the Strategic report
(pages 2to46)and the
Remuneration report
(pages 63to 65).

The Directors present theirannual financial
reportand consolidated financial
statements of NB Private Equity Partners
Limited and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Principal activity

NBPE s a closed-ended investment
company, whichinvestsin direct private
equity backed companies, andis registered
in Guernsey. The Company's registered
officeis PO Box 26, Floor 2, Trafalgar Court,
LesBanques, St. Peter Port, Guernsey GY1
4LY.The Company’s Class A Ordinary Shares
arelisted and admitted to trading on the
Main Market of the London Stock Exchange
underthe symbol “NBPE” and “NBPU",
corresponding to the Sterlingand U.S.
Dollar quotes, respectively. NBPE has 2024
ZDP Shares admitted to trading onthe
Specialist Fund Segment underthe symbol
“NBPS"” (see Note 1 of the consolidated
financial statements).

Investment policy

The Company’sinvestment policy is set out
onpage 62.

Political donations
and policy

The Company does not pay any political
donationsin cash orin-kind.

Directors

Asof 31 December 2022, the Board had
five Independent Directors: William Maltby,
Wilkenvon Hodenberg, Trudi Clark,

John Fallaand Louisa Symington-Mills.

The Directorsreview theirindependence
and offerthemselves up for re-election
annually.

The biographical information also includes
alist of other publiccompany directorships
foreach of the Directors. Inits consideration
of any new or additional Directors, the
Board seeks to make the mostappropriate
appointments, taking into full account

the benefits of diversity, including gender.
Moreinformation onthe Board's approach
to diversity can be found on page 52 and
NBPE's diversity policy is available on

the website.

Articles of Incorporation

Holders of the Company’s Class A Ordinary
Shares enjoy therightssetoutinthe
Company's Articles of Incorporation and
The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008, as
amended. Holders of the Class A Ordinary
Shares have the right to receive notice of
general meetings of the Company and have
therighttovote atall general meetings;
however, Class A Ordinary Shareholders
have norighttovote ona2024ZDP
Liquidation Resolution ora 2024 ZDP
Reconstruction Resolution (as such terms
aredefinedinthe Company’s Articles of
Incorporation). The Company'’s Articles of
Incorporation may be amended by special
resolutioninageneral meeting.

Purchase of shares

The Companyisauthorised, in accordance
with Section 315 of the Companies
(Guernsey) Law 2008, asamended (the
“Companies Law"), subject to the Listing
Rules made by the United Kingdom
Financial Conduct Authority and all other
applicablelegislation and regulations,

to make market acquisitions (within the
meaning of Section 316 of the Companies
Law) of its own Class A Shares (as defined
inthe Company’s Articles of Incorporation),
which may be cancelled or held as treasury
shares, provided that:

i. The maximum number of Class A Shares
authorised to be purchased under this
authority shallbe 7,009,478 Class A
Shares (being 14.99 per cent. of the Class
ASharesinissue (excluding Class A
Sharesheldintreasury)) asat 12 May
2022;

ii. The minimum price (exclusive of
expenses) which may be paid fora Class A

Shareis U.S.$0.01;

iii. The maximum price (exclusive of
expenses) which may be paid fora Class A
Share shall be not more than an amount
equaltothe higher of (a) 5 per cent.
above the average mid-market value of
the Class A Shares on the regulated
marketwhere the repurchaseis carried
outforthe five business days priorto the
daythe purchase ismade; and (b) the
higher of (i) the price of the last
independenttrade and (ii) the highest
currentindependent bid price, in each
caseon theregulated market where the
purchaseis carried out; and
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Directors’ report

such authority expires on the date whichis
15 months from the date of passing of the
resolution or, if earlier, atthe end of the
Company's Annual General Meetingto be
heldin 2023 (unless previously renewed,
revoked orvaried by the Company by
special resolution) save that the Company
may make a contractto acquire Class A
Shares under this authority before its expiry
which will or may be executed wholly or
partly afterits expiration and the Company
may make an acquisition of Class A Shares
pursuanttosuch a contract.

The authority will only be exercised if the
Directors believe thatto do sowould bein
the bestinterest of shareholders generally.
Any shares purchased under this authority
would be atadiscountto netassetvalue
(NAV) pershare and therefore accretive
tothe NAV pershare for the remaining
shareholders.

Investment Manager

The Companyis managed by the NB
Alternatives Advisers, LLC pursuanttoan
Investment Management Agreement,
dated 2 May 2017. Subject to the Board's
overall strategicdirection andinstructions,
theInvestment Manager makesall of the
Company'sinvestment decisions. The
Manager has been appointed since 2007,
andremains appointed, unless terminated
by the Company with 30 days prior written
notice and approved by an ordinary
resolution or withimmediate effectunder
certain conditions. The Manageris
responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company, sourcing,
evaluating and making investment
decisions related to the Company.

The Manager makes the decisions
regarding individual investmentsin line
with theinvestment strategy set by the
Board. The Manager’s team of professionals
isalso responsible formanaging the
Company'sassets, including monitoring
the Company’sinvestment portfolio and
assigning valuations to the Company'’s
investments based onthe Company'’s
valuation methodology, which can be
found on page 104.The Board keeps the
performance of the Investment Manager
under continual review. The ongoing
review of the Investment Managerincludes
activitiesand performance over the course
of theyear, including, but not limited to,
overallinvestment performance, portfolio
risk, cash flow projections, assessment of
internal controls, fees payable by the
Companytothe Manager,aswellasa
review of the Company’s peer group.

The Board believes the Investment
Manager's experience, track record, team
and platformisadvantageousto the
Company andthe Investment Manager's
continued appointmentisinthe best
interest of shareholders.

Dividend policy

The Company instituted along-term

policy of paying sustainable dividends to
shareholdersin 2013. The Company targets
anannualised dividend yield of 3.0% or
greater on NAV, with the goal to maintain
or progressively increase the level of
dividends overtime.

Historically, a dividend has been paid
semi-annuallyin line with NBPE’s
dividend target. Prior to each dividend
announcement, the Board reviews the

appropriateness of the dividend payment
in light of macroeconomicactivity and the
financial position of the Company. Intimes
of extraordinary circumstances, the Board
doesnotguarantee adividend, butrather
evaluates the suitability of a dividend
paymentbased on the magnitude of
thesituation.

Dividends are declared in U.S. dollarsand
normally paid in pounds Sterling, butthe
Company also offersboth a currency
election for shareholders wishing to

be paidinU.S. dollarsand adividend
re-investment plan forshareholderswho
wish to re-invest their dividends to grow
theirshareholding. Please reference
pages90and 91 for the credit facility and
ZDPtermsregarding dividends.

Results and dividends

Thefinancial results for the yearended

31 December 2022 areincluded in the
consolidated financial statements,
beginning on page 78. As of 31 December
2022,the NAV attributable to the Class A
Shareswas $1,327.3 million (2021:$1,480.2
million), which represents a decrease of
$153.0 million (2021:increase of $428.5
million). On 13 January 2022, the Company
declared thefirstsemi-annual dividend of
$0.47 pershareand on 18 July 2022
declared aninterim dividend of $0.47 per
share. Both dividends were approvedinline
with NBPE's dividend policy and resulted in
total dividends of $0.94 pershare ($44
million) paid during 2022. Including the
dividend payment, the NAV total return for
theyearwas (7.5)% (2021:44.8%), assuming
there-investment of dividendson the
ex-dividend date.

Fee analysis

NBPE's rate of ongoing charges, as defined
by the Association of Investment
Companies ("AIC") ratio, was 1.90% for the
yearended 31 December 2022
(2021:1.96%). The ongoing charges were
calculatedin accordance with the AIC
methodology and exclude interestand
financing costs and otheritems not
deemedtobe ongoinginnatureand
therefore may differ from the total expense
ratiofound in Note 12 of the consolidated
financial statements on page 97, which was
preparedin conformity with U.S. GAAP. The
complete methodology can be found on
the AIC's website.

Total ongoing expensesin 2022 were
$25.6 million (2021:US$26.8 million), or
1.90%, based on the average 2022 NAV.
Note that percentages of ongoing charges
arebased onthe average 2022 NAV and
may differ from contractual rates based on
2022 private equity fairvalue. Other
ongoing charges consisted of feesand
otherexpensesto third-party providers
forongoing services to the Company. In
accordance with the AICmethodology, the
performance fee payable to the Investment
Manageris excluded from the calculation.

Value % Ongoing

Ongoing Charge (US$inm) Charge
Management fee 211 1.57%
Fund

administration fee 1.3 0.10%
Otherexpenses 3.2 0.24%
Total Ongoing

Charges 256 1.90%
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Directors’ report

Approximately 97% of the direct
investment portfolio (measured on

31 December 2022 fairvalue)isona

no managementfee, no carried interest
basisto the underlying sponsor.

Atthe Company level, NBPE's management
feeis 1.5% of private equity fairvalue
(payable quarterly)and a 7.5%
performance fee afterachievinga 7.5%
hurdlerate. The Directors believe these
feesare favourable relative to other listed
direct funds, which often carry higher
overall fee levelsand listed fund of funds,
whichtypically have a double layer of fees
(charged atthe vehicle level and underlying
fundlevel).

The Directors believe the fee efficiency
fromthe Company’s co-investment
strategy provides investors with diversified
private equity access atalower total cost
than most other listed private equity
vehicles.

Share capital

Asat31December2022,46,761,030 Class A
Shareswereissued and outstanding;
3,150,408 Treasury Shares, representing
6.3% of the Company’sissued share capital,
were held asat 24 April 2023, being the
latest practical date before publication of
thisdocument.

Major shareholders

Asof 31 December 2022, insofarasis
known to NBPE, the shareholders below
held, eitherdirectly orindirectly, greater
than 5.0% of the Class A Sharesinissue
(excluding Class A Shares held in treasury).
Note thatthe amounts below may

have subsequently fluctuated after

31 December2022:

% Ownership

of ClassA
Shareholder Shares held Shares
Quilter Cheviot 6,195,562 13.3%
EvelynPartnersLLP 4,185,458 9.0%
City of London
Investment
Management 3,154,338 6.8%
Cazenove Capital 2,842,489 6.1%
New Jersey Division
of Investment 2,475,000 5.3%

Risks and Risk Management

The Groupis exposed to financial risks such
as pricerisk, interest rate risk, creditriskand
liquidity risk, and the managementand
monitoring of these risks are detailed on
the Principal Risks and Uncertaintieson
pages43to44andinNote 3tothe
Consolidated Financial Statements on
pages 8710 90.

Annual Report

After due consideration, the Board
believesthe Annual Reportand Accounts,
taken asawhole, are fair, balanced and
understandable andistherefore of the
opinionthatthe Annual Report provides
theinformation necessary for shareholders
to assess the position, performance,
strategy and business model of the
Company.

The Board recommends that the Annual
Report, the Report of the Directorsand
the Independent Auditors’ Report for
theyearended 31 December 2022 are
received and adopted by shareholders
and aresolution concerning this will be
proposed atthe AGM.

Independent Auditors

The Directors will propose the
reappointment of KPMG Channel Islands
Limited as the Company’s Auditors, and
resolutions concerning this, and the
remuneration of the Company’s Auditors
willbe proposed at the AGM.

Atthetimethatthisreportwasapproved,
sofaraseach of the Directorsis aware:

= Thereisnorelevantauditinformation of
which the Auditors are unaware; and

= Each Director has taken all the steps they
oughtto have taken to make themselves
aware of any auditinformation and to
establish thatthe Auditors are aware of
thatinformation.

Annual General Meeting

The Company’'s AGM will be heldin
Guernsey at Floor 2, Trafalgar Court,
LesBanques, St Peter Port, GY14LY,
Guernseyat 1:45pmon 15June 2023.
Formal notice will be sent to registered
shareholdersinadvance.

Subsequent events

Significant subsequent events have been
disclosedin Note 13 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

By order of the Board:

William Maltby
Chairman

24 April 2023
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Investment Objective and Policy

Investment objective

The Company’sinvestment objective isto
produce attractive returns by investing
mainlyin the direct equity of private
equity-backed companies while managing
investment risk through diversification
across asset class, vintage year, geography,
industry and sponsor. The vast majority of
directinvestments are made with no
managementfee/no carried interest
payable tothird-party private equity
sponsors, offering greater fee efficiency
than other listed private equity companies.
NBPE seeks capital appreciation through
growthinnetassetvalue (NAV) overtime
while returning capital by paying a
semi-annual dividend.

Investment policy

In orderto achieve itsinvestment objective,
the Companyintendsto maintaina
diversified portfolio of private equity
related assets composed predominantly

of direct private equity investments,
butwhich may alsoinclude private
debtinvestmentsand private equity
fundinvestments.

In addition, the Company may make other
opportunisticinvestments from time to
time, provided that such investments will
accountfornomorethan 10% of the
Company’'s gross assets atthetime the
opportunisticinvestmentis made without
approval from a majority of the Board and,
inany event, no more than 20% of the
Company'sgross assets atthetime the
opportunisticinvestmentis made.

The Company'sinvestments are made
across different levels of the capital
structure of investee entities. Thereare no
restrictions onthe type or form of
investments or securities which the
Company may hold. The Company may
make itsinvestmentsin primary or
secondary markets and eitherdirectly or
indirectly throughintermediary holding
vehicles or collective investment vehicles
(including co-investment vehicles or
otherfunds) managed by eitheran
affiliate of the Investment Manager
orthird-party managers.

Diversification and investment
guidelines

The Company intends to maintain portfolio
diversification across some or all of the
following metrics: private equity asset class,
investmenttype, vintage year, geography,
industry and sponsor.

Diversification isdynamicand varies
according to where the most attractive
opportunities arise. However, no single
exposure to aninvestee entity will account
formorethan 20% of the Company’s gross
assets (asatthe time of making

such investment).

Cash and short-term investments

Inadditionto the investments referred to
above, the Company may also hold cash
and maytemporarily invest such cashin
cash equivalents, money market
instruments, governmentsecurities,
asset-backed securities and other
investmentgrade securities, pending
investmentin private equity related assets
oropportunisticinvestments. The
Company may also utilise (either directly or
viainvestmentin a collective investment
vehicle) the services of an affiliate of the
Investment Manager orathird party to
manage this excess cash. If a third party or
an affiliate of the Investment Manageris so
appointed, the Company may pay a market
rate forthose services.

Investment restrictions

The Company will notinvest more than

10 per cent., inaggregate, of its total
assetsin other UK-listed closed-ended
investment funds.
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Remuneration report

The Board has established a Nomination
and Remuneration Committee (“NRC")

to assist the Board with remuneration
duties. Detailsonthe NRC's responsibilities
canbefoundonpage57.Duringa
remuneration review, the NRC takes into
accountthetime commitmentsand
responsibilities of the Directors and other
factorswhichitdeemsnecessary, including
the recommendations of the AICCode and
any relevantlegal requirements. The NRC
also takesinto consideration relevant
remuneration data collated in respect of
comparable companies. The NRC meets
once peryearand reportstothe Board on
allmatters withinits dutiesand
responsibilities. The Company's
remuneration policy is available onthe
Company's website.

Details of the NRC's activities during the
year can be found on page 57.

Components of
annual remuneration

The Company pays afeetothe Independent
Directors for their work related to the
Company's business. The fees for the
Directors are determined within the limit
setoutinthe Company’s Articles of
Incorporation. The present limitisan
aggregate of £400,000 perannum.

This total limit cannot be changed

without seeking shareholderapproval
atageneralmeeting.

Thefees, which are subjecttoanannual
increase based ontherisein the Guernsey
Retail Price Index (“GRPI"), subjecttoa 1%
perannum minimum, are paid quarterlyin
arrears. Forthe 12 monthsto 31 December
2022,the GRPlincreased to 8.5%,
comparedto4.4%in 2021. While the
Directors' fees are subjectto anincrease at
the rate of GRPI, the Board also considers
anyincrease inthe context of theincreasing
regulatory and governance demands and
market trends for directors’ feeswhen
proposing any increase. Having undergone
thisassessment the Directors consideran
increase of 6% to be appropriate. Directors
are notentitled toanybonus, long-term
incentive plans or other benefits.

The below table reflects actual fees paid for
2021 and 2022 and the expected fees for
2023 (using anincrease of 6% versus the
GPRIrate of 8.5% asat 31 December 2022):

2023 2022 2021
Chairman £80,231 £75,690 £70,625
Chairman of

the Audit

Committee £68,612 £64,728 £60,500
Senior

Independent

Director £63,078 £59,508 £51,750
Non-Executive

Directors £57,545 £54,288 £50,500
Subsidiary

appointments
(pro-ratafrom
1June2021)  £11,066 £10,440 £5,000

* Theamountreportedinthe 2021 Annual Report
inregardstothe SIDremuneration was £57,420.
However, the fee, adjusted for Guernsey Retail Price
Index, should have been £59,508 and the table
aboverepresentsthe corrected figure.

Directors’ appointment

The Company’s Memorandum and Articles
of Incorporation provides the requirements
ofthe company regarding the appointment
and removal of Directors, a copy of whichis
available forinspection from the Registered
Office of the Company. No Directorhasa
service contract with the Company.

Notice period

Thereisnodirector resignation notice
period stipulated within the Company’s
Articles of Incorporation, any Director may
resign in writing to the Board atany time.

Statement of consideration
of conditions elsewhere in
the Company

The Company does not have any operations
and therefore noemployees. Asaresult,
the Board does not consider pay and
employment conditions of any employees.

Statement of consideration
of shareholder views

The Board welcomes feedback and placesa
significantimportance on communication
with shareholders. The Board noted that
99.45% of shareholdersvoted in favour of
the Directors’ remuneration atthe AGM
heldin2022.
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Directors’ remuneration
and aggregate shareholder
distributions

Thetablesto theright compare the total
Directors’' remuneration paid with total
distributionsto shareholders for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. While
this disclosureis a statutory requirement,
the Directorsview this as nota meaningful
comparison as the Company has no
operations, and therefore, no employees
andthe Company’s objective islong-term
NAV growth over time, of which dividends
formonly a portion of a Shareholders’
overallreturn.

$43,964,768

-
<
e
")
™~
)
)
m
-

Directors’ Dividends Paid

Remuneration

2022 2021
Directors’
Remuneration $387,647 $361,516
2022 2021
Dividendspaid $43,964,768 $33,675,142
Share buybacks - _
Total
shareholder
distributions  $43,964,768 $33,675,142

$33,675,141

Share Buybacks

$43,964,768

Total Shareholder

Distributions

Remuneration by Director and year

2022 2021
Trudi Clark* £59,508 £53,000
John Falla* £69,948 £63,000
Wilkenvon Hodenberg £59,508 £51,750
William Maltby £75,690 £70,625
Louisa Symington-Mills £54,288 £27,583

The Chairman of the Board, William Maltby, was the highest paid Director for the year

2022.

*  Thetwo Guernsey resident Directors (Trudi Clark and John Falla) also act as directors for the Guernsey

subsidiaries forwhich they each received an annual fee of £5,220 for the 12 monthsto 31 December 2022.

Shareholdings of the Directors

The Directors' interestsin Class A Shares of $0.01 each asat 31 December 2022 were as follows:

31December

31 December

2022 2021
TrudiClark 6,433 6,433
JohnFalla 10,000 10,000
WilkenvonHodenberg* 99,425 97,541
William Maltby** 23,298 23,298
Louisa Symington-Mills 1,350 -

* Totalincludesa closely associated person related to Wilken von Hodenberg who holds 45,712.5 shares
of the Company. Furthermore, the total reported inthe 2021 Annual Report was 89,316. However,
itshould have stated 97,541 and the table above reflects the corrected figure.

** Totalincludes a closely associated person related to William Maltby who holds 5,465 shares of the

Company.
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Performance graph

Insetting the Directors’ remuneration,
considerationis givento the size and
relative performance of the Company.
Aperformance graph which measures
the Company’s total shareholder return

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

(share price and dividends) (“TSR")

overthe period from 31 December 2013
againstthat of a broad equity marketindex
isshown below. This is calculated by
referencetothe Company’s share price
including dividend re-investment.

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Resolution to approve
Directors’' remuneration

Whilst Guernsey-registered companies
arenotobligedto prepare and publish
aDirectors' Remunerationreport,an
ordinary resolution will be putto the
shareholders seeking approval of the
Remuneration report withinthe Annual
Reportand Accounts; this vote will be
advisoryonly, butthe Directors of the
Company will take the outcome of the
vote into consideration when reviewing
and setting the Directors’ remuneration.

Inaddition, to facilitate the temporary

increase of the size of the Board as detailed

onpage 57, aresolutionto approve an
increase inthe annual aggregate director
fee limit, from £400,000 to £450,000, will
be putforth atthe Company’s upcoming
Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board:

Trudi Clark
Chair

24 April 2023
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Report of the Audit Committee

Report of the Audit Committee

Role of the Audit
Committee

The Audit Committee assisted the Board

in carrying outits responsibilitiesin relation
tothefinancial reporting requirements,
risk identification and management,
andtheassessmentofinternal controls.
ltalsomanagedthe Company’s
relationship with KPMG.

The primary function of the Audit
Committeeisto provide oversightand
reassurancestothe Board, specifically
with regard to:

= The Company'’sfinancial reporting,
including finalisation of its Annual
Reports;

= Auditarrangements, including
competency andindependence of the
external Auditors;

= Risk management, includingidentifying
and managing the Company’s principal
risks;

= |nternal controls; and

= The Company’s governance framework.

Composition of the
Committee

The Audit Committeeis comprised of
four of the Board Directors, namely

John Martyn Falla, Trudi Clark, Wilken von
Hodenberg and Louisa Symington-Mills.
John Martyn Falla, who brings significant
expertise asan accountant, is the Chair of
the Committee. In accordance with best
practice governance, the Chairman,
William Maltby, resigned from the Audit
Committee during the year.

Committee meetings

The Audit Committee meets atleast three
times ayearand metfourtimesin 2022.

All Committee members were present at
these four meetings. Only membersand
the secretary of the Audit Committee have
therightto attend Audit Committee
meetings. However, the Chairman of the
Board andrepresentatives of the
Investment Managerand the Administrator
areinvited to attend Audit Committee
meetings on aregular basis, and other
non-members may be invited to attend
allor partofthe meetingasandwhen
appropriate and necessary. The Company’s
Independent Auditor, whois currently
KPMG, isalso invited on aregular basis.

The Audit Committee determines, in
conjunction with the Independent Auditor,
when to meet with the Auditor.

Meetings of the Audit Committee generally
take place priorto the Company Board
meeting and the Committee reported to
the Board as partofa separate agenda
item, on the activities of the Audit
Committee and matters of particular
relevance to the Boardin the conduct of
theirwork.

The Audit Committee meets with the
Independent Auditor without the Manager
and Administrator present to seek their
views on the quality of the control
environmentand the processes around the
preparation of the financial statements.
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Report of the Audit Committee

Key areas of focus

During 2022, the Audit Committee was
involved with monitoring valuations and
evaluating the Company’s capital position
and key financial ratios. In addition, the
Audit Committee reviewed valuation
analysis prepared by the Investment
Manager on a quarterly basis, which
includes cash flow forecastsand the
performance of the underlying
investments. Such informationisused to
evaluate theimpacton the Company's
capital structure and allocation.

The Audit Committee also conducted
areview of auditorindependence,
effectiveness, and reviewed the full-year
audit plan with the Investment Manager
and KPMG. In addition, the Audit
Committee reviewed and held detailed
discussions on the Annual Reportand
consolidated financial statements
including arobust assessment of the
principal risks, as well as reviewing and
challenging the viability analysis before
itsapproval.

The key areas of focus for the Committee
fortheyear2022 were:

The Audit Committee review with the
Investment Manager, MUFG Capital
Analyticsand KPMG the appropriateness of
the semi-annual and annual financial
statements. The Committee focuses on,
among other matters:

= The quality and acceptability of
accounting policies and practices;

= The clarity of the disclosures and
compliance with financial reporting
standardsand relevant financial
governance reporting requirements;

= Material areasin which significant
judgments have been applied orthere has
been discussion with KPMG; whether the
annual financial reportand consolidated
financial statements, taken asawhole, are
fair, balanced and understandable and
provide the information necessary for
shareholdersto assess the Company’s
performance, business modeland
strategy; and

= Any correspondence from regulatorsin
relationtofinancial reporting.

To aid its review, the Audit Committee
consideredreports from the Investment
Manager, Fund Administrator, the
Company Secretary,and also reports from
theIndependent Auditor onthe outcomes
of their half-year review and annual audit.

During theyear, the Audit Committee
reviewed the Company’s Annual Report
andinterim financial statements forthe
period ending 30 June 2022 (the “Interim
Financial Statements”) before
recommending approval to the Board.
The Committee considered the Interim
Financial Statements and Annual Report
to be fairand balanced, and provided
the Company's shareholders with the
information necessary to assess the
Company's performance, business model
and strategy, and was satisfied that
narratives provided were consistent with
allnumerical disclosures.

Inaddition, the Audit Committee met
KPMG Dallas, the Administratorand
members of the Neuberger Berman finance
teamin personin October 2022.

The Audit Committee provided oversight to
the planning of the auditin respect of the
Company'sannual accounts for the period
ending 31 December2022. The following
table details the key audit mattersand how
the Company’sIndependent Auditor
addressed them:

Valuation of investments

Thevaluation of the Company assets are
considered asignificantarea of focus asit
representsthe majority of the NAV for the
Group. The Auditors made enquiries with
the Investment Managerto understand the
processes and procedures around
operational due diligence, ongoing
monitoring of the underlying investments
and the control overthe valuations of all
private equity investments. The Auditors
then tested the design and implementation
of the controls which monitorand approve
thevaluation of investments.

The Independent Auditors did not report
anysignificant differences betweenthe
valuations used by the Company and the
work performed during their testing
process. Similar to prior years, the
Independent Auditors noted they had
utilised theirin-house valuation expertsto
assist with the audit of valuations and used
anumber of techniques to evaluate the
valuation of selected income investments.
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Report of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee noted that the
Investment Manager’s valuation
methodology fordirect equity investments
begins with the mostrecently available
financialinformation obtained from the
underlying companies or sponsors. The
InvestmentManager noted to the

Audit Committee that the valuation
process used by the Investment Manager
was consistent with the prioryear. For
investments where the Manager was
invested inthe same security at the same
underlying cost basis as the lead private
equity sponsor, the Investment Manager
utilised the practical expedientvaluation
methodology. Generally, thisapproach
relied on using the bestinformation from
the private equity sponsor, including but
notlimited to: audited financial statements,
co-investmentholding vehicle financial
statements or capital accounts, or other
financialinformation deemed reliable by
the Investment Manager. The Independent
Auditor reviewed the supporting financial
information forinvestmentsvalued under
the practical expedient methodology.

Management override of controls

The Auditors reviewed accounting
estimates for biases by evaluating whether
judgements and decisionsin making
accounting estimates, even ifindividually
reasonable, indicated a possible bias. They
additionally reviewed the minutes of both
the Board and the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee continued to monitor
the Company's governance framework and
compliance with the AIC Code of Corporate
Governance (the “"AlCCode").In 2022, the
Audit Committee undertook a review of
the Company's compliance with the AIC
Code’s stipulated provisions. The Audit
Committee proposed that certain updates
be made to provide a clearer reflection of
the Company's manner of compliance and
remains satisfied thatthe Company
upholdssatisfactory compliance with the
provisions of the AIC Code.

During theyear, the Audit Committee
received reports fromthe Investment
Manager, who as AIFM assesses the
Company'sinternal controlsonan ongoing
basis, and reviewed any changes to
significant risks.

Each quarter, the Board receives a formal
risk report from the Investment Manager,
which provides a summary of the elevated
residual risks to the Company. The Audit
Committee monitored the key areas of
elevated riskincluding those thatare not
directly the responsibility of the Investment
Manager. The Investment Manager has
established aninternal control framework
to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance on the effectiveness of internal
controls operated on behalf of its clients.

Annually,and in accordance with Provision
33 ofthe AICCode, the Board undertakesa
full review of the Company's business risks
which have been analysed and recorded in
the principalrisks and uncertainties matrix.
Following the review, the Audit Committee
confirmed thatit was satisfied with the key
underlying assumptions of the viability
statementandtheresulting forecast
prepared. The Audit Committee regularly
discussed the heightened external risks
associated with the Ukraine war, the related
economicsanctionsagainst Russia and

the general market conditions, including,

but notlimitedto, rising interest rates,
heightened inflation, operational
performance of underlying investments
and other matters. They also considered
theimpact of climate change both onthe
investment risk environment, butalso on
the emerging regulatory requirements for
disclosures by investing entities on such
matters. The principal risks and
uncertainties of the Companyand
respective controls are outlined in the risk
matrixassetouton pages43to44

of the Strategic Report.

The effectiveness of the internal controls at
the Investment Manageris assessed by the
Investment Manager’s compliance and risk
department onan ongoing basis. Inthe
second half of the year, the Board met the
Investment Managerin person atthe
Manager’s headquartersin New York, NY
to discuss all aspects of the Company's
portfolio, investment managementand
operations, including the mechanisms for
their review of the Company’sinternal
controls; thisis discussed in more detail on
pages 57 and 58.The Audit Committee
subsequently metto review the findings
from this meeting in the context of the
control environmentand was satisfied with
theinternal controls of the

Investment Manager.
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Report of the Audit Committee

Furthermore, the Management
Engagement Committee undergoesan
annual review whereby the Investment
Managerandthe Company’sservice
providers populate responses regarding
their control environmentand internal
control systems, which are reported to the
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee confirms that it
reviewed the effectiveness of the
Company's system of internal controls
fortheyearended 31 December 2022
andthroughto the approval date of this
annual financial reportand thatnoissues
were noted.

The Companyitself doesnothavean
internal audit function, butinstead relieson
theinternal audit functionsand
departments of the Investment Manager
and otherservice providers. The Audit
Committee notes the independent
segregation of duties due to having
separate Investment Management,
Administratorand Depository functions.
Duetothe presence of aninternal audit
function within the Investment Manager,
the Audit Committee is satisfied that the
controlenvironmentis sufficient to mitigate
risks to the Company.

Terms of engagement

The Audit Committee reviewed the audit
scope and fee proposal through
engagement letters and Audit Committee
reportsissued by KPMG to the Directors.
The Committee approved the fees for
auditservicesfor 2022 afterareview of the
level and nature of work to be performed.
The Board was satisfied that the fees

were appropriate forthe scope of the
work required.

The Independent Auditors were
remunerated $260,000 in relationto the
2022 annual audit (2021 fee: $210,000).
Theyreceived afee of $40,000in relation
totheirreview of the interim financial
statements, which was unchanged from
the prioryear.

Auditor effectiveness

The Audit Committee received a detailed
audit plan from the Auditors, identifying
theirassessment of the key risks. For the
2022 financial year, the significant risk
identified was the valuation of investments.
Thisriskis tracked through the yearand

the Audit Committee challenged the work
done by the Auditors to testmanagement’s
assumptions. The Audit Committee
assessed the effectiveness of the audit
processinaddressing these matters
through thereporting received from the
Auditors at both the half-year and year-end
meetings. In addition, the Audit Committee
soughtfeedback fromthe Investment
Managerand MUFG Capital Analytics on
the effectiveness of the audit process.

Forthe 2022 financial year, the Audit
Committee was satisfied that there had
been appropriate focus and challenge
onthe primary areas of audit risk and
assessed the quality of the audit process
to be appropriate.
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Report of the Audit Committee

Independent audit
and appointment

KPMG is NBPE's Independent Auditor.
KPMG performed an audit of the
Company's consolidated financial
statementsin accordance with applicable
law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK). Prior to beginning the audit,
the Audit Committee received areport
fromthe Independent Auditorsand
reviewed the scope of the audit, identified
significantauditriskand areas of audit
focus aswell asthe terms of the audit
engagement.

Non-audit work Description

The Audit Committee understands the
importance of auditorindependence
and, during 2022, the Audit Committee
reviewed the independence and objectivity
of KPMG. The Audit Committee received
areportfromKPMG describingits
independence, controlsand current
practicesto safeguard and maintain
auditorindependence. KPMG confirmed
thatthey did not perform any work with
respecttothe preparation of the financial
statements orvaluations, the taking of
management decisions, or provision
ofinvestmentadvice.

The Audit Committee also focused on
the non-audit services, which requires
the consent of the Audit Committee,
adescription of whichisshowninthe
table below.

Review of Interim
Financial Statements

Areview of the Company'sinterim financial statements was
undertaken by KPMGin 2022.

There was no other non-auditwork
performed by KPMG during the year other
than described above. The Audit
Committee was satisfied that the level of
non-audit services did not conflict with
their statutory audit responsibilities.

The Audit Committee reviewed the
effectiveness and independence of the
Auditorand believes that the performance
ofthe Independent Auditor remains
satisfactory, and that they provide effective
challenge to the Board and the Investment
Manager. The Audit Committee continues
to monitor the performance of the

Independent Auditor annually and
considerstheirindependence and
objectivity, having due regard to the
appropriate guidelines. KPMG were
reappointed afteran opentender process
completedin 2019.

The Audit Committee hasa policy to
conductatender process atleastevery
10yearsandto rotate auditors atleast
every 20 years, asrecommended by the
UK Statutory Auditors and Third Country
Auditors Regulations 2016.

Committee evaluation

The Board underwentan external
evaluation during 2022. Thisencompassed
the contribution made by the Board's
Committees, including an appraisal of the
respective Committee Chairsand an
evaluation of the competence and
performance of the Audit Committee and
itsindividual membersin understanding
the security of the Company’s Annual
Reportand Accounts prior to publication.
The external evaluator was satisfied that
the Audit Committee was chaired
efficientlyandinclusively andthata
proactive approach was taken to prepare
forrelevantregulatory changes. Among
recommendations made by the external
evaluator forthe Board to consider, the
evaluator recommended the
commencement of the succession planning
forthe Chair of the Audit Committee to
allow for sufficienthandoverand
onboarding as required.

Aswith previous years, the Audit
Committee will conduct a self-appraisal
ofits performance for 2023.

Terms of reference

The Audit Committee’s terms of reference
were reviewed during the yearand the
Audit Committee concluded that they
remained relevantand up todate. The
terms of reference can be found on our
website atwww.nbprivateequitypartners.
com/en/investors/corporate-governance.

Conclusion

As Audit Committee Chairman, lwas
pleased with the work performed during
theyear.Inaddition, | was satisfied with the
level of work performed by the Investment
Manager, and the Administrator in relation
tothe preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statementsand the
thoroughness of the year-end audit process
conducted by KPMG.

John Martyn Falla
Audit Committee Chairman

24 April 2023
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

Annual financial report
and consolidated
financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing
the annualfinancial reportand
consolidated financial statementsin
accordance with applicable law and
regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to
prepare consolidated financial statements
foreachfinancial year. Underthe law they
have chosento prepare the consolidated
financial statementsin conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles
("U.S.GAAP")and applicable law.

Under company law the Directors must not
approve the consolidated financial
statements unless they are satisfied that
they give atrue and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of its profit or loss
forthat period. In preparing these financial
statements, the Directors are required to:

= Selectsuitable accounting policies and
thenapply them consistently;

= Make judgmentsand estimatesthatare
reasonable, relevantand reliable;

= State whetherapplicable accounting
standards have been followed,
subjecttoany material departures
disclosed and explainedin the
financial statements;

= Assessthe Group's ability to continue asa
going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern; and

= Use the going concern basis of accounting
unlessliquidationisimminent.

The Directors are responsible for keeping
properaccounting records thatare
sufficientto show and explain the
Company'stransactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy atanytimethe
financial position of the Company and
enablethem to ensure that the financial
statements comply with The Companies
(Guernsey) Law, 2008 (asamended). They
areresponsible for such internal controls as
they determineis necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether
duetofraudorerror,and have general
responsibility for taking such stepsas are
reasonably opentothemto safeguardthe
assets of the Company andto preventand
detectfraud and otherirregularities.

Disclosure of information
to Auditor

The Directors confirmed that, so far as they
were each aware, thereis norelevant audit
information of which the Company’s
Auditor was unaware; and each Director
took all the steps that he/she oughtto have
taken as a Director to make himself/herself
aware of any relevant auditinformation
andto establish thatthe Company’s
Auditoris aware of thatinformation.
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

Responsibility statement
of the Directors in respect
of the annual financial
report

The Directors confirmed that, to the best of
theirknowledge:

= The consolidated financial statements,
preparedin conformity with U.S. GAAP,
give atrue and fairview of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit or
loss of the Company and the
undertakingsincludedinthe
consolidation taken asawholeas
required by the Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules ("DTR")4.1.12Rand
are in compliance with the requirements
setoutin The Companies (Guernsey) Law,
2008 (asamended); and

The annualfinancial reportincludes a fair
review of the information required by DTR
4.1.8Rand DTR4.1.11R of the Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules, which
providesanindication of important
eventsthathave occurred since the end of
the financial yearand thelikely future
development of the Company and a
description of principal risks and
uncertainties during the year.

We consider thatthe annual financial
reportand consolidated financial
statements, taken as a whole, are fair,
balanced and understandable and provide
theinformation necessary for shareholders
to assessthe Company’s position and
performance, business model and strategy.

The Directorsare responsible forthe
maintenance and integrity of the corporate
andfinancialinformationincluded onthe
Company's website, and forthe
preparation and dissemination of financial
statements. Legislation in Guernsey
governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may
differ fromlegislation in otherjurisdictions.

By orderofthe Board
William Maltby
Director

John Martyn Falla
Director

Date: 24 April 2023
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Independent Auditor’s report

Our opinion is unmodified

We have audited the consolidated

financial statements of NB Private Equity
Partners Limited (the "Company”) and

its subsidiaries (together, the "Group”),
which comprise the consolidated balance
sheetandthe consolidated condensed
schedule of private equity investments

asat 31 December 2022, the consolidated
statements of operations and changesinnet
assetsand cash flows forthe yearthen ended,
and notes, comprising significantaccounting
policiesand other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying
consolidated financial statements:

= giveatrue andfairview of the financial
position of the Group asat 31 December
2022,and of the Group's financial
performance and cash flows for the year
thenended;

= are preparedinaccordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles
("USGAAP"); and

= comply with the Companies (Guernsey)
Law, 2008.

ndependent Auditor’s report

tothe members of NB Private Equity Partners Limited

Basis for opinion

Valuation of private
equity investments

Therisk

Ourresponse

We conducted our auditin accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK)
(“ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities are described below. We have
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and
areindependent of the Company and Group
inaccordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard as required
by the Crown Dependencies’ Audit Rules

and Guidance. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is a sufficient

and appropriate basis for our opinion.

$1,401,430,601;
(2021:$1,569,276,895)

Refertopages66to 70
ofthe Audit Committee
Report, pages 79to 80
ofthe consolidated
condensed schedule

of private equity
investments, note 2
accounting policyand
note 3 disclosures

Key audit matters: our
assessment of the risks
of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that,

inour professional judgment, were of
mostsignificance inthe audit of the
consolidated financial statementsand include
the mostsignificant assessed risks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud)
identified by us, including those which had
the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resourcesin the
audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagementteam. These matters were
addressed inthe context of ourauditof the
consolidated financial statements as awhole,
andin forming our opinion thereon, and we
donot provide a separate opinion on these
matters. Inarriving atour audit opinion
above, the key audit matter was as follows
(unchanged from 2021):

Basis:

The Group's private equity
investment portfolio represents
the mostssignificant balance onthe
consolidated balance sheetand is
the principal driver of the Group's
netassetvalue (2022: 105.4%;
2021:105.9%). The investment
portfoliois comprised of direct
equity and fund investments
("Direct Equity Investments”) and
Income Investments (together
the “Investments”).

Certain Direct Equity Investments,
representing 82% of the fairvalue
of Investments, are valued using
the netassetvalue as practical
expedientin conformity with U.S.
GAAPto determinethe fairvalue
of the underlying Direct Equity
Investments, adjusted if considered
necessary by the Investment
Manager. The remaining Direct
Equity Investments, representing
10% of the fairvalue of
Investments, are valued using
comparable company multiples,
third party valuation orlisted
prices, asapplicable.

Income Investments, representing
8% ofthe fairvalue of Investments,
arevalued based onvaluation
modelsthattakeinto accountthe
factorsrelevantto eachinvestment
and use relevant third party market
datawhere available ("Model
Valuations”). Any remaining
Income Investments are valued
using third party data sources.

Ouraudit proceduresincluded:
Controls evaluation:

We tested the design and implementation
ofthe Investment Manager's review control
inrelation to the valuation of Investments.

Challenging managements’
assumptions and inputs including
use of KPMG valuation specialist:

Forall Investments we assessed the
appropriateness of the valuation technique
usedto estimate fairvalue.

Foraselection of Direct Equity Investments,

chosen onthe basis of their fairvalue:

= \We confirmed their fair values to supporting
information, including audited information
where available, such as: financial
statements, limited partner capital account
statements, lead sponsor or co-investor
information or otherinformation provided
by the underlying funds’ general partners,
investee managersorsimilar.

Forinvestments using a guideline public
companies multipleapproach, we obtained
thevaluation provided by the sponsorand
assessed assumptions based on observable
marketdata. We assessed the reliability of
information obtained.

= Forunaudited information we either
obtained the information directly or assessed
the Investment Manager's process for
obtaining thisinformation and conducted
retrospective testing to confirmits reliability.

= Foraudited information, we assessed the
appropriateness of the accounting
framework utilized and whether the audit
opinion was modified.

Forlisted Direct Equity Investments we
independently priced these to a third
party source.
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Independent Auditor’s report

Valuation of private

equity investments Therisk

Ourresponse

Risk:

The valuation of the Group's
Investmentsis considered a
significantarea of our audit,
giventhatitrepresentsthe
majority of the net assets of
the Group. The valuation risk
incorporates both arisk of fraud
and error given the significance
of estimatesand judgements
thatmaybeinvolvedinthe
determination of fairvalue.

Foraselection of Income Investments, chosen
onthe basis of their fair value, where market
quotes were available, we used our KPMG
valuation specialist toindependently value
them based on prices obtained from third
party pricing vendors.

Forthe remaining population of Income
Investments, we made a selection of
Model Valuations, chosen onthe basis of
theirfairvalue. We corroborated key inputs
inthe Model Valuationsto supporting
documentation such asmanagement

accounts. With the support of our KPMG
valuation specialist, we challenged the key
assumptionsused, such ascomparable
multiples and marketyields.

Assessing transparency:

We also considered the Group's disclosures
(see Note 3) inrelation to the use of estimates
andjudgments regarding the fairvalue of
investmentsandthe Group’sinvestment
valuation policies adopted and the fairvalue
disclosuresin note 2 and note 3 for conformity
with U.S. GAAP.

Our application of materiality and an
overview of the scope of our audit

Materiality for the consolidated financial statements
asawholewassetat $27,100,000, determined with
referencetoabenchmark of group netassets of
$1,329,213,546, of which it represents approximately
2.0% (2021:2.0%).

Inline with ouraudit methodology, our procedures on
individual accountbalances and disclosures were
performedto alowerthreshold, performance
materiality, so astoreduceto an acceptable level the
risk thatindividually immaterial misstatementsin
individual accountbalances add up to a material
amountacross the financial statementsasawhole.
Performance materiality for the Group was setat
75.0% (2021: 75.0%) of materiality for the financial
statementsasawhole, which equatesto $20,300,000.

We applied this percentage in our determination of
performance materiality because we did notidentify
any factorsindicating an elevated level of risk.

We reported to the Audit Committee any corrected
oruncorrected identified misstatements exceeding
$1,350,000, in addition to other identified
misstatements that warranted reporting on
qualitative grounds.

Ourauditofthe Group was undertaken to the
materiality level specified above, which hasinformed
ouridentification of significant risks of material
misstatementand the associated audit procedures
performedinthose areas as detailed above.

The group team performed the audit of the Group as if
itwasasingle aggregated set of financial information.
The audit was performed using the materiality level
setoutaboveand covered 100% of total group
revenue, total group profit before tax, and total group
assetsand liabilities.

Going concern

Thedirectors have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the going concern
basis as they do notintendto liquidate the
Group orthe Company orto cease their
operations, and as they have concluded that
the Group andthe Company's financial
position means that thisis realistic. They have
also concluded thatthere are no material
uncertainties that could have castsignificant
doubtovertheirability to continue asa going
concernforatleastayearfrom the date of
approval of the consolidated financial
statements (the "going concern period”).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions,
we considered the inherentrisks to the Group
and the Company’s business model and
analysed how those risks might affect the
Group and the Company's financial resources
or ability to continue operations over the
going concern period. Therisksthat we
considered mostlikely to affect the Group and
the Company'’s financial resources or ability
to continue operations over this period were:

= Availability of capital to meet operating
costsand other financial commitments;

= The ability of the Group to comply with
debt covenants; and

= The ability of the Companyto repay the
outstanding Zero Dividend Preference
sharesupon their maturity

We considered whether theserisks could
plausibly affect the liquidity inthe going
concern period by comparing severe, but
plausible downside scenarios that could
arise fromtheserisksindividually and
collectively against the level of available
financial resourcesindicated by the
Group'sfinancial forecasts.

We considered whether the going concern
disclosurein note 2 to the financial statements
givesafulland accurate description of the
directors’ assessment of going concern.

Our conclusions based on this work:

= we considerthatthedirectors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting inthe
preparation of the consolidated financial
statementsisappropriate;

= we have notidentified,and concurwith
the directors’ assessment thatthereisnot,
amaterial uncertainty related to events
or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt
onthe Group and the Company’s ability to
continue asagoing concernforthe going
concern period; and

we have nothing material toadd or

draw attention toinrelation to the directors’
statementinthe notesto the consolidated
financial statements on the use of the going
concern basis of accounting with no material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
overthe Group and the Company's use of
thatbasis forthe going concern period, and
that statementis materially consistent with
the consolidated financial statementsand
ourauditknowledge.

However, aswe cannot predictall future
eventsor conditionsand as subsequent
events mayresultin outcomesthatare
inconsistent with judgements that were
reasonable atthe time they were made,
the above conclusions are notaguarantee
thatthe Group andthe Company will
continue in operation.
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Independent Auditor’s report

Fraud and breaches of laws and
regulations —ability to detect

Identifying and responding to risks of
material misstatement due to fraud

Toidentify risks of material misstatement due
tofraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or
conditions that could indicate anincentive or
pressure to commit fraud or provide an
opportunity tocommitfraud. Our risk
assessment proceduresincluded:

= enquiring of managementasto the Group's
policiesand proceduresto preventand
detect fraud as well asenquiring whether
management have knowledge of any
actual, suspected oralleged fraud;

= reading minutes of meetings of those
charged with governance; and

= using analytical procedurestoidentify any
unusual orunexpected relationships.

Asrequired by auditing standards, and taking
into account possibleincentives or pressures
to misstate performance and our overall
knowledge of the control environment,

we perform proceduresto address the risk

of managementoverride of controls, in
particulartherisk that managementmay bein
apositionto make inappropriate accounting
entries, and therisk of biasin accounting
estimates such asvaluation of unquoted
investments. Onthisaudit we do not believe
thereisafraudrisk related torevenue
recognition because the Group's revenue
streams are simple in nature with respect
toaccounting policy choice,and are easily
verifiable to external data sources or
agreementswith little or norequirement
forestimation from management. We did
notidentify any additional fraud risks.

We performed proceduresincluding:

= identifying journal entries and other
adjustmentsto testbased onrisk criteria
and comparing any identified entries to
supporting documentation;

= incorporating an element of unpredictability
inouraudit procedures; and

= assessing significantaccounting estimates
forbias

Furtherdetail in respect of valuation of
unquoted investmentsissetoutinthe
key audit matter section of inthisreport.

Identifying and responding to
risks of material misstatement
due to non-compliance with laws
and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations
that could reasonably be expected to have a
material effect on the consolidated financial
statements from our sector experience and
through discussion with management (as
required by auditing standards), and from
inspection of the Group'sregulatory and
legal correspondence, if any, and discussed
with managementthe policiesand
procedures regarding compliance with laws
andregulations. Asthe Groupisregulated,
ourassessment of risksinvolved gaining an
understanding of the control environment
including the entity's procedures for
complying with regulatory requirements.

The Groupis subjecttolaws and regulations
thatdirectly affect the consolidated financial
statementsincluding financial reporting
legislation and taxation legislation and we
assessed the extent of compliance with these
laws and regulations as part of our procedures
ontherelated financial statementitems.

The Groupissubjectto otherlawsand
regulations where the consequences of
non-compliance could have a material effect
onamountsordisclosuresin the consolidated
financial statements, forinstance through
theimposition of fines or litigation orimpacts
onthe Group and the Company’s ability to
operate. We identified financial services
regulation as being the area most likely to
have such an effect, recognising the regulated
nature of the Group'sactivitiesand itslegal
form. Auditing standardslimit the required
audit procedures to identify non-compliance
with these laws and regulations to enquiry of
managementand inspection of regulatory
andlegal correspondence, ifany. Therefore
if a breach of operational regulationsis not
disclosed to us orevident from relevant
correspondence, an audit will not detect
thatbreach.

Context of the ability of the audit
to detect fraud or breaches of
law or regulation

Owingtotheinherentlimitations of an audit,
thereisan unavoidable risk that we may not
have detected some material misstatements
inthe consolidated financial statements,
eventhough we have properly planned and
performed ourauditin accordance with
auditing standards. Forexample, the further
removed non-compliance with laws and
regulationsis fromthe eventsand
transactions reflected in the consolidated
financial statements, the less likely the
inherently limited procedures required by
auditing standards would identify it.

Inaddition, as with any audit, there remains
ahigherrisk of non-detection of fraud, as this
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, orthe override
ofinternal controls. Our audit procedures are
designed to detect material misstatement.
We are notresponsible for preventing
non-compliance orfraud and cannot be
expectedto detect non-compliance with
alllaws and regulations.

Otherinformation

Thedirectorsare responsible for the other
information. The otherinformation comprises
theinformationincluded inthe annual
financial reportbut doesnotinclude the
consolidated financial statementsand our
auditor'sreportthereon. Ouropinion onthe
consolidated financial statements does not
cover the otherinformation and we do not
expressan auditopinion orany form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connectionwith ouraudit of the
consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility isto read the otherinformation
and, indoingso, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or
ourknowledge obtainedin the audit, or
otherwise appearsto be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement
ofthisotherinformation, we are required to
reportthatfact. We have nothingtoreport
inthisregard.
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Independent Auditor’s report

Disclosures of emerging
and principal risks and
longer term viability

We are required to perform procedures
toidentify whetherthereis a material
inconsistency between the directors’
disclosuresinrespect of emerging and
principal risks and the viability statement,
andthe consolidated financial statements
and ourauditknowledge. We have nothing
materialto add ordraw attentiontoin
relation to:

® thedirectors’ confirmation within the
viability statement (pages 45 and 46) that
they have carried out a robust assessment of
the emerging and principal risks facing the
Group, including those that would threaten
its business model, future performance,
solvency orliquidity;

the emerging and principal risks disclosures
describing these risks and explaining how
they are being managed or mitigated;

the directors’ explanationin the viability
statement (pages 45 and 46) as to how they
have assessed the prospects of the Group,
overwhat period they have done so and why
they considerthat period to be appropriate,
and their statement asto whetherthey have
areasonable expectation that the Group will
beableto continue in operation and meet
its liabilities as they fall due over the period
of theirassessment, including any related
disclosures drawing attentionto any
necessary qualifications orassumptions.

We are also required to review the viability
statement, setouton pages45and 46 under
the Listing Rules. Based on the above
procedures, we have concluded that the
above disclosures are materially consistent
with the consolidated financial statements
and ourauditknowledge.

Corporate governance disclosures

We are required to perform procedures
toidentify whether thereisa material
inconsistency between the directors’
corporate governance disclosuresand
the consolidated financial statements and
ourauditknowledge.

Based onthose procedures, we have
concluded thateach of the following is
materially consistent with the consolidated
financial statementsand our audit
knowledge:

® the directors’ statement thatthey consider
thatthe annualfinancial reportand
consolidated financial statementstakenasa
wholeis fair, balanced and understandable,
and provides theinformation necessary
forshareholdersto assessthe Group's
position and performance, business model
andstrategy;

the section of the annual financial report
describing the work of the Audit Committee,
including the significantissues that the audit
committee consideredinrelationtothe
financial statements, and how these issues
were addressed; and

the section of the annual financial report
thatdescribesthe review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk
managementand internal control systems.

We are required to review the part of
Corporate Governance Statementrelating to
the Group’s compliance with the provisions of
the UK Corporate Governance Code specified
by the Listing Rules for our review. We have
nothingtoreportinthisrespect.

We have nothing toreporton
other matters on whichwe are
required to report by exception

We have nothing toreportinrespect of the
following matters where the Companies
(Guernsey) Law, 2008 requires us to report
toyouif,in ouropinion:

= the Company has not kept proper
accounting records; or

® the consolidated financial statements are
notinagreementwith the accounting
records; or

® we have notreceived all the information
and explanations, which to the best of our
knowledge and belief are necessary for
the purpose of our audit.

Respective responsibilities
Directors’ responsibilities

Asexplained more fullyintheir statement
setoutonpages?71and72,thedirectorsare
responsible for: the preparation of the
consolidated financial statementsincluding
being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view; suchinternal control asthey determine
isnecessaryto enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements thatare
free from material misstatement, whether
duetofraud orerror; assessing the Group
and Company's ability to continue asa going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless liquidation
isimminent.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance aboutwhetherthe consolidated
financial statementsasawhole are free
from material misstatement, whether
duetofraudorerror,andtoissue our
opinioninanauditor'sreport.

Reasonableassuranceisa high level of
assurance, butdoes not guarantee thatan
auditconductedin accordance with ISAs (UK)
will always detect a material misstatement
whenitexists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud orerrorand are considered material if,
individually orin aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected toinfluence the
economicdecisions of users taken on the basis
ofthe consolidated financial statements.

Afullerdescription of our responsibilities
is provided on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of this report and
restrictions on its use by persons
otherthan the Company’s
members as abody

Thisreportis made solely to the Company's
members, asabody, in accordance with
section 262 of the Companies (Guernsey) Law,
2008 and, inrespect of any further matterson
which we have agreed to report, onterms we
have agreed with the Company. Our audit
work has been undertaken sothat we might
state tothe Company’s membersthose
matterswe are required to state tothemin
anauditor'sreportand for no other purpose.
Tothe fullest extent permitted by law, we do
notacceptorassume responsibility to anyone
otherthanthe Company andthe Company’s
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Neale Jehan

Forand onbehalf of KPMG Channel
Islands Limited

Chartered Accountantsand
Recognised Auditors

Guernsey

24 April 2023
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Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets

31 December2022 and 31 December 2021

2022 2021
Assets
Private equity investments
Cost of $840,971,544 at 31 December 2022 and $870,294,049 at 31 December 2021 $1,401,430,601 $1,569,276,895
Cash and cash equivalents 7,034,276 116,486,687
Otherassets 2,662,851 3,524,339
Distributions and sales proceeds receivable from investments 199,924 280,977
Total assets $1,411,327,652  $1,689,568,898

Liabilities and share capital

Liabilities:

ZDP Share liability

$72,800,912

$161,985,696

Carried interest payable to Special Limited Partner - 37,341,460
Payablesto Investment Manager and affiliates 5,177,372 5,801,910
Accrued expensesand other liabilities 4,126,709 2,206,415
Net deferred tax liability 9,113 -
Total liabilities $82,114,106  $207,335,481
Share capital:

Class AShares, $0.01 parvalue, 500,000,000 shares authorised,

49,911,438 sharesissued and 46,761,030 shares outstanding $499,115 $499,115
Class B Shares, $0.01 parvalue, 100,000 shares authorised,

10,000 shares issued and outstanding 100 100
Additional paid-in capital 496,559,065 496,559,065
Retained earnings 839,456,403 992,368,962
Less cost of treasury stock purchased (3,150,408 shares) (9,248,460) (9,248,460)
Total net assets of the controlling interest 1,327,266,223  1,480,178,782
Net assets of the noncontrollinginterest 1,947,323 2,054,635
Total net assets $1,329,213,546  $1,482,233,417
Total liabilities and net assets $1,411,327,652 $1,689,568,898
Net asset value per share for Class A Shares and Class B Shares $28.38 $31.65
Net asset value per share for Class A Shares and Class B Shares (GBP) £23.59 £23.37
Net asset value per 2022 ZDP Share (Pence) - 123.08
Net asset value per 2024 ZDP Share (Pence) 121.04 116.11

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 April 2023 and signed on its behalf by

William Maltby JohnFalla

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

140d3d DID31VHLS

IDNVNYIAOD

STVIDONVNIL

43H1O

Z2oz Moday enuuy siaulled Ainb3aleAud gn



Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Condensed schedules of private equity investments

31 December2022 and 31 December 2021

Unfunded Private Equity™
Private equity investments Cost FairValue Commitment Exposure
2022
Directequity investments
NB Alternatives Direct Co-investment Program A $46,212,909 $39,055,204 $18,274,463 $57,329,667
NB Alternatives Direct Co-investment Program B 74,940,419 174,540,368 20,794,076 195,334,444
NB Renaissance Programs 7,791,651 20,790,191 10,537,743 31,327,934
NB Healthcare Credit Investment Program (Equity) 1,599,864 8,018 4,146,718 4,154,736
Marquee Brands 26,133,313 28,544,245 3,410,816 31,955,061
Direct equity investments?©) 574,858,103  1,023,499,804 3,731,282 1,027,231,086
Total direct equity investments $731,536,259  $1,286,437,830 $60,895,098  $1,347,332,928
Income Investments
NB Credit Opportunities Program 27,823,406 39,650,000 11,981,976 51,631,976
NB Specialty Finance Program 27,708,871 27,524,276 15,000,000 42,524,276
Income investments 44,071,383 40,148,251 - 40,148,251
Totalincomeinvestments $99,603,660 $107,322,527 $26,981,976 $134,304,503
Fundinvestments 9,831,625 7,670,244 8,169,742 15,839,986
Total investments $840,971,544 $1,401,430,601 $96,046,816 $1,497,477,417
2021
Directequityinvestments
NB Alternatives Direct Co-investment Program A $46,142,215 $45,903,484 $18,274,463 $64,177,947
NB Alternatives Direct Co-investment Program B® 83,646,928 192,329,730 21,476,452 213,806,182
NB Renaissance Programs 9,677,956 20,844,892 14,059,072 34,903,964
NB Healthcare Credit Investment Program (Equity) 2,545,471 1,256,065 4,146,718 5,402,783
Marquee Brands 26,015,569 32,688,590 3,410,816 36,099,406
Direct equity investments® 568,497,871 1,137,186,554 31,455,857 1,168,642,411
Total direct equity investments $736,526,010  $1,430,209,315 $92,823,378  $1,523,032,693
Income Investments
NB Credit Opportunities Program 33,911,457 49,004,673 11,981,976 60,986,649
NB Specialty Finance Program 39,064,395 38,882,486 15,000,000 53,882,486
Income investments 45,607,166 37,226,870 - 37,226,870
Total incomeinvestments $118,583,018 $125,114,029 $26,981,976 $152,096,005
Fundinvestments 15,185,021 13,953,551 9,537,154 23,490,705
Total investments $870,294,049 $1,569,276,895 $129,342,508 $1,698,619,403

(1): Private equity exposure is the sum of fair value and unfunded commitment.

(2): Includes direct equity investments into companies and co-investment vehicles.

(3): Thisincludes investment(s) above 5% of net asset value. See Note 3.

140d3d DID31VHLS

IDNVNYIAOD

STVIDONVNIL

43H1O

Z2oz Moday enuuy siaulled Ainb3aleAud gn



Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Condensed schedules of private equity investments

31 December2022 and 31 December 2021

FairValue FairValue
Geographicdiversity of private equity investments 2022 2021
North America $1,024,091,245 $1,135,687,289
Europe 325,117,876 376,021,623
Asia / restof world 52,221,480 57,567,983
$1,401,430,601 $1,569,276,895
Industry diversity of private equity investments® 2022 2021
Consumer 19.9% 19.5%
Technology /IT 18.0% 18.2%
Industrials 15.3% 18.2%
Financial services 14.3% 9.8%
Businessservices 12.2% 13.8%
Healthcare 10.0% 9.7%
Diversified / undisclosed / other 5.3% 6.2%
Communications / media 2.6% 2.7%
Energy 1.3% 0.9%
Transportation 1.1% 1.0%
100.0% 100.0%
Assetclass diversification of private equity investments® 2022 2021
Direct Equity Investments
Mid-cap buyout 47.1% 49.0%
Large-cap buyout 32.4% 30.0%
Special situation 7.8% 8.0%
Growth equity 4.8% 4.0%
Income investments 7.7% 8.0%
Growth / venture funds 0.2% 1.0%
100.0% 100.0%

(1): Geographyis determined by location of the headquarters of the underlying portfolio companies in funds and direct co-investments. A portion of our fund investments may relate to cash or other assets or liabilities
thatthey hold and for which we do not have adequate information to assign ageographiclocation.

(2): Industry diversity is based on underlying portfolio companies and direct co-investments which may be held through either co-investments or NB-managed vehicles.
(3): Asset class diversification is based on the net asset value of underlying fund investments and co-investments.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statements of operations and changes in net assets

Fortheyearsended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021

2022 2021
Interest and dividend income (net of foreign withholding taxes of $7,261 for 2022 and $5,180 for 2021) $4,544,339 $5,725,688
Expenses
Investment management and services 21,144,589 22,483,005
Carried interest - 37,232,789
Finance costs
Credit facility 5,999,532 4,084,128
ZDP Shares 6,039,881 6,942,354
Administration and professional fees 4,485,332 4,324,409
37,669,334 75,066,685
Net investment income (loss) $(33,124,995) $(69,340,997)
Realised and unrealised gains (losses)
Net realised gain on investments, translation of foreign currencies, and forward foreign exchange contracts, net of tax expense (benefit) of $2,260,993
for2022 and $756,098 for 2021 $51,179,567 $212,372,218
Net change in unrealised gain (loss) on investments and forward foreign exchange contracts, net of tax expense (benefit) of $9,113 for 2022 and $0
for2021 (127,109,675) 319,700,846
Netrealised and changein unrealised gain (loss) (75,930,108) 532,073,064
Netincrease (decrease) in netassets resulting from operations $(109,055,103)  $462,732,067
Less net (increase) decrease in netassets resulting from operations attributable to the noncontrolling interest 107,312 (529,393)
Netincrease (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations attributable to the controlling interest $(108,947,791)  $462,202,674
Netassets atbeginning of period attributable to the controlling interest 1,480,178,782 1,051,651,249
Lessdividend payment (43,964,768) (33,675,141)
Net assets at end of period attributable to the controlling interest $1,327,266,223  $1,480,178,782
Earnings (loss) per share for Class A Shares and Class B Shares of the controlling interest $(2.33) $9.88
Earnings (loss) per share for Class A Shares and Class B Shares of the controlling interest (GBP) £(1.88) £7.18

The accompanying notes are anintegral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statements of cash flows

Fortheyearsended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021

2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Netincrease (decrease) in netassets resulting from operations attributable to the controlling interest $(108,947,791) $462,202,674
Netincrease (decrease) in netassets resulting from operations attributable to the noncontrolling interest (107,312) 529,393
Adjustments to reconcile netincrease (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Net realised (gain) loss on investments and forward foreign exchange contracts, net of tax expense (51,179,567)  (212,372,218)
Netchangein unrealised (gain) loss on investments, translation of foreign currencies, and forward foreign exchange contracts, net of tax expense 127,109,675 (319,700,846)
Contributions to private equity investments (3,664,041) (19,918,366)
Purchases of private equity investments (36,203,158)  (147,086,034)
Distributions from private equity investments 55,978,140 105,532,235
Proceeds from sale of private equity investments 63,520,093 281,199,375
In-kind payment of interestincome (3,840,330) (4,361,301)
Amortisation of finance costs 647,746 719,878
Amortisation of purchase premium/discount (OID), net (56,667) (311,331)
Changein other assets 283,491 1,042,713
Change in payables to Investment Manager and affiliates (37,965,276) 23,345,213
Changein accrued expenses and other liabilities 5,315,280 5,502,828
Net cash provided by operating activities 10,890,283 176,324,213
Cash flows fromfinancing activities:
Dividend payment (43,964,768) (33,675,141)
Redemption of 2022 Zero Dividend Preference Shares (68,100,570) -
Borrowings from credit facility 30,000,000 15,000,000
Payments to credit facility (30,000,000) (50,000,000)
Settlement of the forward foreign exchange contract and ongoing hedging activity - 5,792,625
Net cash used in financing activities (112,065,338) (62,882,516)
Effect of exchange rates on cash balances (8,277,356) -
Netincrease (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (109,452,411) 113,441,697
Cashand cash equivalents at beginning of period 116,486,687 3,044,990
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $7,034,276 $116,486,687
Supplemental cash flow information
Credit facility financing costs paid $5,552,971 $3,658,042
Net taxes paid (refunded) $(22,805) $1,268,764

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 1-Description of the Group

NB Private Equity Partners Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries, collectively (the
"Group”)is a closed-ended investment company registered in Guernsey. The registered
officeis Floor 2, Trafalgar Court, St Peter Port, Guernsey, GY 1 4LY. The principal activity of
the Groupistoinvestin direct private equity investments by co-investing alongside leading
private equity sponsorsintheir core areas of expertise. The Company’s Class A Shares are
listed and admitted to trading on the Premium Segment of the Main Market of the London
Stock Exchange ("Main Market") under the symbols “NBPE” and “NBPU" corresponding to
Sterlingand U.S. dollar quotes, respectively. NBPE has a class of Zero Dividend Preference
("ZDP") Shares maturing in 2024 (see note 5) which s listed and admitted to trading on the
Specialist Fund Segment of the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange (“Specialist
Fund Segment”) underthe symbol “NBPS".

The Groupis managed by NB Alternatives Advisers LLC (“Investment Manager”),
asubsidiary of Neuberger Berman Group LLC (“NBG"), pursuantto an Investment
Management Agreement. The Investment Manager serves as the registered investment
adviserunderthe Investment Advisers Act of 1940.

Note 2 —Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial
position, profit orloss and cash flows and have been prepared in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP") and are in compliance with the
Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 (asamended). All adjustments considered necessary for
the fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements for the periods presented
have beenincluded. These consolidated financial statements are presentedin U.S. dollars.

The Groupisaninvestment company and follows the accounting and reporting guidance
in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") Accounting Standards Codification Topic
("ASC")946. Accordingly, the Group reflectsitsinvestments on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets at their estimated fair values, with unrealised gains and losses resulting from
changesinfairvalue reflectedin net changein unrealised gain (loss) on investments and
forward foreign exchange contractsin the Consolidated Statements of Operationsand
Changesin Net Assets. The Group does not consolidate majority-owned or controlled
portfolio companies. The Group does not provide any financial supportto any of its
investments beyond the investmentamount to which it committed.

The Directors considered thatitis appropriate to adopt a going concern basis of
accountingin preparing the consolidated financial statements. In reaching this
assessment, the Directors have considered awide range of informationrelating to present
and future conditionsincluding the balance sheets, future projections, cash flows and the
longer-term strategy of the business.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statementsinclude accounts of the Company consolidated with
theaccounts of allits subsidiariesin which it holds a controlling financial interest as of the
financial statement date. Allinter-group balances have been eliminated.

The Company'’s partially owned subsidiary, NB PEP Investments, LP (incorporated) is
incorporatedin Guernsey.

The Company's wholly-owned subsidiaries, NB PEP Holdings Limited, NB PEP Investments|, LP,
NB PEP Investments LP Limited and NB PEP Investments Limited are incorporated in Guernsey.

The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, NB PEP Investments DE, LPisincorporatedin
Delaware and operating in the United States.

Use of Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP
requires the Directors to make estimates and judgements that affect the reported
amounts of certain assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Thefollowing estimates and assumptions were used at 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021 to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments:

= Cashand cash equivalents—The carrying value reasonably approximates fair value due to
the short-term nature of these instruments.

= Forward currency contracts are revalued using the forward exchange rate prevailing at
the Consolidated Balance Sheet date.

= Otherassets (excluding Forward currency contracts) - The carrying value reasonably
approximates fairvalue.

= Distributions and sales proceeds receivable frominvestments—The carrying value
reasonably approximates fairvalue.

= ZDP Share liability—The carrying value reasonably approximates fair value (see note 5).
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
continued

Use of Estimates and Judgements continued

= Carried interest payable to Special Limited Partner—The carrying value reasonably
approximates fairvalue.

= Payablesto Investment Manager and affiliates—The carrying value reasonably
approximates fairvalue.

= Accrued expensesand other liabilities—The carrying value reasonably approximates
fairvalue.

= Private equity investments—Furtherinformation on valuationis provided in the Fair Value
Measurements section below.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

InJune 2022, the FASBissued ASU 2022-03 Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement of Equity
Securities Subject to Contractual Sale Restrictions. ASU 2022-03 amends Topic 820 to clarify
thata contractual sale restrictionis not considered in measuring an equity security at fair
value. This update s effective for fiscal years beginning after 15 December 2024, and early
adoptionis permitted. The Group has early adopted and this guidance is not expected to
have a materialimpact on the Group's financial statements.

Fair Value Measurements

Itis expected that most of the investments in which the Group invests will meet the criteria
setforth under FASB ASC 820 Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures (“ASC820")
permitting the use of the practical expedient to determine the fair value of the
investments. ASC820 provides that, in valuing alternative investments that do not have
quoted market prices but calculate net assetvalue (“NAV") per share or equivalent, an
investor may determine fair value by using the NAV reported to the investor by the
underlyinginvestment. To the extent ASC820is applicable to an investment, the
Investment Manager will value the Group'sinvestment based primarily on the value
reported to the Group by the investment or by the lead investor / sponsor of a direct
co-investment as of each quarter-end, as determined by the investmentsin accordance
with its own valuation policies.

ASC820-10 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure establishes a fair value hierarchy

that prioritises the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy
gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets foridentical

assets orliabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs
(Level 3measurements). ASC820-10-35-39 to 55 provides three levels of the fair value
hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices are available in active markets foridentical investments as of the
reporting date.

Level 2: Pricing inputs are other than quoted pricesin active markets, which are either
directly orindirectly observable as of the reporting date.

Level 3: Pricing inputs are unobservable for the investment and include situations where
thereislittle, if any, market activity for the investment. The inputs used in the
determination of the fair value require significant management judgement or estimation.

Observable inputs refer broadly to the assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk, based on market data
obtained from sourcesindependent of the Group. Unobservable inputs reflect the Group's
own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would usein pricing the
asset orliability based on the information available. The inputs or methodology used for
valuing assets or liabilities may not be an indication of the risks associated with investing in
those assets or liabilities. The Group generally uses the NAV reported by the investments as
aprimaryinputinitsvaluation utilising the practical expedient method of determining fair
value; however, adjustments to the reported NAV may be made based on various factors,
including, but notlimited to, the attributes of the interest held, including the rights and
obligations, anyrestrictions or illiquidity on such interest, any potential clawbacks by the
investments and the fairvalue of the investments’ portfolio or other assets and liabilities.
Investments that are measured at fair value using the NAV per share (orits equivalent)
practical expedientare not categorised in the fair value hierarchy.

Realised Gains and Losses on Investments

Realised gains and losses from sales of investments are determined on a specific
identification basis. Forinvestmentsin private equity investments, the Group records its
share of realised gains and losses incurred when the Investment Manager knows that the
private equity investment has realised its interestin a portfolio company and the
Investment Manager has sufficientinformation to quantify the amount. For all other
investments, realised gainsand losses are recognised in the Consolidated Statements of
Operationsand Changesin Net Assetsin the yearin which they arise.

Net Change in Unrealised Gains and Losses on Investments

Gainsand losses arising from changesinvalue are recorded asanincrease ordecrease in
the unrealised gains or losses of investments based on the methodology described above.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
continued

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollar
amountsatthe reporting date. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies, including
purchases and sales of investments, and income and expenses, are translated into U.S.
dollaramounts on the date of such transactions. Adjustments arising from foreign
currency transactions are reflected in the net realised gain (loss) oninvestments and
forward foreign exchange contracts and the net change in unrealised gain (loss) on
investments and forward foreign exchange contracts on the Consolidated Statements

of Operationsand Changesin Net Assets.

The Group'sinvestments of which capital is denominated in foreign currency are translated
into U.S. dollarsbased onrates of exchange at the reporting date. The cumulative effect of
translationto U.S. dollars has decreased the fair value of the Group's foreign investments
by $24,580,105 for the year ended 31 December 2022. The cumulative effect of translation
to U.S. dollars decreased the fair value of the Group's foreign investments by $27,126,075
fortheyearended 31 December 2021.

OtherthantheZDP Sharesdenominatedin Sterling (see note 5 and note 6), the Group

has unfunded commitments denominated in currencies otherthan U.S. dollars. At

31 December 2022, the unfunded commitments thatare in Euros and Sterling amounted
t0€10,531,115and £32,138, respectively (31 December 2021: €13,033,970 and £34,225).
They have beenincludedinthe Consolidated Condensed Schedules of Private Equity
Investments atthe U.S. dollarexchange rates in effectat 31 December 2022 and

31 December 2021. The effect on the unfunded commitment of the changein the
exchange rates between Eurosand U.S. dollars was a decrease in the U.S. dollar obligations
of $759,592 for 31 December 2022 and a decrease in the U.S. dollar obligations of
$1,196,119 for 31 December 2021. The effect on the unfunded commitment of the change
inthe exchange rates between Sterlingand U.S. dollars was a decrease in the U.S. dollar
obligations of $5,212 for 31 December 2022 and an increase in the U.S. dollar obligations
of $2,124 for 31 December 2021.

Investment Transactions and Investment Income

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. Investments are
recognised when the Group incurs an obligation to acquire afinancial instrumentand
assume therisk of any gain orloss orincurs an obligation to sell a financial instrument and
foregotherisk of any gain orloss. Investment transactions that have notyet settled are
reported asreceivable frominvestment or payable to investment.

The Group earnsinterest and dividends from direct investments and from cash and cash
equivalents. The Group records dividends on the ex-dividend date, net of withholding tax,
ifany, and interest, on an accrual basis when earned, provided the Investment Manager
knowsthe information oris able toreliably estimate it. Otherwise, the Group records the
investmentincome whenitis reported by the private equity investments. Discounts
received or premiums paid in connection with the acquisition of loans are amortised into
interestincome using the effective interest method over the contractual life of the related
loan. Payment-in-kind (“PIK") interestis computed at the contractual rate specified in the
loanagreement for any portion of the interest which may be added to the principal
balance of aloanratherthan paidin cash by the obligator on the scheduled interest
paymentdate. PIKinterestis added to the principal balance of the loan and recorded as
interestincome. Prepayment premiums include fee income from securities settled prior to
maturity date, and are recorded as interestincome in the Consolidated Statements of
Operationsand Changesin Net Assets.

Fortheyearended 31 December 2022, total interest and dividend income was $4,544,339,
of which $57,782 was dividends, and $4,486,557 was interestincome. For the year ended
31 December 2021, total interest and dividend income was $5,725,688, of which $406,544
wasdividends, and $5,319,144 was interestincome.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash held in accounts at banks and liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less. Cash equivalents are carried at cost plus
accrued interest, which approximates fair value. At 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021, cash and cash equivalents consisted of $7,034,276 and $116,486,687 of cash,
respectively, primarily held in operating accounts with Bank of America Merrill Lynch.

Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term liquidity requirements,
ratherthan forinvestment purposes. Asof 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021,
there were no cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are subject to credit risk to the
extentthose balances exceed applicable Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC")
or Securities Investor Protection Corporation (“SIPC") limitations.

Income Taxes

The Companyisregisteredin Guernsey asan exempt company. The States of Guernsey
Income Tax Authority has granted the Group an exemption from Guernsey income tax
under the provision of the Income Tax (Exempt Bodies) (Guernsey) Ordinance 1989 and
the Group has been charged an annual exemption fee of £1,200 (2021: £1,200). Generally,
income that the Group derives fromthe investments may be subject to taxes imposed by
the U.S. orother countries and willimpact the Group's effective tax rate.

140d3d DID31VHLS

IDNVNYIAOD

STVIDONVNIL

43H1O

Z2oz Moday enuuy siaulled Ainb3aleAud gn



Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
continued

Income Taxes continued

Inaccordance with FASB ASC740-10, Income Taxes, the Group is required to determine
whetherits tax positions are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the
applicable taxing authority based on the technical merits of the position. Tax positions not
deemed to meeta more-likely-than-not threshold would be recorded as a tax expense in
the currentyear.

The Group filestax returns as prescribed by the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which it
operates.Inthe normal course of business, the Group is subject to examination by U.S.
federal, state, local and foreignjurisdictions, where applicable. The Group’s U.S. federal
incometaxreturns are open underthe normal three-year statute of limitations and
therefore subjectto examination. The Investment Manager does not expect that the total
amount of unrecognised tax benefits will materially change over the next twelve months.

Investments made in entities that generate U.S. source investmentincome may subject the
Groupto certain U.S. federal and state income tax consequences. AU.S. withholding tax at
the rate of 30% may be applied on the Group’s distributive share of any U.S. sourced
dividends and interest (subject to certain exemptions) and certain otherincome that the
Group receives directly or through one or more entities treated as either partnerships or
disregarded entities for U.S. federalincome tax purposes.

Investments made in entities that generate businessincome that s effectively connected
withaU.S.trade or business may subject the Group to certain U.S. federal and stateincome
tax consequences. Generally, the U.S.imposes withholding tax on effectively connected
income atthe highest U.S. rate (generally 21%). In addition, the Group may also be subject
to abranch profits tax which can beimposed at a rate of up to 23.7% of the after-tax profits
treated as effectively connected income associated with a U.S. trade or business. As such,
theaggregate U.S. taxliability on effectively connected income may approximate 44.7%
giventhetwo levels of tax.

The Group recognises a tax benefitin the consolidated financial statements only whenitis
more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination by the relevant
taxing authority based on the technical merits of the position. To date, the Group has not
provided any reserves for taxes as all related tax benefits have been fully recognised.
Although the Investment Manager believes uncertain tax positions have been adequately
assessed, the Investment Manager acknowledges that these matters require significant
judgementand noassurance can be given that the final tax outcome of these matters will
not be different.

Deferred taxes are recorded to reflect the tax benefitand consequences of future years’
differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting basis.
The Group records avaluation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets if itis more likely
than notthatsome portion orall of the deferred tax assets will not be realised. Management
subsequently adjusts the valuation allowance as the expected realisability of the deferred
taxassets changes such that the valuation allowance is sufficient to cover the portion of the
assetthatwill not be realised. The Group records the tax associated with any transactions
with U.S. or othertax consequences when the Group recognises the related income
(seenote 7).

Shareholdersin certainjurisdictions may have individual income tax consequences

from ownership of the Group’s shares. The Group has not accounted for any such tax
consequencesinthese consolidated financial statements. For example, the Investment
Manager expects the Group and certain of its non-U.S. corporate subsidiaries to be treated
as passive foreign investment corporations (“PFICs”) under U.S. tax rules. For this purpose,
the PFICregime should not give rise to additional tax at the level of the Group or its
subsidiaries. Instead, certain U.S. investorsin the Group may need to make tax elections
and comply with certain U.S. reporting requirements related to their investmentsin the
PFICsin orderto potentially manage the adverse U.S. tax consequences associated with
theregime.

Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts

Forward foreign exchange contracts are reported on the balance sheets at fairvalue and
included eitherin other assets oraccrued expenses and other liabilities, depending on each
contract’s unrealised position (appreciated / depreciated) relative to its notional value as of
the end of thereporting periods. See note 6.

Forward foreign exchange contracts involve elements of market risk in excess of the
amounts reflected on the consolidated financial statements. The Group bears the risk of
anunfavourable change in the foreign exchange rate underlying the forward foreign
exchange contractaswell asrisks from the potential inability of the counterparties to meet
the terms of their contracts.

Dividends to Shareholders

The Group pays dividends semi-annually to shareholders from netinvestmentincome and
netrealised gains oninvestments upon approval by the Board of Directors subject to the
passing of the ZDP Cover Test (see note 5) and the solvency test under Guernsey law.
Liabilities for dividends to shareholders are recorded on the ex-dividend date.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses are recognised when incurred. Operating expenses include amounts
directlyincurred by the Group as part of its operations, and do not include amounts
incurred from the operations of the Group's investments.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Carried Interest

Carriedinterestamounts due to the Special Limited Partner (an affiliate of the Investment Manager, see note 10) are computed and accrued at each period end based on period-to-date
resultsin accordance with the terms of the Third Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of NB PEP Investments LP (Incorporated). For the purposes of calculating the
incentive allocation payable to the Special Limited Partner, the value of any fund investments made by the Group in other Neuberger Berman Funds (“NB Funds”) in respect of which the
Investment Manager or an affiliate receives a fee or other remuneration shall be excluded from the calculation.

Note 3 - Investments

The Group investsin a diversified portfolio of direct private equity companies (see note 2). As required by ASC 820, financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on

thelowest level of input that s significant to the fair value measurement. The Group has assessed these positions and concluded that all private equity companies not valued using the

practical expedient, with the exception of marketable securities, are classified as either Level 2 or Level 3 due to significant unobservable inputs. Marketable securities distributed from
a private equity company are classified as Level 1. There were two marketable securities held by the Group as of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

The following table details the Group's financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value as of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 by level and fair value hierarchy.

Assets (Liabilities) Accounted for at Fair Value

Investments

measured at
Asof 31 December 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level3 netassetvalue' Total
Common stock $4,759,318 $8,987,311 $- $- $13,746,629
Private equity companies - - 195,780,024 1,191,903,948 1,387,683,972
Totals $4,759,318 $8,987,311 $195,780,024 $1,191,903,948 $1,401,430,601

Assets (Liabilities) Accounted for at Fair Value

Investments

measured at
Asof 31 December 2021 Level1 Level 2 Level3 netassetvalue' Total
Common stock $11,685,316 $27,192,165 $— $— $38,877,481
Private equity companies - - 207,680,425 1,322,718,989 1,530,399,414
Totals $11,685,316 $27,192,165 $207,680,425 $1,322,718,989  $1,569,276,895

(1) Certaininvestmentsthatare measured atfairvalue using the NAV pershare (orits equivalent) practical expedient have not been categorised in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in this table
areintended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented in the Consolidated Condensed Schedules of Private Equity Investments.

Significantinvestments:

At31December 2022, the Group's share of the following underlying private equity company exceeded 5% of net asset value.

FairValueasa

FairValue Percentage of
Company (Legal Entity Name) Industry Country 2022 netassetvalue
3i2020 Co-investment 1 SCSp (LP Interest) Consumer/Retail Netherlands $72,177,584 5.44%

140d3d DID31VHLS

IDNVNYIAOD

STVIDONVNIL

43H1O

Z2oz Moday enuuy siaulled Ainb3aleAud gn



Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 3 - Investments continued

Significantinvestments continued:

At 31December 2021, the Group's share of the following underlying private equity companies exceeded 5% of net asset value.

FairValueasa

FairValue Percentage of
Company (Legal Entity Name) Industry Country 2021 netassetvalue
THLEquity Fund VIl Investors (Automate), L.P." (LP Interest) Industrials Norway $97,393,384 6.58%
NB Bluebird S.a.r.l. (LP Interest) Business Services United Kingdom 87,293,710 5.90%
(1) The Companyisheld by NB Alternatives Direct Co-investment Program B and through a direct equity co-investment vehicle.
Thefollowing table summarises the changesin the fair value of the Group's Level 3 private equity investments for the year ended 31 December 2022.
For the Year Ended 31 December 2022
Total Private
(dollarsinthousands) Large-cap Buyout Mid-cap Buyout Special Situations Growth/Venture Incomelnvestments Equity Investments
Balance, 31 December 2021 $36,269 $93,070 $21,836 $19,279 $37,226 $207,680
Purchases of investments and/or contributions to investments - 7,290 1,760 202 - 9,252
Realised gain (loss) on investments - 8,915 58 387 3,887 13,247
Changesin unrealised gain (loss) of investmentsstill held at the reporting date 2,556 5,501 (9,204) 548 (966) (1,565)
Changesin unrealised gain (loss) ofinvestments sold during the period - (9,394) - (240) - (9,634)
Distributions frominvestments (513) (18,175) (1,067) (387) - (20,142)
Transfersinto level 3 - - - - - -
Transfersout of level 3 - (3.058) - - - (3,058)
Balance, 31 December 2022 $38,312 $84,149 $13,383 $19,789 $40,147 $195,780
There were no transfersinto Level 3. Investments were transferred out of Level 3 into Investments Measured at Net Asset Value.
Thefollowing table summarises changes in the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 private equity investments for the year ended 31 December 2021.
For the Year Ended 31 December 2021
Total Private Equity
(dollarsin thousands) Large-cap Buyout Mid-cap Buyout Special Situations Growth/Venture IncomeInvestments Investments
Balance, 31 December 2020 $25,249 $80,020 $22,725 $19,348 $69,334 $216,676
Purchases of investments and/or contributions to investments 12,200 15,656 - 729 - 28,585
Realised gain (loss) on investments - (3,488) - (4,414) 5,540 (2,362)
Changesin unrealised gain (loss) of investmentsstill held at the reporting date 1,900 26,126 (223) 1,904 (1,076) 28,631
Changesin unrealised gain (loss) of investments sold during the period - 3,343 - 3,122 1,293 7,758
Distributions from investments (3,080) (1,072) (666) (1,410) (37,865) (44,093)
Transfersinto level 3 - - - - - -
Transfers out of level 3 - (27,515) - - - (27,515)
Balance, 31 December 2021 $36,269 $93,070 $21,836 $19,279 $37,226 $207,680

There were notransfersinto Level 3. Investments were transferred out of Level 3 into Investments Measured at Net Asset Value.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 3 - Investments continued

The following table summarises the valuation methodologies and inputs used for private equity investments categorised in Level 3 as of 31 December 2022.

(dollarsinthousands) Impactto Valuation froman

Private Equity Investments FairValue 31 December 2022 Valuation Methodologies Unobservable Inputs’ Ranges (Weighted Average)? Increasein Input?
Directequity investments

Large-cap buyout $38,312 Market Comparable Companies LTM EBITDA 12.8x-21.0x(15.6x) Increase

Mid-cap buyout 84,149 Escrow Value Escrow 1.0x Increase

Income Approach DiscountRate 12.0x Increase

Market Comparable Companies LTM Revenue 3.9x Increase

Market Comparable Companies LTM EBITDA 11.0x-14.3x (13.3x) Increase

Special situations 13,383 Market Comparable Companies LTM EBITDA 9.0x Increase

Market Comparable Companies LTM Net Revenue 2.0x Increase

Escrow Value Escrow 1.0x Increase

Growth / venture 19,789 Market Comparable Companies LTM NetRevenue 1.5%-6.0x (4.6x) Increase

Escrow Value Escrow 1.0x Increase

Incomeinvestments 40,147 Market Comparable Companies LTM EBITDA 9.6x-15.8x (14.9x) Increase
Total $195,780

(1) LTM means Last Twelve Months, EBITDA means Earnings Before Interest Taxes Depreciation and Amortisation.

(2) Inputsweighted based on fairvalue of investmentsinrange.

(3) Unlessotherwise noted, this column represents the directional change in the fair value of Level 3 investments that would result from an increase to the corresponding unobservable input. Adecrease to the
unobservable input would have the opposite effect. Significantincreases and decreasesin these inputsinisolation could resultin significantly higher or lower fair value measurements.

Thefollowing table summarises the valuation methodologies and inputs used for private equity investments categorised in Level 3 as of 31 December 2021.

(dollarsin thousands)
Private Equity Investments

FairValue 31 December 2021

Valuation Methodologies

Unobservable Inputs'

Ranges (Weighted Average)?

Impactto Valuation froman
Increasein Input?

Directequityinvestments

Large-cap buyout $36,269 Market Comparable Companies LTM EBITDA 12.0x Increase
Mid-cap buyout 93,070 Escrow Value Escrow 1.0x Increase
Market Comparable Companies LTM EBITDA 8.8x-15.3x(12.6x) Increase
Market Comparable Companies  Production multiple ($/Boed) $24,811 Increase
Implied transaction

Market Comparable Companies production multiple ($/Boed) $18,343 Increase
Special situations 21,836 Market Comparable Companies LTMEBITDA 7.7%-8.6x(8.5x) Increase
Market Comparable Companies LTM NetRevenue 3.5x Increase
Growth / venture 19,279 Market Comparable Companies LTM NetRevenue 3.0%-6.5% (5.6x) Increase
Escrow Value Escrow 1.0x Increase
Income investments 37,226 Market Comparable Companies LTM EBITDA 9.6x Increase
Market Comparable Companies LTM EBITDA 17.8x Increase

Total $207,680

(1) LTM means Last Twelve Months, EBITDA means Earnings Before Interest Taxes Depreciation and Amortisation, Boed means Barrels of oil equivalent per day.

(2) Inputsweighted based on fairvalue of investmentsinrange.

(3) Unlessotherwise noted, this column represents the directional change in the fair value of Level 3 investments that would result from an increase to the corresponding unobservable input. A decrease to the
unobservable input would have the opposite effect. Significantincreases and decreasesinthese inputsinisolation could resultin significantly higher or lower fair value measurements.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 3 - Investments continued

Since 31 December 2021, there have been no changesin valuation methodologies
within Level 2 and Level 3 that have had a materialimpact on the valuation of private
equity investments.

Inthe case of direct equity investments and income investments, the Investment Manager
does not control the timing of all exits but at the time of investment, typically expects
investment durations to be meaningfully shorter than fund investments. Therefore,
although some fund and directinvestments may take 10-15 years to reach final realisation,
theInvestment Manager expects the majority of the Group's invested capital in the current
portfolioto be returnedin much shortertimeframes. Generally, fund investmentshave a
defined termand no right to withdraw. In the case of fund investments, fund lives are
typically tenyears; however, a series of extensions often mean thelives can extend
significantly beyond this. It should be noted that the Group's fund investments are legacy
assets, non-core to the current strategy and are in realisation mode.

Note 4 - Credit Facility

Asof 31 December 2022, a subsidiary of the Company had a $300.0 million secured
revolving credit facility with Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company (“MassMutual”).
Thetenyear borrowing availability period of the MassMutual Facility expires on

23 December 2029, while the MassMutual Facility matures on 23 December 2031. For the
yearsended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the borrowings from the MassMutual Facility
were $30,000,000 and $15,000,000, respectively, and the payments to the MassMutual
Facility were $30,000,000 and $50,000,000, respectively. The outstanding balances of the
MassMutual Facility were nilat 31 December 2022 and nil at 31 December 2021.

Underthe MassMutual Facility, the Group is required to meet certain portfolio
concentration testsand certain loan-to-value ratios not to exceed 45% through its

8 anniversary with step-downs each year thereafter until reaching 0% on its

10" anniversary and through maturity. In addition, the MassMutual Facility limits the
incurrence of loan-to-value ratios above 45%, additional indebtedness, asset sales,
acquisitions, mergers, liens, portfolio asset assignments, or other matters customarily
restricted in such agreements. The MassMutual Facility defines change in control as a
changeinthe Company’s ownership structure of certain of its subsidiaries or the event
inwhichthe Groupis nolonger managed by the Investment Manager or an affiliate.
Achangein control would trigger an event of default under the MassMutual Facility.
At 31 December 2022, the Group metall requirements underthe MassMutual Facility.
The MassMutual Facility is secured by a security interestin the cash flows fromthe
underlying investments of the Group.

Underthe MassMutual Facility, the interest rate was calculated as the greater of either
LIBOR or 1% plus 2.875% (2.75% prior to 1 May 2020) per annum. The Group is required
to pay acommitment fee calculated as 0.55% per annum on the average daily balance
of the unused facility amount. The Group is subject to a minimum utilisation of 30% of
thefacility size, or $90.0 million, beginning eighteen months after the closing date or
23 June 2021.1fthe minimum utilisation is not met, the Group is required to pay the
amount of interest that would have been accrued on the minimum usage amount less
any outstanding advances.

Thefollowing table summarises the Group's finance costsincurred and expensed under
the MassMutual Facility for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

31 December2022 31 December2021

Interest expense $235,545 $548,958
Undrawn commitment fees 1,171,041 1,335,583
Servicing feesand breakage costs 40,722 75,020
Amortisation of capitalised debtissuance costs 264,567 264,567
Minimum utilisation fees 4,287,657 1,860,000
Total Credit Facility Finance Costs $5,999,532 $4,084,128

Asof31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, unamortised capitalised debtissuance
costs (included in Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets) were $2,376,770 and
$2,641,336, respectively. Capitalised amounts are being amortised on a straight-line basis
overthe terms of the applicable credit facility.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 5-Zero Dividend Preference Shares (“ZDP Shares”)

On 30 September2022,the 2022 ZDP Shares were redeemed and delisted from the
Specialist Fund Segment.

Asof 31 December 2022, there were 50,000,000 ZDP Shares (the “2024 ZDP Shares”)
outstanding ata Gross Redemption Yield of 4.25%. The 2024 ZDP Shares were issued
pursuantto the Initial Placing and Offer for Subscription at a price per 2024 ZDP Share of
100 pence. The holders of the 2024 ZDP Shares will have a final capital entitlement of
130.63 pence onthe repayment date of 30 October 2024.

The 2024 ZDP Shares rank prior to the Class Aand Class B Shares in respect of repayment of
thefinal entitlement. However, they rank behind any borrowings that remain outstanding.
They carry no entitlementtoincome and their entire return takes the form of capital. The
2024 ZDP Shares require the Company to satisfy their respective ZDP Cover Test (the “Test"”)
priortotaking certainactions. Insummary, the Test requires that for the 2024 ZDPs the
Gross Assets divided by the liabilities adjusting for the final 2024 ZDP liabilities should be
greaterthan 2.75. The details of the restrictions and the Tests are set out in the ZDP
Prospectus. Unless the Test s satisfied, the Company is not permitted to pay any dividend
orotherdistribution out of capital reserves. Avoluntary liquidation or winding-up of the
Companywould require ZDP Shareholder approval where such winding-up is to take effect
priorto the relevant ZDP repayment date.

The following table reconciles the liability for ZDP Shares, which approximates fair value,
fortheyearended 31 December 2022 and the yearended 31 December 2021.

Thetotalliability related to the 2022 ZDP Shares was niland £61,539,442 (equivalent of
$83,352,098) as of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, respectively. The total
liability balancerelated to the 2024 ZDP Shares was £60,521,167 (equivalent of
$72,800,912) and £58,055,741 (equivalent of $78,633,598) as of 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021, respectively.

Asof 31 December 2022, the 2024 ZDP Shares were the only outstanding ZDP share class.

ZDP Shares are measured atamortised cost. Capitalised offering costs are being amortised
using the effective interest rate method. The unamortised balance of capitalised offering
costs ofthe 2024 ZDP Shares at 31 December 2022 was $255,801 and the unamortised
balance of capitalised offering costs of the 2022 and 2024 ZDP Shares at 31 December 2021
was $638,981.

Note 6 —Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts

The Group may utilise forward foreign currency contracts to hedge, in part, the risk
associated with the Sterling contractual liability for the issued ZDP Shares (see note 5).

Asof 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group did not hold any active
forward foreign currency contracts.

The belowtable presents the Group’s forward foreign currency contract held and its effect
onthe Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changesin Net Assets during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

ZDP Shares Pounds Sterling U.S.Dollars Currency Currency Unrealised Realised
Liability, 31 December 2020 £1 14,865,085 $1 57,014,827 Purchased Sold Counterparty SettlementDate gain (loss) gain (loss)
Netchangeinaccruedintereston 2022 ZDP Shares 2,365,106 3,243,593 £75,000,000  $97585,125 \é\z:isl:iazc 14April 2021 $(4994,199) $5,792,625
Netchangeinaccruedintereston 2024 ZDP Shares 2,364,992 3,243,449 Corporation

Currency conversion - (1,516,173)

Liability, 31 December 2021 £119,595,183 $161,985,696

Netchangeinaccrued intereston 2022 ZDP Shares 1,830,558 2,456,277

Netchangeinaccrued intereston 2024 ZDP Shares 2,465,426 3,200,424

Redemption of 2022 ZDP Shares (63,370,000) (68,100,570)

Currency conversion - (26,740,915)

Liability, 31 December 2022 £60,521,167 $72,800,912
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 7 —Income Taxes

The Group is exempt from Guernsey tax on income derived from non-Guernsey sources.
However, certain of its underlying investments generate income that is subject to taxin
otherjurisdictions, principally the United States ("U.S."). The Group has recorded the
following amounts related to such taxes:

31 December2022 31December2021

Currenttax expense $2,260,993 $756,098
Deferred tax expense (benefit) 9,113 -
Total tax expense (benefit) $2,270,106 $756,098

31 December2022 31December2021

Grossdeferred tax assets $7,872,867 $11,685,030
Valuation allowance (7,872,867) (9,690,782)
Net deferred tax assets - 1,994,248
Gross deferred tax liabilities (9,113) (1,994,248)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $(9,113) $-

Currenttax expense (benefit) isreflected in Net realised gain/(loss) and deferred tax
expense (benefit) isreflected in Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changesin Net Assets. Net deferred tax liabilities are related
to netunrealised gains and gross deferred tax assets, offset by a valuation allowance, are
related to unrealised losses oninvestments held in entities that file separate tax returns.

The Group has no gross unrecognised tax benefits. The Group is subject to examination by
taxregulators under the three-year statute of limitations.

Note 8 —Earnings (Loss) per Share

The computations for earnings (loss) per share for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 are asfollows:

2022 2021

Netincrease (decrease) in netassets resulting from

operations attributable to the controlling interest $(108,947,791)  $462,202,674

Divided by weighted average shares outstanding for

Class ASharesand Class B Shares of the controlling interest 46,771,030 46,771,030
Earnings (loss) per share for Class A Shares and
Class B Shares of the controlling interest $(2.33) $9.88

Inaccordance with Article 104(2) of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No
231/2013 (and the UK version of this regulation which is part of UK law by virtue of the
European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018), the Group is required to disclose additional
information on the classification of the balances presented within the net realised gain
(loss) oninvestments and forward foreign exchange contracts, and netchangein
unrealised gain (loss) oninvestments and forward foreign exchange contracts presented
onthe Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changesin Net Assets. For the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the balances include the following:

Classification of Realised Gain (Loss) and Unrealised Gain (Loss)™ 31 December2022 31 December2021

Realised gain oninvestments and forward foreign

exchange contracts $85,321,404 $245,140,677
Realised loss oninvestments and forward foreign

exchange contracts (31,880,844) (32,012,361)
Netrealised gain (loss) on investments and forward

foreign exchange contracts $53,440,560 $213,128,316
Unrealised gain oninvestmentsand forward foreign

exchange contracts $138,811,079 $407,844,305
Unrealised loss on investments and forward foreign

exchange contracts® (265,911,641) (88,143,459)

Netunrealised gain (loss) oninvestments and forward

foreign exchange contracts $(127,100,562)  $319,700,846

(1) Above amountsare presented gross and, as such, exclude the tax expense (benefit) reported on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changesin Net Assets

(2) Includesunrealised gainreversal of $76,798,321 and $68,324,306 for the periods ended 31 December
2022 and 2021, respectively, as aresult of realised investment transactions.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 9-Share Capital, Including Treasury Stock

Class A Shareholders have the right to vote on all resolutions proposed at general meetings
of the Company, including resolutions relating to the appointment, election, re-election
and removal of Directors. The Company'’s Class B Shares, which wereissued at the time of
theinitial public offering to a Guernsey charitable trust, whose trustee is First Directors
Limited (“Trustee”), usually carry novoting rights at general meetings of the Company.
However, inthe event the level of ownership of Class A Shares by U.S. residents (excluding
any Class A Shares held in treasury) exceeds 35% on any date determined by the Directors
(based on an analysis of share ownership information available to the Company), the Class
B Shares will carry voting rights in relation to “Director Resolutions” (as such termis defined
inthe Company’s articles of incorporation). In this event, Class B Shares will automatically
carry such voting rights to dilute the voting power of the Class A Shareholders with respect
to Director Resolutions to the extent necessary to reduce the percentage of votes
exercisable by U.S. residentsin relation to the Director Resolutions to not more than 35%.
Each Class A Share and Class B Share participates equally in profits and losses. There have
been no changesto the legal form or nature of the Class A Shares nor to the reporting
currency of the Company’s consolidated financial statements (which will remain in U.S.
dollars) asaresult of the Main Market quote being in Sterling as well as U.S. dollars.
Additional paid-in capital ("APIC") is the excess amount paid by shareholders over the par
value of shares. The Company's APICisincluded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Thefollowing table summarises the Company's shares at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

31 December2022 31December2021

Class ASharesoutstanding 46,761,030 46,761,030
Class B Shares outstanding 10,000 10,000

46,771,030 46,771,030
Class ASharesheldintreasury -number of shares 3,150,408 3,150,408
Class A Shares held in treasury - cost $9,248,460 $9,248,460

The Company currently has shareholder authority to repurchase sharesin the market,

the aggregate value of which may be up to 14.99% of the Class A Sharesin issue

(excluding Class A Shares held in treasury) at the time the authority is granted; such
authority will expire on the date which is 15 months from the date of passing of this
resolution or, if earlier, at the end of the Annual General Meeting ("“AGM") of the Company
tobe heldinJune 2023. The maximum price which may be paid for a Class A Shareisan
amount equal to the higher of (i) the price of the lastindependent trade and (ii) the highest
currentindependentbid, in each case, with respect to the Class A Shares on the relevant
exchange (being the Main Market).

The Company entered into a new share buyback agreement with Jefferies International
Limited (“Jefferies”) on 5 October 2022.

The Company has not purchased any of its shares during the year ended 31 December 2022
orduringtheyearended 31 December 2021.

The Company may declare dividend payments from time to time. Prior to each dividend
announcement, the Board reviews the appropriateness of the dividend payment in light
of macro-economicactivity and the financial position of the Company. The Company
targetsanannualised dividend yield of 3.0% or greater on NAV which has been paid out
semi-annually.

Note 10—Management of the Group and Other Related
Party Transactions

Management and Guernsey Administration

The Group is managed by the Investment Manager fora management fee calculated at
the end of each calendar quarter equal to 37.5 basis points (150 basis points perannum)
of thefairvalue of the private equity and opportunisticinvestments. For purposes of this
computation, the fair value is reduced by the fair value of any investment for which the
Investment Manageris separately compensated forinvestment management services.
The Investment Manageris not entitled toamanagement fee on: (i) the value of any fund
investments held by the Company in NB Fundsin respect of which the Investment Manager
oran affiliate receives a fee or other remuneration; or (i) the value of any holdings in cash
and short-terminvestments (the definition of which shall be determined in good faith by
the Investment Manager, and shallinclude holdings in money market funds (whether
managed by the Investment Manager, an affiliate of the Investment Manager or a third
party manager)). Fortheyearsended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the management fee
expenseswere $21,144,589 and $22,483,005, respectively,and areincluded in Investment
managementand services onthe Consolidated Statement of Operations and Changesin
Net Assets. Asof 31 December 2022 and 2021, Investment Management fees payable to
the Investment Manager and its affiliates were $5,177,372 and $5,801,910, respectively.
Ifthe Company terminates the Investment Management Agreement without cause,

the Company shall pay a termination fee equal to: sevenyears of management fees,
plusanamountequal to seven timesthe mean average incentive allocation of the three
performance periodsimmediately preceding the termination, plus all underwriting,
placementand other expenses borne by the Investment Manager or affiliates in
connection with the Company’s Initial Public Offering.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 10— Management of the Group and Other Related
Party Transactions continued

The Group pays to Ocorian Administration (Guernsey) Limited (“Ocorian”), an affiliate
ofthe Trustee, a fee for providing certain administrative functions relating to certain
corporate services and Guernsey regulatory matters affecting the Group. Fees for these
servicesare paid asinvoiced by Ocorian. The Group paid Ocorian $287,062 and $330,096
fortheyearsended 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively, for such services. The Group
also paid MUFG Capital Analytics LLC, anindependent third party fund administrator,
$1,300,000and $1,519,263 for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively.
MUFG Capital Analytics LLC receives $1,300,000 annually ($325,000 quarterly) for
administrative and accounting services. These fees are included in Administration and
professional fees on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changesin Net Assets.

Directors’ fees are denominated and paid in Sterling and they are based on each Director’s
position on the Company's Board. Effective on 1 October 2021, Directors’ fees were
increased to accountforaninflation adjustment. Directors’ fees are subjectto an annual
increase equivalentto the annualrise inthe UK retail pricesindex, subjectto a 1% per
annum minimum. As of 31 December 2022, Directors’ fees were as follows: Chairman
receives £75,690 annually (£18,992 quarterly), Audit Chairman receives £64,728 annually
(£16,182 quarterly), Seniorindependent Director receives £59,508 annually (£14,877
quarterly), and Non-executive independent Directors each receive £54,288 annually
(£13,572 quarterly). As of 31 December 2022, an additional fee was assessed in the amount
of £10,440 annually and payable to two Directors (£5,220 each) for serving as Directors on
the Board of the Guernsey Subsidiaries of the Company.

Fortheyearended 31 December 2022, the Group paid the independent Directors
$375,018 and an additional $12,629 related to services provided to the Guernsey
Subsidiaries of the Company. For the yearended 31 December 2021, the Group paid the
independent Directors $354,694 and an additional $6,822 related to services provided to
the Guernsey Subsidiaries of the Company.

Expensesrelated to the Investment Manager are included in Investmentmanagementand
services on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changesin Net Assets.
Administration and professional feesinclude fees for Directors, independent third party
accounting and administrative services, audit, tax, and assurance services, trustee, legal,
listingand otheritems.

Related Parties

In orderto execute onitsinvesting activities, the Investment Manager may create an
intermediary entity for tax, legal, or other purposes. These intermediary entities do not
charge management fees norincentive allocations. Additionally, the Group may co-invest
with other entities with the same Investment Manager as the Group.

Special Limited Partner’s Non-controlling Interest in Subsidiary

An affiliate of the Investment Manager is a Special Limited Partnerin a consolidated
partnership subsidiary. At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the non-controlling interest of
$1,947,323 and $2,054,635, respectively, represented the Special Limited Partner’s capital
contribution to the partnership subsidiary and income allocation.

Thefollowing table reconciles the carrying amount of net assets, net assets attributable to
the controlling interestand net assets attributable to the non-controlling interest at
31 December 2022 and 2021.

Noncontrolling
Controlling Interest Interest Total

Net assets balance,

31 December 2020 $1,051,651,249 $1,525,242 $1,053,176,491

Netincrease (decrease)in netassets
resulting from operations 462,202,674 529,393 462,732,067

Dividend payment (33,675,141) - (33,675,141)

Net assets balance,

31 December 2021 $1,480,178,782 $2,054,635 $1,482,233,417

Netincrease (decrease) in net assets
resulting from operations (108,947,791) (107,312) (109,055,103)

Dividend payment (43,964,768) - (43,964,768)

Net assets balance,

31 December 2022 $1,327,266,223 $1,947,323 $1,329,213,546

Carried Interest

The Special Limited Partneris entitled to a carried interestinan amount thatis, in general,
equalto 7.5% of the Group's consolidated netincrease in net assets resulting from
operations, adjusted by withdrawals, distributions and capital contributions, for a fiscal
yearinthe eventthatthe Group'sinternal rate of return for such period, based on the NAV,
exceeds 7.5%. Forthe purposes of this computation, the value of any private equity fund
investmentin NB Fundsin respect of which the Investment Manager or an affiliate receives
afee orotherremuneration shall be excluded from the calculation of the incentive
allocation payable to the Special Limited Partner. If losses are incurred for a period, no
carried interest will be earned for any period until the subsequent net profits exceed the
cumulative netlosses. Carried interestis also accrued and paid on any economic gain that
the Group realises ontreasury stock transactions (see note 9). Carried interestis accrued
periodically and paid inthe subsequent year. As of 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021, carried interest of niland $37,341,460 was accrued, respectively.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 10—Management of the Group and Other Related Party Transactions continued

Private Equity Investments with NBG Subsidiaries

The Group holds limited partnerinterests in private equity fund investments and direct investment programs that are managed by subsidiaries of NBG (“NB-Affiliated Investments”).

NB-Affiliated Investments will not result in any duplicative NBG investment management fees and carry charged to the Group. Below is a summary of the Group's positionsin

NB-Affiliated Investments.

NB-Affiliated Investments (dollars in millions) FairValue® Committed Funded Unfunded
2022

NB-Affiliated Programs

NB Alternatives Direct Co-investment Programs $213.6 $275.0 $235.9 $39.1
NB Renaissance Programs 20.8 40.0 29.5 10.5
Marquee Brands 28.5 30.0 26.6 34
NB Healthcare Credit Investment Program - 50.0 459 41
NB Credit Opportunities Program 39.7 50.0 38.0 12.0
NB Specialty Finance Program 275 50.0 35.0 15.0
Total NB-Affiliated Investments $330.1 $495.0 $410.9 $84.1
2021

NB-Affiliated Programs

NB Alternatives Direct Co-investment Programs $238.2 $275.0 $235.2 $39.8
NB Renaissance Programs 20.8 40.0 259 141
Marquee Brands 32.7 30.0 26.6 34
NB Healthcare Credit Investment Program 13 50.0 459 4.1
NB Credit Opportunities Program 49.0 50.0 38.0 12.0
NB Specialty Finance Program 389 50.0 35.0 15.0
Total NB-Affiliated Investments $380.9 $495.0 $406.6 $88.4

(1): Fairvalue does notinclude distributions. At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the total distributions from NB-Affiliated Investments were $421.0 and $374.2, respectively.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 11—Risks and Contingencies
Market Risk

The Group's exposure to financial risks is both direct (through its holdings of assets and
liabilities directly subject to theserisks) and indirect (through the impact of these risks on
the overall valuation of its private equity companies). The Group's private equity
companies are generally nottraded in an active market, but are indirectly exposed to
market price risk arising from uncertainties about future values of the investments held.
Thefundinvestments of the Group each holds a portfolio of investmentsin underlying
companies. These portfolio company investmentsvary as to type of security held by the
underlying partnership (debt or equity, publicly traded or privately held), stage of
operations, industry, geographiclocation and geographic distribution of operations and
size, all of which may impactthe susceptibility of their valuation to market price risk.

Market conditions for publicly traded and privately held investments in portfolio
companies held by the partnerships may affect theirvalue ina manner similar to the
potentialimpact on direct co-investments made by the Group in privately held securities.
The fundinvestments of the Group may also hold financial instruments (including debt
and derivative instruments) in addition to theirinvestmentsin portfolio companies thatare
susceptible to market price risk and therefore may also affect the value of the Group's
investmentinthe partnerships. Aswith anyindividual investment, market prices may vary
from composite index movements.

Credit Risk

Creditriskis therisk of losses due to the failure of a counterparty to perform according to
theterms of a contract. The Group may investin arange of debt securities directly orin
fundswhich do so. Until such investments are sold or are paid in full at maturity, the Group
isexposed to creditrisk relating to whether the issuer will meetits obligations when the
securities come due. Distressed debt securities by nature are securitiesin companies which
areindefault orare headinginto defaultand will expose the Group to a higher than normal
amount of credit risk.

The cash and other liquid securities held can subject the Group to a concentration of credit
risk. The Investment Manager attempts to mitigate the credit risk that exists with cash
depositsand other liquid securities by regularly monitoring the credit ratings of such
financialinstitutions and evaluating from time to time whether to hold some of the
Group's cash and cash equivalentsin U.S. Treasuries or other highly liquid securities.

The Group'sinvestments are subject to various risk factors including market and credit risk,
interest rate and foreign exchangerrisk, inflation risk, and the risks associated with investing
in private securities. Non-U.S. dollar denominated investments may result in foreign
exchange losses caused by devaluations and exchange rate fluctuations. In addition,
consequences of political, social, economic, diplomatic changes, or public health condition
may have disruptive effects on market prices or fair valuations of foreign investments.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall
due. The Investment Manager mitigates this risk by monitoring the sufficiency of cash
balances and availability under the Credit Facility (see note 4) to meet expected liquidity
requirements forinvestment funding and operating expenses.

Contingencies

Inthe normal course of business, the Group entersinto contracts that contain a variety of
representationsand warranties which provide general indemnifications. The Group’s
maximum exposure underthese arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future
claimsthat may be made against the Group that have notyet occurred. The Investment
Manager expects the risk of loss to be remote and does not expect these to have a material
adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements

Note 12 —Financial Highlights

The following ratios with respect to the Class A Shares and Class B Shares have been
computed fortheyearsended 31 December 2022 and 2021:

Pershare operating performance Forthe YearEnded Forthe Year Ended
(based on average shares outstanding during the year) 31December2022  31December2021
Beginning netassetvalue $31.65 $22.49
Netincreasein netassets resulting from operations:

Netinvestmentincome (loss) (0.71) (1.48)
Netrealised and unrealised gain (loss) (1.62) 11.36
Dividend payment (0.94) 0.72)
Ending net asset value $28.38 $31.65
Totalreturn Forthe YearEnded Forthe YearEnded
(based on changein netassetvalue pershare) 31December2022  31December2021
Total return before carried interest (7.36%) 47.47%
Carriedinterest - (3.54%)
Total return after carried interest (7.36%) 43.93%
Netinvestmentincome (loss) and expenseratios Forthe Year Ended Forthe YearEnded
(based on weighted average netassets) 31December2022  31December2021
Netinvestmentincome (loss), excluding carried interest (2.40%) (2.55%)
Expenseratios:

Expenses beforeinterestand carried interest 2.30% 2.44%
Interestexpense 0.43% 0.55%
Carried interest - 2.95%
Expense ratios total 2.73% 5.94%

Netinvestmentincome (loss) isinterestincome earned net of expenses, including
management feesand other expenses consistent with the presentation within the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changesin Net Assets. Expenses do not
include the expenses of the underlying private equity investment partnerships.

Individual shareholder returns may differ from the ratios presented based on differing

entry datesintothe Group.

Note 13 -Subsequent Events

On 28 February 2023, the Group paid a dividend of $0.47 per Ordinary Share to
shareholders of record on 20 January 2023.

The Investment Manager and the Board of Directors have evaluated events through
24 April 2023, the date the financial statements are available to be issued and have
determined there were no other subsequent events that require adjustment to, or
disclosurein, the financial statements.
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AIFMD Disclosures

NB Private Equity Partners Limited (the "Fund”) AIFMD Disclosure
Addendum to the 2022 Annual Report (Unaudited)

1. Changes To Article 23(1) AIFMD Disclosures

Directive 2011/61/EU on Alternative Investment Fund Managers ("AIFMD") requires
certaininformation to be made available to investorsin alternative investment funds
("AlIFs") before they invest and requires that material changes to this information be
disclosedinthe annual reportof each AlF.

There have been no material changes (other thanthose reflected in these financial
statements) to thisinformation requiring disclosure.

2.Leverage

Forthe purposes of this disclosure, leverage is any method by which an AlF's exposure
isincreased, whetherthrough borrowing of cash or securities, or leverage embedded
inforeign exchange forward contracts or by any other means.

The AIFMD requires that each leverage ratio be expressed as the ratio between an AIF's
exposure and its netassetvalue (“NAV”), and prescribes two required methodologies,

the gross methodology and the commitment methodology, for calculating such exposure.
Using the methodologies prescribed under the AIFMD, the leverage of the Fund as at

30 September 2022 is disclosed below:

Leverage calculated pursuant to the gross methodology: 0.98

Leverage calculated pursuant to the commitment methodology: 0.99

3. Liquidity and risk management systems

The portfolio managers and risk management professionals of NB Alternative Advisers LLC
(the "AIFM") regularly review the investment performance and the portfolio composition
of the Fundinthelight of the Fund'sinvestment objective, policy and strategy; the principal
risks and investment or economic uncertainties that have beenidentified as relevant to the
Fund; internal risk measures and the interests and profile of investors.

The AlIFM assesses the Fund’s current and prospective need for liquidity on an on-going
basis and ensures that liquidity is available when required. Therisk profile of the Fund as
assessed as at 30 September 2022 was as follows:

3.1 Market Risk Profile

The marketriskindicators containedin the Annex IV regulatory reporting template were
notapplicable to the Fund.

3.2 Counterparty Risk Profile

Asat30September 2022, the counterparties to which the Fund had the greatest
mark-to-market net counterparty credit exposure, measured as a % of the NAV of the
Fund arelistedinthetable below:

NAV percentage

of thetotal

exposure value of

Ranking Name of Counterparty the counterparty
First counterparty exposure Others 1.85
Second counterparty exposure Bank of America Merrill Lynch 0.41
Third counterparty exposure JPMorgan 0.00

Asat30September 2022, the counterparty risk indicators containedin the Annex IV
regulatory reporting template in respect of mark-to- market credit exposure to the Fund
were notapplicable.

3.3 Liquidity Profile

3.3.1 Portfolio Liquidity Profile

100 percent of the portfolioisincapable of being liquidated within 365 days.
The Fund had USD 5,678,456 unencumbered cash available toit.
3.3.2Investor Liquidity Profile

100 percent of investor equity isincapable of being redeemed within 365 days.
Investors do not have any withdrawal or redemption rightsinthe ordinary course.
However, shares are freely traded on the London Stock Exchange.

3.3.3 Investor Redemption

Doesthe Fund provide investors with withdrawal / redemptionrightsin the ordinary
course? No
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AIFMD Disclosures

4.Report on remuneration

The Neuberger Berman Compensation Committee is responsible for the compensation
practices within the Neuberger Berman group, and Neuberger Berman also operatesa
structure throughout the group to ensure appropriate involvement and oversight of the
compensation process, so that compensation within the group rewards success whilst
reflecting appropriate behaviours.

Neuberger Berman recognises the need to ensure that compensation arrangements do
notgive rise to conflicts of interest, and thisis achieved through the compensation policies
aswellasthrough the operation of specific policies governing conflicts of interests.

Neuberger Berman's compensation philosophy is one that focuses on rewarding
performance andincentivizing employees. Employees at Neuberger Berman may receive
compensationin the form of base salary, discretionary bonuses and/or production
compensation. Investment professionals receive a fixed salary and are eligible foran
annual bonus. The annual bonus for an individual investment professional is paid from
a"bonus pool” made available to the portfolio management team with which the
investment professionalis associated. Once the final size of the available bonus pool is
determined, individual bonuses are determined based on a number of factorsincluding
the aggregate investment performance of all strategies managed by the individual
(including the three-year track record in order to emphasize long-term performance),
effective risk management, leadership and team building, and overall contribution to
the success of Neuberger Berman.

Neuberger Berman considers avariety of factorsin determining fixed and variable
compensation foremployees, including firm performance, individual performance,
overall contribution to the team, collaboration with colleagues across the firm, effective
partnering with clients to achieve goals, risk management and the overall investment
performance. Neuberger Berman strives to create a compensation process thatis fair,
transparent, and competitive with the market.

Aportion of bonuses may be awarded in the form of contingent or deferred cash
compensation, including underthe “Contingent Compensation Plan”, which serves
asameansto furtheralign the interests of employees with the interest of clients,
aswellasrewarding continued employment. Underthe Contingent Compensation Plan
apercentage of a participant’s compensation is awarded in deferred contingent form.

Contingentamounts take the form of a notional investment based on a portfolio of
Neuberger Berman investment strategies and/or a contingent equity award, and
Neuberger Berman believes that this gives each participant furtherincentive to operate
asa prudentrisk manager and to collaborate with colleagues to maximise performance
acrossall business areas. The programs specify vesting and forfeiture terms, including
thatvesting is normally dependent on continued employment and contingentamounts
canbe forfeitedin casesincluding misconduct or the participants participating in
detrimental activity.

The proportion of the total remuneration of the staff of the AIFM attributable to the Fund,
calculated with reference to the proportion of the value of the assets of the Fund managed
by the AIFM to the value of all assets managed by the AIFM, was USD 2,019,007, representing
USD 507,126 of fixed compensation and USD 1,511,881 of variable compensation. There
were 205 of staff of the AIFM who shared in the remuneration paid by the AIFM.

Compensation by the AIFM to senior management and staff whose actions had a material
impact on therisk profile onthe Fundin respect of 2022 was USD 115,376,541 in relation to
senior managementand USD 1,407,631 in respect of 'risk takers’. The compensation figure
forseniormanagementhas not been apportioned, while the compensation figure for risk
takershasbeen apportioned by reference to the number of AlFs whose risk profile was
materiallyimpacted by each individual staff member.

Carriedinterestaccrued to the Special Limited Partner for the yearsended 31 December 2022
and 31 December 2021 was niland USD 37,341,460 respectively. Carried interestis paid in
theyearsubsequentto the yearin whichitwasaccrued.

5. European Taxonomy Regulation

Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (the “Taxonomy Regulation”) requires fund managerssuch as
the AIFM to disclose the extent of their alignment to the Taxonomy Regulationin the
annual report foreach fund they manage. As the Fundis not classified as an Article 8 or
Article 9 fund under Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 ("SFDR"), the following statement must
be disclosedin the annual report for the Partnership:

The investments underlying this financial product do not take into account the EU criteria
forenvironmentally sustainable economic activities.

April 2023
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Schedule of investments

Schedule of investments (unaudited)

FairValue
Investments Principal Geography InvestmentDate Description $M
Action Europe Jan-20 Europeandiscount retailer 72.2
Advisor Group us. Jul-19 Independent broker dealer 54.2
Constellation Automotive UK Nov-19 Provider of vehicle remarketing services 53.2
usl us. Jun-17 Insurance brokerage and consulting services 50.0
AutoStore (OB.AUTO) Europe Jul-19 Leading provider of automation technology 44.9
Agiliti (NYSE: AGTI) u.s. Jan-19 Medical equipment managementand services 40.8
Material Handling Systems U.S./Europe Apr-17 Systems and solutions utilised in distribution centres 39.7
NB Alternatives Credit Opportunities Program  Global Sep-16 Diversified credit portfolio 39.7
Cotiviti u.s. Aug-18 Paymentaccuracy and solutions for the healthcare industry 345
Business Services Company” us. Oct-17 Business services company 32.9
Kroll Global Mar-20 Multinational financial consultancy firm 321
BeyondTrust us. Jun-18 Cybersecurity and secure access solutions 29.4
True Potential Europe Jan-22 Wealth managementtechnology platform serving advisors and retail clients 28.7
Marquee Brands Global Dec-14 Portfolio of consumer branded IP assets, licensed to third parties 28.5
NB Specialty Finance Program Global Oct-18 Smallbalanceloan portfolio 275
Solenis Global Sep-21 Specialty chemicals and services provider 27.0
GFL(NYSE: GFL) U.S/Canada Jul-18 Waste managementservices 27.0
Monroe Engineering u.s. Dec-21 Industrial products distributor 26.6
Stubhub u.s. Feb-20 Ticket exchange and resale company 26.4
Engineering Europe Jul-20 Italy-based provider of systemsintegration, consulting and outsourcing services 25.1
Addison Group u.s. Dec-21 Professional services provider specialising in staffing and consulting services 239
Branded Toy Company” us. Jul-17 Specialty toy company 23.8
Branded Cities Network u.s. Nov-17 North American advertising media company 23.8
Staples us. Sep-17 Provider of office supplies through a business-to-business platform and retail 22.8
Auctane u.s. Oct-21 E-commerce shipping software provider 219
Bylight u.s. Aug-17 Provider of ITand technology infrastructure cyber solutions 21.9
Excelitas u.s. Nov-17 Sensing, opticsandilluminationtechnology 21.7
Petsmart/Chewy (NYSE: CHWY) u.s. Jun-15 Online and offline pet supplies retailer 20.6

100
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Schedule of investments

FairValue
Investments Principal Geography InvestmentDate Description $M
Accedian u.s. Apr-17 Network testing equipmentand software 20.6
FV Hospital Vietnam Jun-17 Leading hospital providerin Vietnam 20.4
Solace Systems U.S./Canada Apr-16 Enterprise messaging solutions 17.2
Renaissance Learning u.s. Jun-18 K-12 educational software & learning solutions 16.5
Leaseplan Europe Apr-16 Fleet managementservices 16.5
Chemical Guys u.s. Sep-21 Directto consumer automotive products brand 15.8
Nextlevel u.s. Aug-18 Designerand supplier of fashion-basicapparel 15.2
Peraton us. May-21 Provider of enterprise ITservices serving the U.S. government 15.2
Viant u.s. Jun-18 Outsourced medical device manufacturer 15.1
Qpark Europe Oct-17 European parking services operator 151
Tendam Spain Oct-17 Spanish apparel retailer 13.7
Exact Netherlands Aug-19 Accounting and ERP software for small to medium-sized businesses 13.7
Real Page u.s. Apr-21 Provides software solutions to the rental housing industry 13.2
CH Guenther u.s. May-18 Supplier of mixes, snacks and meals and othervalue-added food products for consumers 12.5
XplorTechnologies us. Jun-18 Credit card payment processing 11.8
Hub Global Mar-19 Leading globalinsurance brokerage 10.8
Telxius Europe Oct-17 Telecommunicationsinfrastructure including fibre-optic cables and telecom towers 10.3
Wind River Environmental u.s. Apr-17 Waste managementservices provider 9.9
MHS u.s. Mar-17 Provider of repair, maintenance and fleet management services 9.4
Lasko Products u.s. Nov-16 Manufacturer of portable fansand ceramic heaters 9.3
Concord Bio India Jun-16 Active pharmaceuticalingredients manufacturer 8.5
SafeFleet U.s. May-18 Safety and productivity solutions for fleet vehicles 8.5
Italian Mid-Market Buyout Portfolio Europe Jun-18 Italian mid-market buyout portfolio 8.0
Vitru (NASDAQ: VTRU) Brazil Jun-18 Postsecondary education company 79
Saguaro North America  Jul-13 E&P company pursuing unconventionallight oil/liquids-rich gas properties 7.8
ZPG UK Jul-18 Digital property data and software company 7.4
Verifone Global Aug-18 Electronic paymenttechnology 7.2
Milani u.s. Jun-18 Cosmeticsand beauty products 6.9
ProAmpac u.s. Dec-20 Leading global supplier of flexible packaging 6.9
Healthcare Company—In-home Devices u.s. Jun-18 Provider of pump medications and in-home intravenous infusion 6.2
Plaskolite u.s. Dec-18 Largestmanufacturer of thermoplasticsheetsin North America 6.0
Syniti us. Dec-17 Data managementsolutions provider 6.0
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Schedule of investments

FairValue
Investments Principal Geography InvestmentDate Description $M
CrownRock Minerals u.s. Aug-18 Minerals acquisition platform 5.8
Destination Restaurants us. Nov-19 U.S. restaurant chain 57
Carestream u.s. Apr-16 Utilises digitalimaging equipmentand captures two billionimages annually 5.7
Digital River (Equity) u.s. Feb-15 Digital e-commerce, payments and marketing solutions 5.6
Centro u.s. Jun-15 Provider of digital advertising management solutions 5.4
Healthcare Services Company NA Feb-18 Healthcare services company 4.8
Inflection Energy u.s. Oct-14 Dry gas exploration company in the Marcellus Shale 4.8
Edelman u.s. Aug-18 Independent financial planning firm 4.8
BK China us. Nov-18 Franchise of over 800 Burger King locationsin mainland China 4.8
Unity Technologies (NYSE:U) us. Jun-21 Business platform forapp developers 4.7
Looking Glass u.s. Feb-15 Cybersecurity technology company 4.5
Mills Fleet Farms u.s. Feb-16 Value-based retailer with 35 storesin the Midwest U.S. 3.9
Rino Mastrotto Group Europe Apr-20 Leading producer of premium leather 37
Vertiv (NYSE: VRT) u.s. Nov-16 Provider of data centre infrastructure 3.7
CatalystFund il North America  Mar-11 Legacy fundinvestmenttargeting North American companies 3.6
N-Able (NYSE: NABL) u.s. Jul-21 ITmanagementsolutions 35
SolarWinds (NYSE: SWI) u.s. Feb-16 Provider of enterprise-class IT and infrastructure management software 35
Holley (NYSE: HLLY) us. Oct-18 Automotive performance company 3.4
Husky Injection Molding u.s. Sep-18 Designsand manufacturersinjection moulding equipment 3.1
Brightview (NYSE: BV) u.s. Dec-13 Commerciallandscape and turf maintenance 2.6
SICIT Europe Aug-21 Producer of high value-added products such as biostimulants for agriculture 2.6
Snagajob u.s. Jun-16 Job search and human capital management provider 2.5
Uber (NYSE: UBER) Global Jul-18 Provides mobility asa service through a technology platform 25
Hydro Europe Apr-20 Largest European manufacturer of hydrauliccomponents 2.3
Boa Vista (BVMF: BOAS3) SouthAmerica  Nov-12 Second largest credit bureauin Brazil 2.2
Aster/DM Healthcare (NSEI: ASTERDM) Middle East Jun-14 Operator of hospitals, clinicsand pharmacies 2.2
DBAG Expansion Capital Fund Europe Jan-12 Legacy fundinvestmenttargeting investmentsin Germany 21
Corona Industrials SouthAmerica  Jun-14 Building materials company 2.1
Syniverse Technologies u.s. Feb-11 Global telecommunications technology solutions 2.1
Undisclosed Financial Services Company* North America  May-21 Undisclosed fintech company 19
Inetum Europe July-22 ITservicesand solutions provider headquarteredin France 1.8
Innovacare u.s. Apr-20 Operatesleading Medicare Advantage plan and Medicaid plan 1.4
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Schedule of investments

FairValue
Investments Principal Geography InvestmentDate Description $M
Kyobo Life Insurance Co. S.Korea Dec-07 Lifeinsurancein Korea 1.4
Arbo Europe Jun-22 [talian distributor of heating, sanitary, plumbing, and air conditioning system spare parts 1.2
Into University Partnerships UK Apr-13 Collegiate recruitment, placementand education 1.2
Taylor Precision Products u.s. Jul-12 Consumer & food service measurement products 0.8
NG Capital Partners|, L.P. Peru May-11 Legacy fundinvestmenttargeting investmentsin Peru 0.5
CSCService Works u.s. Mar-15 Provider of outsourced services to laundry & airvending markets 0.5
Bertram Growth Capital I u.s. Sep-10 Legacy fundinvestment targeting lower middle-market companies 0.4
Bertram Growth Capital | u.s. Sep-07 Legacy fund investment targeting lower middle-market companies 0.3
West Marine us. Sep-17 Specialty retailer of boating supplies 0.3
Progenity (NASDAQ: PROG) us. Jun-13 Genetictesting company 0.0
Other Direct Equity Investments (9.5)
OtherDebt Investments -
Other Fund Investments 0.8
Total Portfolio 1,401
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Appendix

Valuation methodology

Equity

Itis expected that most of the investmentsin which the Fund invests will meet the criteria
setforth under FASB ASC820 Fair Value Measurement (“ASC820") permitting the use of
the practical expedient to determine the fair value of the investments. ASC820 provides
that, invaluing alternative investments that do not have quoted market prices, but
calculate NAV pershare or equivalent, an investor may determine fair value by using the
NAV reported to the investor by the underlying investment. To the extent practical
expedientisapplicable to aninvestment, the Manager will value the Fund’s investment
based primarily on the value reported to the Fund by the investment or by the lead investor
ofadirect co-investment as of each quarter-end, as determined by the investmentsin
accordance with its own valuation policies. The Fund generally uses the NAV reported by
theinvestmentsasa primaryinputinitsvaluation; however, adjustmentsto the reported
NAV may be made based onvarious factors, including, but not limited to, the attributes of
theinterest held, including the rights and obligations, any restrictions or illiquidity on such
interest, any potential clawbacks by the investments and the fair value of the investments'’
investment portfolio or otherassets and liabilities. The valuation process for investments
categorisedin Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is completed on a quarterly basis and is
designed to subject the valuation of Level 3 investments to an appropriate level of
consistency, oversightand review. The Manager has responsibility for the valuation process
and the preparation of the fairvalue of investments reported in the financial statements.
The Manager performsinitial and ongoing investment monitoring and valuation
assessments. In determining the fair value of investments, the Manager reviews periodic
investor reportsand interim and annual audited financial statements received from the
investments, reviews material quarter-over-quarter changesinvaluation, and assess the
impactof macro-market factors on the performance of the investments.

Debt

Debtinvestments made on a primary basis are generally carried at cost plus accrued
interest, if any. Investments made through the secondary market are generally marked
based on market quotations, to the extent available, and the Manager will take into
account current pricing and liquidity of the security.

Forprimaryissuance debtinvestments, the Manager estimates the enterprise value of each
portfoliocompany and compares such amountto the total amount of the company’s debt
aswell asthelevel of debtseniortothe Company’sinterest. Estimates of enterprise value
are based on a specificmeasure (such as EBITDA, free cash flow, netincome, book value or
NAV) believed to be most relevant for the given company and compares this metricin
relation to comparable company valuations (market trading and transactions) based on
the same metric. In determining the enterprise value, the Manager will further consider
the companies’ acquisition price, credit metrics, historical and projected operational and
performance, liquidity as well asindustry trends, general economic conditions, scale and
competitive advantages along with other factors deemed relevant. Valuation adjustments
are made if estimated enterprise value does not support the value of the debt security the
Companyisinvestedin and securities senior to the Company’s position.

Ifthe principal repayment of debtand any accrued interestis supported by the enterprise
value analysis described above, the Manager will next consider current market conditions
including pricing quotations for the same security and yields for similar investments.

Forinvestments made on a secondary basis, to the extent market quotations for the
security are available, the Manager will take into account current pricing and liquidity.
Liquidity may be estimated by the spread between bid and offer prices and other available
measures of market liquidity, including number and size of recent trades and liquidity
scores. If the Manager believes market yields for similarinvestments have changed
substantially since the pricing of the security, the Manager will perform a discounted

cash flow analysis, based onthe expected future cash flows of the debt securities and
current market rates. The Manager will also consider the maturity of the investment,
compliance with covenants and ability to pay cash interest when estimating the fair value
of debtinvestments.
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Appendix

Forward-looking statements

Thisreport contains certain forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements
speak only as of the date of the documentin which they are made and relate to
expectations, beliefs, projections (including anticipated economic performance and
financial condition), future plans and strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar
expressions concerning matters thatare not historical facts, and are subject to risks and
uncertaintiesincluding, but not limited to, statements as to:

= future operating results;
= business prospects and the prospects of the Company’sinvestments;
= theimpactofinvestmentsthe Company expectsto make;

= the dependence of future success on the general economy and itsimpact on the
industriesin which the Company invests;

= the ability of the investments to achieve their objectives;

= differences between the investment objective and the investment objectives of the
private equity fundsin which the Company invests;

= therate atwhich capital is deployed in private equity investments, co-investments
and opportunisticinvestments;

= expected financings andinvestments;

= the continuation of the Investment Manager as the service provider and the continued
affiliation with the Investment Manager of its key investment professionals;

= the adequacy of the Company’s cash resources and working capital; and

= the timing of cash flows, if any, from the operations of the underlying private equity funds
and the underlying portfolio companies.

In some cases, forward-looking statements may be identified by terms such as “anticipate,”
"believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “should,”
“will,” and “would,” or the negative of those terms or other comparable terminology.

"o

Theforward-looking statements are based on the beliefs, assumptions and expectations
of the future performance, taking into account allinformation currently available to the
Manager. These beliefs, assumptions and expectations are subject to risks and
uncertainties and can change as a result of many possible events or factors, not all of which
areknownto the Manager or are within the Manager’s control. Ifa change occurs, the
business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations may vary materially from
those expressed in the forward-looking statements. Factors and events that could cause
the business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations to vary materially
include,among other things, general economic conditions, securities market conditions,
private equity market conditions, the level and volatility of interest rates and equity prices,
competitive conditions, liquidity of global markets, international and regional political
conditions, macroeconomic factors (including but not limited to war, civil unrest, natural
disasters, pandemics, or epidemics) regulatory and legislative developments, monetary
and fiscal policy, investor sentiment, availability and cost of capital, technological changes
and events, outcome of legal proceedings, changesin currency values, inflation, credit
ratings and the size, volume and timing of transactions, as well as other risks described
elsewherein thisreportand the prospectus relating to the Company’s IPO and the
Company's prospectus relating to the ZDP Shares.

Theforegoingis notacomprehensive list of the risks and uncertainties to which the
Companyissubject. Exceptas required by applicable law, the Manager undertakes no
obligationto update orrevise any forward-looking statements to reflectany change in
the Manager’s expectations, or any changesin events, conditions or circumstances on
which the forward-looking statementis based. In light of these risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, the events described by the Company’s forward-looking statements might
not occur. The Manager qualifies any and all of the forward-looking statements by these
cautionaryfactors.
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Appendix

Alternative performance calculations

Alternative Performance Measures ("APMs") is a term defined by the European Securities and Markets Authority as “financial measures of historical or future performance, financial
position, or cash flows, other than a financial measure defined or specified in the applicable financial reporting framework”.

APMs are used in thisreportif considered by the Board and the Manager to be the most relevant basis for shareholdersin assessing the overall performance of the Company and for
comparing the performance of the Company toits peers, taking into accountindustry practice.

Dividend Dividend
Compounding Compounding
One-year NAV Total Return Calculation NAV pershare (USD) Dividend Factor Three-year NAV Total Return Calculation NAV pershare (USD) Dividend (USD) Factor
NAV per Ordinary Share atyearend NAV per Ordinary Share atyearend
as per Statement of Financial as per Statement of Financial
Positionin December 2021 (A) $31.65 - Positionin December 2019 (A) $19.11 -
Semi-annual dividend per Ordinary 2020 Semi-annual dividend $18.82 $0.29 1.0154
Share declared inrespect of year $31.18 $0.47 1.0151 2020 Semi-annual dividend $17.99 $0.29 10161
Semi-annual dividend per Ordinary - -
Share declaredin respectofyear $28.20 $0.47 1.0167 2021 Sem? annualdfv!dend $2218 $031 1.0140
NAV per Ordinary Share at end of 2021 Semi-annual dividend $28.24 $0.41 1.0145
year as per Statement of Financial 2022 Semi-annual dividend $31.18 $0.47 1.0151
Position in December 2022 (B) $28.38 - 2022 Semi-annual dividend $28.20 $0.47 10167
Productof NAV per Ordinary Share atend of
2022 NAV total return per . dividend yearas per Statement of Financial
Ordlnary Share (B/A) C-1 -7.5% compoundlng (C) 1.0320 Positionin December 2022 (B) $2838 _
Total Realisation Calculation $inmillions Product of
. o NAV Total Return per Ordinary dividend
Proceeds from sale of private equity investments (A) $64 Share (B/A)*C—1 62.7% compounding (C) 1.0953
Distributions from private equity investments (B) $56
Interestand dividend income (C) $1
2022 portfolio realisations (A+B+C) $120
Multiple of Capital Calculation
Exit proceeds from full exits over the last five years (A) $466.9
Invested capitalinto full exits over the last five years (B) $191.1
Multiple on invested capital (A/B) 2.4x
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Appendix

Dividend Dividend
Three-year Share Price Compounding One Year Shareholder Compounding
Total Return Calculation Share price (GBP) Dividend (GBP) Factor Total Return Calculation Share Price (GBP) Dividend Factor
Share price atyearend as per Share price atyearend as per
the London Stock Exchange the London Stock Exchange
on 31 December2019 (A) £12.09 on 31 December2021(A) £18.50 -
2020 Semi-annual dividend £11.95 £0.22 1.0185 Semi-annual dividend per Ordinary
2020 Semi-annual dividend £9.30 £0.23 1.0245 Sharedeclaredinrespect of year £17.75 £0.34 1.0194
-~ - Semi-annual dividend per Ordinary
2021 5emi-annual dividend £11.85 £0.23 1.0191 Sharedeclaredinrespect of year £15.75 £0.39 1.0246
2021 Semi-annual dividend £15.30 £0.30 1.0195 -
Share priceatyearend as per
2022 Semi-annual dividend £17.75 £0.34 1.0194  thelondon Stock Exchange
2022 Semi-annual dividend £15.75 £0.39 10246  On31December 2022 (B) £16.00 -
Share price atyearend as per . Product of
the London Stock Exchange on 2022 share price Total Return per dividend
31 December 2022 (B) £16.00 Ordinary Share (B/A)*C-1 -9.7% compounding(C) 1.0445
Product of Realisation Unlift
Share price total return per dividend calsationpT -
Ordinary Share (B/A)*C -1 49.8% compounding(C) 11323  Aggregatevaluationat31 December 2021 $131.1
Aggregate realisation value at sale/IPO $139.6
Realisation Uplift Calculation Average uplift 6.4%
Percentage upliftrelative to carrying value three quarters prior 1,524%
Total observations 41 Multiple of Capital Calculation 2022 Realisations
Average uplift 37.2%  Totalvalue from 2022 exits (A) $177.9
Invested capital into 2022 exits (B) $66.4
Adjusted Commitment Coverage Multiple on invested capital (A/B) 2.7x
Cash+undrawn committed credit facility (A) $307
Adjusted unfunded private equity exposure (B) $48
Adjusted” commitment coverage ratio (A/B) -1 645%

* Unfunded commitments are adjusted foramounts the Manager believes are unlikely to be called.

SharePrice Yield

Annualised dividend based on 2022 dividends (GBP equivalent) (A) £0.69
Share price on 31 December 2022 (B) £16.00
Adjusted commitment coverage ratio (A/B) -1 4.3%
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Glossary

Glossary (unaudited)

Buyout s the purchase of a controlling interestina company.

Compound Annual Growth Rate (“"CAGR") represents the annual growth rate ofan
investment over a specified period of time longerthan one year.

Carried interestis equivalentto a performance fee. This represents a share of the profits
thatwill accrue to the underlying private equity managers, after achievement of an agreed
preferredreturn.

Co-investmentisa directinvestmentin a company alongside a private equity fund.
Debt Multiple Ratio of net debtto EBITDA.
Direct equity investments are investmentsin a single underlying company.

Discountarises when a company’s shares trade ata discountto NAV. In this circumstance,
the price thataninvestor pays or receives for a share would be less than the value
attributable to it by reference to the underlying assets. The discount is the difference
between the share price and the NAV, expressed as a percentage of the NAV. Forexample,
if the NAV was00p and the share price was 90p, the discount would be 10%.

Dry powder is capital raised and available to invest but not yet deployed.

EBITDA stands for earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, whichis a
widely used performance measure in the private equity industry.

Enterprise value is the aggregate value of a company’s entire issued share capital and
netdebt.

Exitis the realisation of aninvestment usually through trade sale, sale by public offering
(including IPO), or sale to a financial buyer.

FTSE All-Share Index Total Return is the change in the level of the FTSE All-Share Index,
assuming that dividends are re-invested on the ex-dividend date.

Full realisations are exit events (e.g. trade sale, sale by public offering, or sale to a financial
buyer) following which the residual exposure to an underlying company
iszero orimmaterial.

Fund-of-funds is a private equity fund thatinvestsin a portfolio of several private equity
fundsto achieve, compared with a directinvestmentfund, a broader diversification of risk,
including individual private equity manager risk.

General Partner (“"GP") is the entity managing a private equity fund that has been
established as alimited partnership. Thisis commonly referred to as the Manager.

Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) is an offering by a company of its share capital to the public
with aview to seeking an admission of its shares to a recognised stock exchange.

Internal Rate of Return (“IRR") is a measure of the rate of return received by an investorin
afund.lItis calculated from cash drawn from and returned to the investor together with the
residual value of the investment.

Last Twelve Months (“LTM") refers to the timeframe of the immediately preceding
12 monthsin reference to a financial metric used to evaluate the Company’s performance.

Limited Partner (“LP")is aninstitution orindividual who commits capital to a private
equity fund established as a limited partnership. These investors are generally protected
from legal actions and any losses beyond the original investment.

Market capitalisation Share price multiplied by the number of shares outstanding.

Multiple of cost orinvested capital (“MOIC” or cost multiple) A common measure of
private equity performance, MOICis calculated by dividing the fund’s cumulative
distributions and residual value by the paid-in capital.

Netasset value (“NAV”) Amount by which the value of assets of a fund exceedsliabilities,
reflecting the value of aninvestor’s attributable holding.

Netasset value per share (“NAV per share”) is the value of the Company’s net assets
attributable to one Ordinary Share. Itis calculated by dividing ‘shareholders’ funds' by the
total number of Ordinary Sharesinissue. Shareholders’ funds are calculated by deducting
currentand long-term liabilities, and any provision for liabilities and charges, from the
Company's total assets.

Net asset value per share Total Return is the changein the Company’s net asset value per
share, assuming that dividends are re-invested on the ex-dividend date.
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Glossary

Netdebtis calculated asthe total short-term and long-term debt in a business, less cash
and cash equivalents.

Premium occurswhen the share priceis higher than the NAV and investors would
therefore be paying more than the value attributable to the shares by reference to the
underlying assets.

Publicto private ("P2P") or take private, is the purchase of all of a listed company’s shares
and the subsequent delisting of the company, funded with a mixture of debtand
unquoted equity.

Quoted company is any company whose shares are listed or traded on a recognised stock
exchange.

Realisation proceeds are amounts received by the Company from the sale of a portfolio
company, which may bein the form of capital proceeds orincome such asinterest or
dividends.

Realisations —multiple to cost is the average return from full and partial exitsin the
period.

Realisations —uplift to carrying value is the aggregate uplift on full and partial exits

Share price Total Return is the change inthe Company’s share price, assuming that
dividendsarere-invested onthe day that they are paid.

Total Returnis a performance measure that assumes the notional re-investment of
dividends. Thisis a measure commonly used by the listed private equity sector and listed
companiesingeneral.

Undrawn commitments are commitments to funds that have notyet been drawn down.

Valuation multiples are earnings or revenue multiples applied in valuing a business
enterprise.

Vintage is the yearin which a private equity fund makes its firstinvestment.
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Useful information

Useful information

Financial calendar

Approximate timing

Monthly NAV update
Generally 10-15 days after month-end

Annual financial report
April

Interim Report
September

Key Information Document Update
Annually, following release of the annual financial report.

Allannouncements can be viewed on the Company's
website —www.nbprivateequitypartners.com.

Register to receive news alerts

Please register for newsalerts onthe Company’s
website—https://www.nbprivateequitypartners.com/
en/investors/news-and-alerts.

Events timing

Annual General Meeting
15June 2023 at 1.45pm

Capital Markets Day
50ctober2023at2.00pm

Investor update calls
Typically twice ayear

Dividends
Semi-annual

Payment of dividends

Dividendsare declared in U.S. dollars and paid in

pounds Sterling, but the Company also offersboth a
Currency Election for US shareholders and a dividend
re-investment plan for shareholders who wish to reinvest
theirdividends to grow their shareholding. The foreign
exchange rate at which dividends declared will be
converted into pounds Sterling will be at the spot rate
priorto the payment of the dividend.

Dividend information

The dividend documents on the Company’s website
provide informationto Shareholdersregarding NBPE's
Dividend Re-investment Plan and USD Dividend Election
foraswell as election forms for each of the options.
Investors should read the dividend documentation
carefully priorto choosing an election. Ifan electionis not
made, investors will receive cash dividends in Sterling.
Shareholders are advised to consult with a tax advisor
concerning potential tax consequences of an election.

Anyone acting for the accountor benefit of a U.S. person
who electstoreceive additional shares through the
dividend re-investment plan would need to sign a Qualified
Purchaser certification, which is available on

the website. The completed forms should be returned

to NBPE's Investor Relations department by email at
IR_NBPE@nb.com or by the Investment Manager’s mailing
address (see page 110 for contactinformation).

For furtherinformation onthe Dividend Re-investment
Plan and Currency Election, please contact

the Company’sregistrar, Link Market Services, at
enquiries@linkgroup.co.uk. Please see Link's mailing
address below.

Registrar services

Communications with shareholders are mailed to the
addressheld onthe share register. Any notifications and
enquiries relating to registered shareholdings, including
achange of address or otheramendment, should be
directedto Link Asset Services.

Address:

Link Asset Services

PXS 1

34 Beckenham Road

Beckenham BR3 4ZF
http://ips.linkassetservices.com/
Email: enquiries@linkgroup.co.uk
By phone:

UK:+44(0) 3333001950

Fromoverseas: +44 20333300 1950. Calls outside the
United Kingdom will be charged atthe applicable
internationalrate. Link Asset Services are open between
9.00am and 5.30pm, Monday to Friday, excluding public
holidaysin England and Wales.
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Useful information

E-communications for shareholders

NBPE would like to encourage shareholders to receive
shareholder documents electronically, via our website or
email notification instead of hard copy format. Thisis a
fasterand more environmentally friendly way of receiving
shareholder documents.

The online Share Portal from our registrar, Link Asset
Services, provides all the information required regarding
your shares. Through the Share Portal, shareholders

can access details of their holdingsin NBPE online.

You can also make changesto address details and dividend
payment preferences online.

Shareholders who wish to receive future communications
via electronic means can register this preference through
the Share Portal (https://www.signalshares.com/).

ISIN/SEDOL numbers

ThelSIN, SEDOL numbers and ticker forthe Company’s
Ordinary Shares are as follows:

£shareclass US$shareclass
Ticker: NBPE NBPU
ISIN GGOOB1ZBD492  GGO0B1ZBD492
SEDOL B2877X8 BD9PCY4

Information about the 2024 ZDP share classes:

2024
Capital entitlement 130.63p
Maturity 200ct 24
GRY atissue 4.25%
Ticker NBP5
ISIN GGOOBD96PR19
SEDOL BDI6PR1

AIC

The Companyisamember of the Association of Investment
Companies (https://www.theaic.co.uk/).
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How to invest

How 1o Invest

NBPE s listed onthe London Stock Exchange and its
shares can be boughtand sold justasthose of any other
listed company.

Astraightforward way for individuals to purchase and hold
sharesinthe Companyisto contactastockbroker, savings
plan provider oronline investment platform. NBPE's shares
may be purchased under the ticker symbol NBPE.

To help people trying to choose a platform, the Association
of Investment Companies (“AIC") provides up-to-date
information onthe platformswhere investment companies
areavailable,and whatyou'll pay to invest on each platform
(https://www.theaic.co.uk/availability-on-platforms).

Ifyou'd preferto use a financial adviser, advice on how
tofind one canbefound at
https://www.thepfs.org/yourmoney/find-an-adviser/.

ISA status

The Company’ssharesare eligible for tax-efficient
wrapperssuch as Individual Savings Accounts (“ISAs”),
JuniorISAs, and Self Invested Personal Pensions (“SIPPs”).

Information aboutISAsand SIPPs, as well as general
advice onsaving andinvesting, can be found on the
government’s free andindependentservice at
www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk.

Aswith any investmentinto a company listed on the stock
market, you should remember that:

= thevalue of yourinvestmentand the income you get from
itcanfallaswell asrise, soyou may not get back the
amountyouinvested; and

= past performanceis no guarantee of future performance.

Thisisamedium-tolong-terminvestmentso you should be
preparedtoinvestyour money for at least five years. If you
are uncertain aboutany aspect of your decision to invest,
you should consider seeking independent financial advice.
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Endnotes

© Assumesre-investmentof dividends atthe
closing NAV or share price on the ex-dividend
date.

© Realisationsannounced in 2022, not all of
which had closed. $120 million received during
2022, of which $17 million was receivedin 2022
from announced transactions during 2021.

© Returnsare presented ona "gross” basis
(i.e.they donotreflectthe management fees,
carried interest, transaction costs and other
expensesthat may be paid by investors, which
may be significantand will lower returns).
Past performanceisnotaguarantee of
future returns. Proceedsinclude fundsthat
are currentlyin escrow, butare expected to
be received and frominvestments which are
signed butnotyetclosed.

O Allperformance figures assume re-investment
of dividendsat NAV on the ex-dividend
date and reflect cumulative returns over the
relevant time periods shown and are not
annualised returns.

© Assumere-investment of dividends at NAV on
the ex-dividend date.

O Revenue & EBITDA Growth: Past performance
isno guarantee of future results. Fair value as
of 31 December 2022 and the dataissubjectto
the following adjustments: 1) Excludes public
companies. 2) Analysis based on 67 private
companies. 3) The private companiesincluded
inthe datarepresentapproximately 81% of the
total direct equity portfolio. 4) Six companies
were excluded fromthe revenue and EBITDA
growth metrics onthe basis of the following:
a) one company with avalue of $24 million used
anindustry-specific metricasa measurement
of cash flow b) one company experienced
extraordinary positive growth rates c) two
companies (lessthan 1% of direct equity fair
value) had anomalous percentage changes
which the manager believed to be outliers
d) twoinvestments held less than one year.
Ifall exclusions had been included (except
forinvestments held lessthan oneyear),

LTM Revenue and LTM EBITDA growth would
be higher. Portfolio company operating metrics
are based onthe mostrecently available
(unaudited) financial information for each
company and based on asreported by the lead
private equity sponsorto the Manager as of

31 March 2023. Where necessary, estimates
were used, whichinclude proformaadjusted
EBITDA and other EBITDA adjustments,

pro formarevenue adjustments, run-rate
adjustments for acquisitions, and annualised
quarterly operating metrics. LTM periods as
0f31/12/22and 30/9/22 and 31/12/21and
30/9/21.LTM revenue and LTM EBITDA growth
rates are weighted by fairvalue.

@ The MSCIWorld Index captures large

and mid-cap representation across 23
Developed Markets (DM) countries. With

1,509 constituents as of 31 December 2022
(1,555at 2021, 1,585 at 2020), the index
coversapproximately 85% (85% at 2021, 85%
at2020) of the free float-adjusted market
capitalisation in each country (MSCl World
Factsheet, 28 February 2023, the latest
available). The benchmark performanceis
presented forillustrative purposes only to show
generaltrendsinthe market forthe relevant
periods shown. Theinvestment objectivesand
strategiesinthe benchmark may be different
than the investment objectives and strategies
of NBPE and may have differentrisk and reward
profiles. Avariety of factors may cause this
comparisonto be aninaccurate benchmark for
any particular fund and the benchmarks do not
necessarily representthe actual investment
strategy of afund. It should not be assumed
thatany correlations to the benchmark based
on historical returns would persistin the future.
Indexes are unmanaged and are not available
fordirectinvestment. Investing entails risks,
including possible loss of principal. Past
performanceisno guarantee of future results.

Based on 2022 announced realisations.
Represents uplift fromvaluation versus

31 December2021.Returnsare presented
ona "gross” basis (i.e. they do notreflect the
management fees, carried interest, transaction
costsand otherexpensesthat may be paid

by investors, which may be significantand

will lower returns). Past performanceisnota
guarantee of futurereturns. Proceedsinclude
fundsthatare currentlyinescrow, butare
expectedto be received and frominvestments
which are signed but notyet closed.

© Asat19April2023.
@ Forillustrative purposes only. The benchmark

performanceis presented forillustrative
purposesonly toshow general trendsin

the market forthe relevant periods shown.
Theinvestmentobjectives and strategies of
the benchmarks may be differentthan the
investment objectives and strategies ofa
particular private fund, and may have different
risk and reward profiles. Avariety of factors
may cause this comparison to be aninaccurate
benchmark forany particulartype of fund and
the benchmarks do not necessarily represent
theactualinvestmentstrategy of afund. It
should not be assumed thatany correlations
tothe benchmarkbased on historical returns
would persistinthe future. Past performance
isnoguarantee of future results. Indexes
areunmanaged and are not available for
directinvestment.

Source: Private equity data from Burgiss.
Represents pooled horizon IRR and first
quartile return for Global Private Equity Buyout
asof September 30,2022, whichisthe latest
dataavailable. Publicmarket data sourced from
Neuberger Berman.

The benchmark performanceis presented
forillustrative purposes only to show general
trendsin the market for the relevant periods
shown. The investment objectives and
strategies of each fundin the benchmark may
be differentthan the investment objectives
and strategies of NBPE and may have different
riskand reward profiles. Avariety of factors
may cause this comparison to be aninaccurate
benchmark forany particular fund and the
benchmarks do not necessarily represent the
actualinvestmentstrategy of a fund. It should
notbe assumed thatany correlationsto the
benchmark based on historical returns would
persistinthe future. Indexes are unmanaged
andare notavailable for directinvestment.
Investing entails risks, including possible loss
of principal. Past performanceis no guarantee
of future results.

@ Approximately 97% of the directinvestment

portfolio (measured on 31 December 2022
fairvalue)isonanomanagementfee, no
carry basisto underlying third-party GPs.
Key Information Documentis available on
NBPE's website.

Includes full exits only over the last five years.
Excludes partial exits, recapitalisations and
IPOs untilthe stockis fully exited. Exityear for
publiccompanies determined by the final sale
of publicshares. Proceedsinclude funds that
are currentlyin escrow, butare expected to be
received. Returnsare presented on a “gross”
basis (i.e.they do not reflect the management
fees, carried interest, transaction costsand
otherexpensesthat may be paid by investors,
which may be significantand may lower
returns).

@ Analysisincludes direct equity investment exits

overthelastfiveyears. Forinvestments which
completedanIPO, thevalueisbased onthe
closing share price on the IPO date; however
NBPE remains subject to customary IPO lockup
restrictions or the timing of stock sales at

the GP's discretion. Returns are presented
ona"“gross” basis (i.e. they do notreflect the
management fees, carried interest, transaction
costsand other expenses that may be paid by
investors, which may be significantand may
lowerreturns).

@ AsofDecember31,2022. Represents

aggregate committed capital since inception
in 1987, including commitmentsin the process
of documentation orfinalisation.

®
®

@

Asof December31,2022.

Includes Limited Partner Advisory Committee
seatsand observer seats for PIPCO and
Secondariessinceinception as of
December31,2022.

Reflects Private Investment Portfoliosand
Co-investment ("PIPCO") Managing
Directorsonly.

Includes estimated allocations of dry powder
for diversified portfolios consisting of
primaries, secondaries, and co-investments.
Therefore,amounts may vary depending on
how mandates are invested over time.

Forillustrative and discussion purposes only.
PRIgradesare based oninformation reported
directly by PRI signatories, of which investment
managers totaled 3,404 for 2021, 1,924 for
2020,and 1,119 for 2019 . Note that scores for
the 2021 reporting cycle cannot be compared
to previousyearsdue tothe changein PRI
assessment methodology. Unlike previous
years, theindicator scores are assigned one

of five performance bands (from 1 to 5 stars)
instead of six performance bands (from A+ to E).
AllPRIsignatoriesare eligible to participate and
must complete a questionnaire to beincluded.
The underlying information submitted by
signatoriesis notaudited by the PRI orany other
party acting onits behalf. Signatories report
ontheirresponsibleinvestmentactivities by
responding to asset-specificmodulesin the
Reporting Framework. Each module houses
avariety of indicators that address specific
topics of responsible investment. Signatories’
answers are then assessed and results

are compiledinto an Assessment Report.
Neuberger Berman pays a fee to be amember
of PRland the grades are only available to PRI
members. Ratings referenced do notreflectthe
experiences of any Neuberger Berman client
andreadersshould notview such information
asrepresentative of any particular client’s
experience orassume thatthey will have a
similarinvestment experience as any previous
orexisting client. Awards and ratings are not
indicative of the past or future performance

of any Neuberger Berman product or service.
Moreover, the underlying information has
notbeen audited by the PRI orany other party
acting onits behalf. While every effort has
been made to produce afair representation of
performance, norepresentations or warranties
aremade astothe accuracy of theinformation
presented, and no responsibility or liability can
be accepted fordamage caused by use of or
reliance on the information contained within
thisreport. Information about PRIgrades
issourced entirely from PRIand Neuberger
Berman makes no representations, warranties
oropinions based onthatinformation.
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Endnotes

@ Valuation & Leverage: Past performance is
no guarantee of future results. Fairvalue
asof 31 December 2022 and subjecttothe
following adjustments. 1) Excludes public
companies. 2) Based on 55 private companies

which are valued based on EV/EBITDA metrics.

3) The private companiesincluded in the data
represents 71% of direct equity investment
fairvalue.4) Companies notvalued on
multiples of trailing EBITDA are excluded from
valuation and leverage statistics. 5) Leverage
statistics exclude companies with net cash
position and leverage datarepresents 71% of
directequity investment fairvalue. Portfolio
company operating metrics are based on the
most recently available (unaudited) financial
information foreach company and are as
reported by the lead private equity sponsor
tothe Managerasof 31 March 2023, based on

reporting periodsasof 31/12/22and 30/9/22.

EVandleverage datais weighted by fairvalue.

@ Information based on company earnings
announcementsand investor update
presentations.

€ Source: Fortnaannouncement.
€ Cinvenpressrelease.

€ Source: Pitchbook as of 2022 Q4. Includes
buyout, late stage VC, and growth equity.
Includes completed dealsonly.

@ Unfunded commitments are adjusted for
amountsthe Manager believes are unlikely
to be called. As of 31 December 2022, actual
unfunded commitments are comprised of
$56.8 million, $31.1,and $8.2 million to direct
equity investments, income investments, and
fundinvestments, respectively. Unfunded
amountsareto fundsonly and exclude direct
investments committed to but notyet closed.

€ Many of the-firm level processes described
herein are subjectto Neuberger Berman’s
policiesand procedures, including certain
information barriers within Neuberger
Berman thatwill, fromtime to time, limit
communications between the NB Private
Marketsteam and the publicside investment
and ESGteams.

>7]

®
>2]

5]

5]

Amounts may notadd upto 100% due to
rounding. Based on directinvestment portfolio
fairvalue as of 31 December 2022; analysis
excludes third-party funds (which are past their
investment period but which may call capital
forreserves or follow-ons) and funds that are
notdeemed ESGintegrated by the Manager.
Inaggregate these exclusionsrepresent
approximately 2.5% of fairvalue. Adverse
potential reflectsinvestments made prior to
NBPE adopting its Responsible & Sustainable
Investment Policy in 2020.

Based on Neuberger Berman Private

Equity Analysis.

Adverse potential reflectsinvestments made
priorto NBPE adoptingits Responsible &
Sustainable Investment Policy in 2020.

This materialisintended as a broad overview of
the portfoliomanagers’ style, philosophy and
investment processand issubjectto change
without notice. The case study discussed does
notrepresentall pastinvestments. It should
notbeassumedthataninvestmentinthe

case study listed was or will be profitable.
Theinformation supplied about the investment
isintended to show investment processand

not performance.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services,
Early Childhood Learning & Knowledge Center.

Source: download (unpri.org) as at
18 November 2022

iClisaglobal, practitioner-led community

of private markets firms and investors that
seek to betterunderstand and manage the
risks associated with climate change. Its
members share acommitmentto reducing the
carbon emissions of private markets-backed
companiesand secure sustainable investment
performance by recognising andincorporating
the materiality of climate risk.

The NetZero Asset Managersinitiative is
aninternational group of 301 signatory
asset managerswith $59 trnin assets under
management, who are committed to
supporting the goal of netzero greenhouse
gasemissions by 2050 orsooner, in line with
global effortstolimitwarmingto 1.5 degrees
Celsius; and to supporting investing aligned
with netzero emissions by 2050 or sooner.

Asat6March 2023.
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